
 
Visit the Township's Web Site www.twp.ferguson.pa.us  and sign up for Notify Me! to receive email notices about Township 
Information. 
 

FERGUSON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
Regular Meeting Agenda 

Monday, October 19, 2020, 7:00 PM 
 

Join Zoom Meeting: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83307659142 

Meeting ID:  833 0765 9142 
Ferguson Meetings Page 

Zoom Instructions 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER 
 

II. CITIZENS INPUT  
 

III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 October 5, 2020, Board of Supervisors Regular Meeting Minutes 
 October 7, 2020, Board of Supervisors Regular Meeting Minutes 
 September 23, 2020, Board of Supervisors Special Meeting Minutes 
 

IV. SPECIAL REPORTS 
a. COVID-19 (Coronavirus) Response Report 
b. Centre Area Transportation Authority 
c. Schlow Centre Region Library Report 

 
V. UNFINISHED BUSINESS  

1. Public Hearing - Resolution Petitioning PA Liquor Control Board for Noise Exemption 
2. Public Hearing – HR 763 Support Resolution 
3. Authorization for Public Hearing - Stormwater Management Utility Fee Ordinance 
4. Continued Discussion - Draft Workforce Housing Ordinance Amendment 

 
VI. NEW BUSINESS 

1. Consent Agenda 
2. Public Hearing - Resolution Adopting a Sidewalk Snow Removal Map 
3. Review of Draft Parks and Recreation Ordinance Amendment 
4. Authorization for PA Liquid Fuels Grant Application Submittal 

 
VII. REPORTS 

1. COG Committee Reports  
2. Other Regional Reports 
3. Staff Reports 

 
VIII. COMMUNICATIONS TO THE BOARD 

 
IX. CALENDAR ITEMS – OCTOBER / NOVEMBER 

 
X. ADJOURNMENT 

https://www.twp.ferguson.pa.us/administration/pages/how-participate-online-meetings
https://www.twp.ferguson.pa.us/administration/pages/zoom-instructions


Board of Supervisors 

Regular Meeting Agenda 

Monday, October 19, 2020 

7:00 P.M. 

I. CALL TO ORDER

II. CITIZEN’S INPUT

III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

1. October 5, 2020, Board of Supervisors Regular Meeting Minutes
2. October 7, 2020, Board of Supervisors Regular Meeting Minutes
3. September 23, 2020, Board of Supervisors Special Meeting Minutes

IV. SPECIAL REPORTS 25 minutes 

1. COVID-19 (Coronavirus) Response Report – David Pribulka, Township Manager
2. Centre Area Transportation Authority – John Spychalski
3. Schlow Centre Region Library Report – Susan Werner

V. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

1. A PUBLIC HEARING ON A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON,
CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA AUTHORIZING THE SUBMISSION OF A
PETITION TO THE PENNSYLVANIA LIQUOR CONTROL BOARD TO SUBSTITUTE
THE MUNICIPAL NOISE ORDINANCE FOR SECTION 493(34) OF THE
PENNSYLVANIA LIQUOR CODE IN LICENSED ESTABLISHMENTS LOCATED IN
FERGUSON TOWNSHIP.        10 minutes

Narrative 
Provided with the agenda is a copy of a resolution advertised for public hearing affirming the Board’s 
intent to file and support of a petition to the Pennsylvania Liquor Control Board to substitute the 
Township’s noise ordinance for the regulations promulgated under Section 493(34) of the Pennsylvania 
Liquor Code.  In August, the Board adopted a resolution in support of the same for the property doing 
business as Pine Grove Hall in Pine Grove Mills.  However, upon further consultation with counsel for 
the Pennsylvania Liquor Control Board, it was clarified that the petition must come from the host 
municipality. The PA Liquor Code does not permit any audible noise from a licensed establishment at the 
property line. The Township has restrictions on decibels measurable at the property line, but generally 
does not prohibit any audible noise.  It is recommended that the Board adopt the attached resolution and 
submit it along with the petition to the PA Liquor Control Board (PLCB) to substitute its noise ordinance 
in lieu of the applicable PA Liquor Code provisions for all licensed establishments in Ferguson Township. 
The relevant section of the PA Liquor Code describing the process to petition for an exemption is also 



Monday, October 19, 2020 
Page 2  
 

attached to the agenda.  Following the submittal, the PLCB will schedule a public hearing at a physical 
location in the proposed exempted area prior to consideration of approving the request. 

Recommended Motion:  That the Board of Supervisors adopt the resolution authorizing the submission 
of a petition to the Pennsylvania Liquor Control Board to substitute the municipal noise ordinance for 
Section 493(34) of the Pennsylvania Liquor Code in licensed establishments located in Ferguson 
Township.  

 
Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors adopt the resolution. 

 
2. A PUBLIC HEARING ON RESOLUTION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, CENTRE 

COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA CALLING ON THE UNITED STATES CONGRESS TO 
ADDRESS CLIMATE CHANGE BY PASSING THE ENERGY INNOVATION AND 
CARBON DIVIDEND ACT.        10 minutes 

 

Narrative 
A resident of Pine Grove Mills has requested that Ferguson Township pass a resolution in support of HR 
763, the Energy Innovation and Carbon Dividend Act. Ferguson Township passed a Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions Reduction Resolution in 2017, committing our Township to a role of climate leadership and to 
reducing our own emissions as quickly as feasible. A national price on carbon would make our local 
efforts more cost-competitive and thus accelerate our progress towards this goal.  Provided with the 
agenda is a copy of the draft resolution proposed for consideration.  
 
The following are the details of the proposed bill: 
 

 Place a steadily increasing price on carbon fuels at their source (the well, mine, or port); 
 Reduce American emissions by 40% in the first twelve years; 
 Revenue neutral; does not grow the size of government; 
 Improve health and save lives by reducing pollution; 
 Create 2.1 million new jobs over a ten-year period; 
 More information is available at https://energyinnovationact.org  

 
Recommended Motion:  That the Board of Supervisors adopt the resolution calling on the United States 
Congress to address climate change by passing the Energy Innovation and Carbon Dividend Act. 

 

Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors adopt the resolution. 

 
3. AUTHORIZATION FOR PUBLIC HEARING - STORWMATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY 

FEE ORDINANCE         60 minutes 
 
Narrative 
At the October 5th regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors, the public hearing on 
stormwater management utility fee was closed and the Board did not vote on the ordinance 
Rather, the Board directed staff to report back with additional information.  Staff revised 
the billing structure to reflect 3 options for consideration:  option 1) a 500 sq. ft. bill ing unit; 
option 2) a 1,000 sq. ft. bill ing unit; and option 3) an ERU (equivalent residential unit = 
3,097 SF).  In addition, the “billing unit table” was revised to reflect the motion at the 



Monday, October 19, 2020 
Page 3  
 

October 5th meeting to cap the fee on working farm properties with 30 percent or less 
impervious area to twice the mean billing unit of all parcels.  Provided with the agenda is a 
copy of the revised draft ordinance and below is a link to the updated billing unit table. Also 
provided with the agenda is a matrix describing some hardship policies that have been 
enacted in other communities that have established a stormwater management util ity fee. 
 
 Stormwater Management Utility Fee Revised Billing Unit Table 
 
Recommended Motion:  That the Board of Supervisors authorize advertisement of a public hearing on 
the stormwater management utility fee ordinance for _______________. 

 
Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors authorize advertisement of a public hearing. 

 
4. A CONTINUED DISCUSSION ON THE DRAFT WORKFORCE HOUSING ORDINANCE 

AMENDMENT          30 minutes 
 
Narrative 
At the October 7, 2020 Board meeting, the draft Workforce Housing Ordinance was 
discussed, and staff was directed to update the ordinance based on that meeting.  Included 
with the agenda is the updated draft Workforce Housing Ordinance and the following has 
been updated to reflect that meeting: 
 
 §27-716.6.b.1. Accommodations—Built, for-sale Workforce Dwelling Units are only eligible for bonus 

market rate units;  
 §27-716.6.d.ii. Workforce Dwelling Units must be occupied by the income qualified individual and/or 

family and must be the principal place of residence; and 
 §27-716.10.a.ii. Rental Dwelling Units—After a year of actively advertising the Workforce Unit, no 

fee-in-lieu payment will be required to be paid to the Township for rental units to be removed from the 
program. 

 
Staff has confirmed that an income qualified individual may or may not be claimed as a dependent. 
Regional affordable housing programs are for primary residences and typically consider the incomes of 
all the occupants within the unit.  The Board could clarify that income qualifications for rental units will be 
assessed based on the income of the occupants of the unit, which may not necessarily correspond to the 
name on the lease or the individual(s) claiming the occupant(s) as dependents.  
 
Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors discuss the draft workforce housing ordinance amendment. 

 
VI. NEW BUSINESS 

 
1. CONSENT AGENDA         5 minutes 

a. Contract 2018-PWGG General, Pay Application 6:  $588,012.69 
b. Contract 2018-PWGGd Electrical, Pay Application 6:  $162,145.05 
c. Contract 2020-C4 Suburban Park, Pay Application 4:  $12,309.68 
d. Contract 2020-C8 Pavement Markings, Pay Application 5:  $7,755.87 

 

https://www.twp.ferguson.pa.us/public-works/pages/stormwater-user-fee-%E2%80%93-impervious-area-and-billing-units-parcel


Monday, October 19, 2020 
Page 4  
 

2. A PUBLIC HEARING ON A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, 
CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA REPEALING RESOLUTION 2019-23 BY 
ADOPTING A REVISED SIDEWALK SNOW REMOVAL MAP.   10 minutes 

 

Narrative 

Pursuant to Chapter 21, Section 207 of the Ferguson Township Code of Ordinances, the 
Board of Supervisors adopts a sidewalk snow removal map annually identifying the sections 
of public sidewalk that fall under the provision of the ordinance requiring sidewalks be kept 
clear of snow and ice.  The map assists the Township’s Ordinance Enforcement Officer in 
identifying new sections of sidewalk, as well as areas that are exempt from the 
requirements of the ordinance.  Provided with the agenda is a copy of the resolution as 
advertised for public hearing, which includes the map attachment as Exhibit “A.”  Also 
provided with the agenda is a PDF version of the map so that it can be viewed at a higher 
resolution. 
 
Recommended Motion:  That the Board of Supervisors adopt the resolution repealing Resolution 2019-
23 by adopting a revised sidewalk snow removal map.  
 

Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors adopt the resolution.   

 

3. REVIEW OF DRAFT PARKS AND RECREATION ORDINANCE AMENDMENT  
            10 minutes 

Narrative 

The Centre Region Municipal Ordinances vary with some inconsistencies across municipalities.  
Provided with the agenda is the Ferguson Township Parks and Recreation Ordinance with comments 
and edits from Centre Region Parks and Recreation for the Township’s consideration.  In previous 
conversations with CRPR and the Centre Region municipal managers, the initial topic of interest was in 
the Unmanned Aircraft ordinance.  According to CRPR, the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) 
controls the airspace for flyers and that municipalities can control what happens on their land 
(landings/take-offs).  Language has been updated in the ordinance provided for review and comment. 
Staff would like to review this with the Parks and Recreation Committee to receive comments and then 
bring back an updated drafted ordinance for the Board’s consideration.  

 
Recommended Motion:  That the Board of Supervisors refer the draft amendment to Chapter 16, Parks 
and Recreation to the Parks and Recreation Committee for review and comment. 
 

Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors refer the draft ordinance to the Parks and Recreation Committee.   

 
4. AUTHORIZATION TO SUBMIT A LIQUID FUELS GRANT APPLICATION FOR THE 

CONSTRUCTION OF A TRAFFIC SIGNAL AT THE INTERSECTION OF SCIENCE 
PARK ROAD AND SANDY DRIVE.       10 minutes 

 

Narrative 



Monday, October 19, 2020 
Page 5  
 

The Centre County Board of Commissioners is accepting applications for funding 
assistance through the 2021 County Liquid Fuels program. The application deadline is 
October 23rd.  The Township’s capital improvement program (CIP) includes construction of 
a traffic signal at the northernmost intersection of Science Park Road and Sandy Drive in 
the amount of $525,000 and staff suggests applying for $50,000 in liquid fuel aid from the 
County for the project. Provided with the agenda is a copy of the draft application for 
consideration by the Board this evening. 
 
Recommended Motion:  That the Board of Supervisors authorize staff to submit a Liquid Fuels Grant 
Application for the construction of a traffic signal at the intersection of Science Park Road and Sandy 
Drive. 
 

Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors authorize the submission of a Liquid Fuels Grant Application. 

 
VII. STAFF AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 

 
1. COG COMMITTEE REPORTS  20 minutes 

a. Joint TLU Committee and CRPC 
b. Ad Hoc Facilities Committee 
c. Finance Committee 
d. Public Safety Committee 

 
2. OTHER COMMITTEE REPORTS  5 minutes 

 
3. STAFF REPORTS  20 minutes 

a. Manager’s Report 
b. Public Works Director 
c. Planning & Zoning Director 
d. Chief of Police 

 
VIII. COMMUNICATIONS TO THE BOARD 

 
IX. CALENDAR ITEMS – OCTOBER / NOVEMBER 

 
X. ADJOURNMENT 



 
 

FERGUSON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
Regular Meeting 

Monday, October 5, 2020 
7:00 PM 

 
ATTENDANCE 

The Board of Supervisors held its first regular meeting of the month on Monday, 
October 5, 2020, via Zoom in a webinar format.  In attendance were: 
 
Board: Steve Miller, Chairman 

Laura Dininni, Vice Chair 
Prasenjit Mitra 
Patty Stephens 
Lisa Strickland 
 

Staff: Dave Pribulka, Township Manager 
Chris Albright, Chief of Police 
Dave Modricker, Director of Public Works 
Nick Fugaro, Communications Coordinator 
Eric Endresen, Director of Finance 
Ron Seybert, Township Engineer 
 
 

 
Others in attendance included:  Rhonda Demchak, Recording Secretary; Elizabeth Treadway, Principal 
Program Manager, Wood 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

Mr. Miller called the Monday, October 5, 2020, regular meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.  

Mr. Pribulka noted that the Board of Supervisors meeting had been advertised as a virtual meeting via 
Zoom in a webinar format due to the number of attendees that were present to hear about the 
Stormwater Fee Ordinance.  Mr. Pribulka posted the google form for attendees to sign up to talk during 
the public hearing.  C-NET is recording as well. There is also an audio conference bridge that is 
accessible by accessing the Ferguson Township’s main line at 814-238-4651 and then dialing 
extension 3799.  Per the Sunshine Act, which allows during a time of disaster recovery to meet virtually, 
but it also requires that a Roll Call be taken and that elected officials verbally respond.  Mr. Pribulka 
took Roll Call and there was a quorum.  
 

II. CITIZENS INPUT 
 

III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

Ms. Dininni moved that the Board of Supervisors approve the Minutes of September 21, 2020.  Ms. 
Strickland seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
 

IV. SPECIAL REPORTS 
 
a) COVID-19 (Coronavirus) Response Report 

 
Mr. Pribulka noted that Ms. Martin was unavailable to present the Business Needs Survey but will be 
at the meeting on October 7th to present.  Trick-or-Treat has been set for October 29, 2020, from 6:00 
p.m. – 8:00 p.m. with a rain date of November 1, 2020.  There will be a reevaluation of the Trick-or-
Treat date due to the COVID-19 Pandemic the week of October 19, 2020.  All communication will be 
delivered via the Township’s Website and social media.  The Strike Team meeting that was assembled 
by the PA Department of Health due to the increasing number of COVID-19 cases has completed their 
review and provided a report on the Emergency Operation Center in Centre County.  



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, October 5, 2020 
Page 2 

Recommendations include enforcement of local ordinances, expansion of Community Partnerships, 
expanding regional cooperation, and leveraging emergency aid and assistance.  Many of these 
recommendations were either currently in place or being pursued at the regional and county level, 
coupled with this initiative was a drive-through free COVID-19 testing facility located at the Nittany Mall. 
The most recent data that Mr. Pribulka viewed the site tested more than 300 participants with 278 
testing negative and 23 testing positive for the virus. The majority of positive cases were in the age 
range of 19 to 24.  The test site remains open this week, Tuesday through Saturday from 7 a.m. to 6 
p.m.  There is no cost, no insurance is required, and no appointment is needed.  As of October 1st. 
there are 2,688 cases in Centre County, 26,762 people have tested negative for COVID-19.  Most of 
the confirmed cases are in the 16801 and the 16802 zip codes and a majority of the geographic area 
of Ferguson Township continues to report zero positive cases.  The Center Area Transportation 
Authority (CATA) is temporarily discontinuing service on its CATA bus commuter routes as of today, 
October 5, 2020.  More information on specific routes impacted can be found online and at                 
CATA bus.com.  Ferguson Township, the F route with service to Pine Grove Mills and the S route 
which serviced Science Park has been temporarily suspended.  Mr. Pribulka noted that in response to 
a question from Ms. Dininni from the last meeting, Mr. Pribulka was informed that approximately 11% 
of the students quarantining on campus and Penn State's facilities reside permanently off campus.  As 
of October 2nd, the Penn State dashboard has 2,678 total positive cases and 2,040 are no longer active. 
Staff has concluded its business needs survey, however, as Mr. Pribulka noted earlier, Ms. Martin, 
Assistant to the Manager is unavailable to provide a report this evening. One of the conclusions from 
the report was there is a greater need for childcare services.  Ms. Wargo will be presenting the agenda 
item later in the evening.  Mr. Pribulka thanked the Township for their patience and understanding 
during the pandemic.   

 
V. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 
1. PRELIMINARY LAND DEVELOPMENTS PLAN – 3961 WEST WHITEHALL ROAD  

 
Ms. Wargo introduced the land development plan.  A copy of the preliminary land development 
plan submitted by Gwin, Dobson & Foreman Engineering, Inc., on behalf of their client, State 
College Borough Water Authority was included in the agenda.  The land development plan 
proposes water pumping improvements to the Kocher Well Fields on Tax Parcel 24-006-055E, 
located at 3961 W. Whitehall Road. The parcel is 47.7 acres and is zoned Rural Agricultural (RA). 
The construction consists of two (2) buildings that measure 7 feet 4 inches by 7 feet 4 inches.  Each 
building will be in close proximity to existing well #71 and well #78.  There is an existing floodplain 
that traverse the parcel and no construction is planned within the floodplain.  On June 23, 2020, a 
variance was granted to utilize FEMA mapping for floodplain boundary determination instead of 
independent Hydrologic and Hydraulic (H&H) study as required by §27-701, Floodplain 
Conservation.  Planning Commission reviewed the plan at their September 14, 2020, Regular 
Meeting and recommended that the Board of Supervisors approve the preliminary land 
development plan for 3961 West Whitehall Road—SCBWA Kocher Well Field Water Pumping 
Improvements.   
 
Ms. Dininni moved that the Board of Supervisors approve the Preliminary Land Development Plan 
for 3961 West Whitehall Road subject to the outstanding conditions as described in the Community 
Planner memorandum dated September 29, 2020.  Mr. Mitra seconded the motion. The motion 
passed unanimously. 
 

2. PUBLIC HEARING – ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING A STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY 
FEE 

 Mr. Pribulka noted that provided with the agenda is a copy of the ordinance advertised for public 
hearing establishing a utility fee for stormwater collection and management.  Mr. Pribulka reminded 



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, October 5, 2020 
Page 3 

that in the chat box there was a sign in sheet that was posted to the link and if someone wished to 
speak during the public hearing to please make use of the Google Form.  The hearing represents 
a three year-long study to evaluate the feasibility and the structure of a Stormwater Management 
Utility Fee, while enabling state legislation that has permitted municipalities to establish these has 
only been in place since 2016.  Communities around the country have been establishing these 
programs since the 1970’s as a means to provide a more equitable mechanism for assigning costs 
based on contribution to the problem of stormwater management.  Staff did not have a lengthy 
presentation scheduled but provided detailed slides and data to the Board and the public in prior 
meetings, all of which can be accessed from the stormwater fee tab on the Township’s website.  
Mr. Modricker, Director of Public Works, Ms. Elizabeth Treadway of the firm Wood and the 
Townships Stormwater Fee Consultant, Eric Endersen, Director of Finance, and Ron Seybert, 
Township Engineer were in attendance to answer any questions.  Mr. Pribulka publicly thanked 
them for their work on the study and the many hours that they spent finding the proposed scope 
and billing methodology to reflect the current and projected revenue needs for this critical service.  
Also, Mr. Pribulka thanked the men and women who served on our Stormwater Advisory Committee 
throughout the process. The Committee was tasked with forming a structure for consideration by 
the Board including finding the levels of service, providing input on the credit policy manual, billing 
methodologies and other components of the program.  They were not however asked to make a 
recommendation on whether or not the Township should implement a fee.   Also, staff does not 
have a recommendation to offer on the subject as Fiscal Policy is set by the elected officials of 
Ferguson Township based on what they believe to be the best interests of our residents with 
meeting the growing demands on the infrastructure and service delivery.  Mr. Pribulka noted that 
the proposed level of service has been revised to reflect the removal of the acquisition of 
equipment, the employment of additional foreman and operator, as well as to commit all capital 
projects related to stormwater management in the first year of the program. This was in 
consideration of the Board's direction to remove additional staff and to contract out services in the 
interest of reducing expenditures.  No equipment will be purchased with this fund and no staff other 
than the transition from part-time to full-time employment and stormwater engineer has been 
incorporated into the first two years of the program.  Mr. Pribulka noted that there are no committed 
expenditures in the proposed program schedule and all expenditures are evaluated year to year 
along with the entire Township budget.  The Board and staff worked to ensure to only include costs 
that are necessary to achieve the goals established through the budgeting process.  Mr. Pribulka 
reminded that the public can engage with the Board by completing the Google Form that was 
reference earlier in the evening.   Mr. Pribulka recommended that the Board of Supervisors continue 
the public hearing until October 19th during the regular meeting and at the conclusion there will be 
a vote to be scheduled.   

Mr. Miller stated that this is a public hearing and it’s a chance for the public to make comments and 
suggestions.  The Board will not be answering questions directly but will be part of the Board’s 
discussion after the hearing.  Mr. Miller noted that there will be 60 minutes for public comment. 

Public Hearing Comments and Questions:  

Ms. Davies noted that she sent emails to all of the Supervisors last week and spent a few evenings 
walking around the Piney Ridge Area.  Ms. Davies indicated that most people didn't know what the 
fee was all about, let alone that there was going to be a Zoom meeting tonight.  Ms. Davies 
expressed concerns with passing such a tax fee during the COVID-19 pandemic because people 
have lost their jobs, hours have been cut, people are on fixed incomes and can’t afford to pay an 
additional tax.      

 



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, October 5, 2020 
Page 4 

Ms. Charima Young, Director of Government and Community Relations, PSU, stated that PSU 
submitted a letter requesting 100% credit.  Ms. Young noted that PSU believes that based on the 
fact that a lot of MS Work permit holders like Penn State do have best management practices that 
are implemented as permit holders and PSU and has good documentation.  PSU mitigates its own 
stormwater and in addition to that, the University conducted a comprehensive analysis of 
stormwater impact from PSU properties and found that quite a bit of runoff comes from Ferguson 
Township onto PSU property.  Ms. Young indicated that it is about a 5:1 ratio.  Since PSU already 
mitigates, PSU believes that they qualify to receive an exemption of 100% and asked that the Board 
take that into consideration. Ms. Young noted that if the Board needs more information, to please 
let her know. 

Mr. Todd Giddings, member of the Storm Water Advisory Committee, noted that he has lived in 
Ferguson Township for more than 40 years.  Mr. Giddings stated that the principle of the ordinances 
to equitably and proportionately assess property owners in the Township for stormwater runoff is 
not proportional and is not equitable.  Mr. Giddings stated that in fact, Section 8 of the Ordinance 
does not allow the appeal of a credit application that was denied.  The Storm Water Advisory 
Committee did not have an opportunity at the meetings to develop the credit program fully and so 
the generic draft credit program is not appropriate for Ferguson Township.  Mr. Giddings stated 
that the Ordinance needs important rewriting and the credit program needs to be developed 

Mr. Alexandru Degeratu stated that in preparation for the meeting he went through the documents 
that the Township posted and one from Mr. Tom Songer.   Mr. Degeratu noted that he would second 
whatever comments Mr. Songer had.   

Mr. Stocks noted that he was sitting tonight with a group of friends that are farmers and 
businesspeople and residents of the Township.  Mr. Stocks stated that the tax is not needed, and 
Ferguson Township has the highest income tax and the highest real estate transfer tax in the area.  
Mr. Stocks stated the Township has done some extravagant spending for new equipment, 
buildings, etc.  Mr. Stocks finds it  especially offensive at a time when families and businesses are 
struggling over the pandemic and feels it is a money grab in order to grow the government. 

Lisa Rittenhouse, Ferguson Township Resident, noted that she has lived in Foxpointe for almost 
20 years and there was an email from her Association that they want to give up one of the parks in 
the development of Hunters Chase.  There is a fee of   $176 per household per calendar year.  So, 
with that being levied on them, along with the homeowner’s association dues, Ms. Rittenhouse 
stated that the fee should be set aside.   

Mr. James Steamer noted that he has been living in the Park Hills area for 22 years.  He asked if 
the fee is implemented would it be for the individual taxpayer based on the square footage of 
impenetrable areas such as driveways, cement etc.  Also, Mr. Steamer asked if the fee is 
implemented could it simply be added to the annual property tax bill.  Mr. Steamer stated that he 
would like to know what the fee is going to be and how burdensome it is going to be.  Mr. Steamer 
noted that this isn’t going to be popular if implemented because Ferguson Township already has 
the highest tax rates in the area.    

Mr. Pribulka noted that the Township does have a spreadsheet that's available on the website 
under the main page that can be utilized to access and identify based on your specific address 
under the current proposal what that fee would look like.  

Ms. Higgins noted that she is here to speak against the implementation of the fee, because it is a 
tax on the rain that falls on our properties and it is ridiculous.  The Township's ability to use its 
General Funds in a fiscally responsible manner doesn't constitute creation of another fee.  There 



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, October 5, 2020 
Page 5 

is no need for the fee.  Ms. Higgins stated that she feels the Township is extorting money and finds 
it disgraceful because it is hitting farmers, nonprofit veterans club, churches, etc.  Ms. Higgins 
requested that the Township learn to manage the money that is currently in the budget.   

Mr. John Simbeck, noted that Ferguson Township taxes are $177 in real estate tax based on 
Township’s website and pay another $195 to the new SAC fee.  This is about 111% increase of 
what our tax would be.  Mr. Simbeck indicated the Township generates a lot of money in the 
Township and this would add another 10 or 12 percent to our yearly budget.  Mr. Simbeck noted 
this isn’t the right way to go and feels a lot of consideration should be taken before it is decided.  

Ms. Dawnyelle Holsinger noted that she serves as an advocate for homeowners in Centre County  
Ms. Holsinger expressed concerns with passing such a fee during the COVID-19 pandemic 
because many are suffering with job losses, frozen wages, and increased costs.  Housing 
affordability will become an increasingly difficult goal if the fee is implemented.   Ms. Holsinger 
stated meetings like this need to be in person and is requesting Ferguson Township to consider 
postponing the fee discussion. 

Ms. Harpster noted that he owns farmland in Ferguson Township, that would certainly be affected 
by the stormwater fee. Ms. Harpster also has separate property that would be affected in addition 
to that as a resident of this Township for over 60 years.  Ms. Harpster stated that she has seen 
struggles and that the Ag Community has persevered, and this additional fee would be a definite 
hardship for most people in the farming community.  Ms. Harpster feels that voting on the proposal 
at this time would be a huge mistake and that a lot of people have had to do more with less and 
the Township should be no exception 

Mr. Larry Harpster stated that he is a farmer in the Western part of Ferguson Township and has 
been a lifelong resident.  The Ferguson Township Ag Committee met on September 21, 2020,  for 
the purpose of discussing and reacting to the stormwater fee proposal.  There were 23 different 
owners in attendance.  The Ag Community contributes very little, probably less than 1% of the level 
of service necessary in the Township to manage storm water.  The Ag Community keeps the water 
it gets from the sky on their farm property as part of its crop and animal management system.   Mr. 
Harpster indicated that they don't send surface water to other surfaces. The Ag Community is 
already regulated by state and federal government through registered conservation plans, nutrient 
management, and erosion control measures.  Three years ago the Ag Community of Ferguson 
Township was applauded for its stewardship and contributions to the infiltration system that 
provides a significant amount of drinking water for the entire Center Region and there was no effort 
made to reimburse the Ag Community for this critical service.  Mr. Harpster noted that they are 
going to be taxed even more for good intentions and efforts. Mr. Harpster noted that the Ag 
Community does not agree with the fee.  

Mr. Tom Songer noted that he supports the staff for looking at the future and determining what the 
capital needs will be in respect to maintaining and replacing deteriorated storm surges as well as  
issues relating to the MS4.  Mr. Songer feels in his opinion that the fee can be paid from the 
Township’s current Transportation Improvement Fund (TIP) which is the way the Township has 
been doing business for many years.  Mr. Songer indicated that if the Township can’t afford the 
fee, then perhaps it is time to raise taxes.  Mr. Songer suggested creating a Financial Advisory 
Committee to review budgets and make recommendations in order to save money.  Also, Mr. 
Songer indicated that he served on the Stormwater Advisory Committee for more than two years 
and the Committee never voted on the issue.  Mr. Songer recommends that the Board not vote on 
or at least table the ordinance until the pandemic is over.   



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, October 5, 2020 
Page 6 

Mr. John Corneal noted that he is a businessperson in Ferguson Township and has been a resident 
for over 35 years.  Mr. Corneal stated that Ferguson Township needs to support the businesses 
and the community.  The Township has the highest taxes and then adding this additional fee, this 
could jeopardize the community.  Also, it doesn’t appear the fee has much to do with stormwater, 
but rather a taxing platform as a member of the MS4 group.   Mr. Corneal recommends that the 
funds should be designated directly for stormwater management only and not be allowed to be 
used for any other purpose in the Township.  

Mr. Pribulka noted that the Township would absolutely earmark any funds that were generated in 
response to a result of a stormwater fee, it would be its own separate fund that would be purely 
designated for the purpose of stormwater management.  It would be subject to an audit. It would 
become part of the Township's annual operating budget with full transparency and be able to be 
reviewed.  It would free up other capital for other purposes.    

Mr. Lauck noted that he is a lifelong resident of Ferguson Township and the Township has taxed 
the residents to the end of their ability.  Also, with the current pandemic Mr. Lauck recommends 
holding off on implementing.   

Rick Tetzlaff noted that he is a 27-year resident of Ferguson Township and spoke tonight as a 
member of the board for the Homeowners Association in Aaron Village.  Mr. Tetzlaff noted that he 
is against the fee and their needs to be more time to be put into it and more input from residents.  
Mr. Tetzlaff inquired about how the credits will be done.  Mr. Tetzlaff talked about how Aaron Village 
was required to put in stormwater basins that could have been placed by the Township.  Mr. Tetzlaff 
stated he is against the fee and should postpone the vote on October 19, 2020. 

Mr. Thomas Price thanked the Board for compiling the information and noted that he lives in a rural 
part of Ferguson Township and his water flows straight into Beaver Branch.  Mr. Price stated that 
the tax just seems unreasonable and with the pandemic that it is absolutely not the time to 
implement this fee.  Mr. Price noted that he feels it is unacceptable to consider this fee because of 
the financial hardship that people are facing with the pandemic.  Mr. Price feels this should be 
tabled until people can meet in person.   

Ms. Eleazer noted that she agreed with most of the other points made especially during a pandemic 
to increase the fees is absurd and for her personal house, it would be almost an additional 100% 
tax which is outrageous.  Ms. Eleazer noted that she looked at her own personal fee for her house 
versus her neighbors and noted that the Township is rounding to the nearest 1000 IA, and her 
property is 23 square feet more than her neighbors and her tax was more than 47% higher.   

Bob doesn’t understand why the residents should have to pay a fee for the developments that are 
dumping water onto the roads.  Bob stated that he is opposed of the fee and he has several 
properties in the Township.      

Jeanne Fudrow noted that she agrees with the points that is in Mr. Songer’s letter.  It is well written 
and also agrees with the comments this evening.  Ms. Fudrow asked why the storm water issue 
isn't addressed regionally. 

Mr. Ron Strouse noted that he is representing the Pine Hall Cemetery Association which is a non-
profit corporation serving the Centre Region for 128 years and based on the fee spreadsheet the 
fee would be over $1,900. This will create additional financial hardship to the association and Mr. 
Strouse is asking for an exemption. 

Ms. Marnie Deibler noted that she is a  wife of a farmer in the Township and is a daughter-in-law 
of a farmer in the Township.  Ms. Deibler noted that she agrees with the statement that Larry 



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, October 5, 2020 
Page 7 

Harpster made and many others.  Ms. Deibler completely opposes the stormwater fee and would 
see an equivalent of 100% increase each year in the yearly costs.  Ms. Deibler stated that it’s 
shameful that the Board wants to bring the proposal to a vote later in the month during a worldwide 
health pandemic.   

Mr. Justin Kocher noted he has a dairy farm out at the West End of Whitehall Road.  The farm is 
about 800 acres of prime farmland and has devoted his life to it.  Mr. Kocher noted that milk prices 
have been low due to the pandemic and cannot afford the fee.  Mr. Kocher noted that his fee would 
be around $8,560 a year on top of other taxes.  Their fam has been practicing no-till for years to 
prevent soil runoff, erosion control, and is opposed to receiving a fee for stuff they have been 
preventing years ago. 

Public Hearing concluded after one hour. 

Mr. Miller noted that there were several emails received and they will be read.  Mr. Pribulka 
indicated that Nick Furgaro has been tracking the questions tonight and will respond.  Mr. Miller 
asked the Board members to make any comments or statements addressing the comments that 
were received tonight.   

Ms. Strickland thanked everybody who has emailed or called with thoughts, concerns, and 
suggestions.  Ms. Strickland stated that she is not in favor of the fee and while she understands 
the systems are a vital infrastructure there are a number of concerns about the funding scheme. 
Ms. Strickland noted that the Board did not task itself nor did it task the Storm Water Advisory 
Committee to scrutinize the budget freeze, cut, or stretch spending.  Also, the assessment of the 
infrastructure will be done after the fee is imposed.   Ms. Strickland stated that the Ag Community 
would be hard hit by the fee despite having their own nutrient management and conservation plans. 
There are no hardship exemptions and Ms. Strickland noted that the region and the Township are 
already exceptionally expensive to live in.  The nonprofit organizations that will be affected by the 
fee includes area churches and they are already losing their donations due to the pandemic.  Ms. 
Strickland stated that Penn State will be exempt from part of the fee because they hold their own 
MS4 Permit.  Penn State knows that whatever they agree to pay it will be used as a basis for what 
other municipalities intend to charge them in the future.  Penn State is doubly motivated to keep 
that number as small as possible and possibly challenge their duty to pay.  With regards to the  
credit program, Ms. Strickland noted that while it will bring some relief to the burden of the fee, it 
will create another administrative burden for the Township and it has the potential to reduce 
revenue by up to perhaps 40% maybe more and this loss has not been modeled in revenue or 
expenditure projections.  Ms. Strickland stated that the timing is her biggest problem with the fee 
because of the pandemic and would like to delay the conversation.  Ms. Strickland suggested a 
few ideas.  Hold off voting on the fee at this time, moving forward with conducting the assessment 
of the stormwater infrastructure over the next several years, using contracted services prioritized 
by age of the area, and ecology in scheduled programs provided by the study. The study could be 
funded by holding off on the planned storm water projects that are in the CIP over the next several 
years, excluding the Park Hills project, emergency repairs, etc.  Ms. Strickland stated that at the  
conclusion of the assessment the Board could determine the cost of the repairs, the replacements 
needed and then create a master plan for that and ongoing maintenance at that point.  The Board 
could create a separate fund like the TIP fund as directed in the ordinance to allocate funds to pay 
for the projects.  Ms. Strickland suggested looking into increasing taxes.  Ms. Strickland suggested 
to create a Review Committee to evaluate the ordinance once it's built out.  The Board could have 
a very specific scope of work to critique the finalized ordinance and to review the projected cost, 
the program plan, and the credit policy manual that will go along with the ordinance.  



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, October 5, 2020 
Page 8 

Ms. Dininni is open to accommodating in various ways adapting to the pandemic and this is the 
conclusion of a 3-year journey.  There were many projects that have been put on hold and would 
be interested in implementing the first year as half of the fee.  Ms. Dininni stated that she is not 
interested in putting this on hold.  Ms. Dininni noted that there was a lot of feedback on the 
methodology and is willing to explore all the methods.   

Mr. Miller requested that attendees not use the chat feature for inappropriate conversations and to 
not use the chat feature at all.   

Mr. Mitra stated that he realizes that this is a very hard time for everyone in the community, 
especially for businesses who have had revenue loss and some folks, especially in the lower wage 
bracket have lost their jobs and at this point Mr. Mitra has serious concerns about putting this 
additional burden on the community.  Although Mr. Mitra has concerns, he noted that he liked the 
idea of a stormwater fee; however, would like the polluters to pay.  Mr. Mitra’s preference would 
make this a revenue-neutral fee so that the Township isn’t doing this to increase the size of local 
government.  Mr. Mitra would like to discuss the ordinance more because some things are unclear 
and has received several inquiries.  Mr. Mitra inquired what exactly the Township incurs in the rural 
areas versus what the Township incurs in a growth area and why are the farmers being asked to 
pay for a problem they didn’t create.   Mr. Mitra noted that he wants the fee to be fair because he 
heard a lot tonight about fairness, perhaps have different calculations for rural areas.  Mr. Mitra 
stated that if a property is not generating any storm water, then they should not have to pay.  Mr. 
Mitra strongly agrees with Ms. Strickland on creating an independent committee and suggest that 
the Board move in this direction. 

Ms. Stephens stated that the community is hurting financially due to the pandemic but noted that it 
would be irresponsible to throw away the hard work that had been done over the last 3-years.  Ms. 
Stephens agrees that the ordinance could be tweaked and would agree to tighten the budget.   

Mr. Miller noted he received a lot of the emails asking why a fee and not a tax.  It is being called  a 
fee because that is what the State Legislation has enabled the Board to call it.  Mr. Miller stated 
that there will never be a fee structure that everyone will agree on.  There is a big emphasis on 
stormwater runoff, but there is more to the management of the runoff.  There are infrastructures 
that serve the entire Township. There are a lot of costs and ultimately those costs need to be paid.  
Mr. Miller stated that his preference is to approve the fee.   

Discussion ensued with the Board members.   

Ms. Dininni noted that the fee is unfairly targeting the agricultural community that does have fewer 
needs and impacts on stormwater.   Ms. Dininni stated that Ferguson Township’s mills are very low 
because agricultural land is valued.  Ms. Dininni proposed an amendment to the ordinance and 
noted PA Senate Bill 1026.   

Ms. Dininni moved that the Board of Supervisors amend the ordinance to state that the Township's 
shall not assess on any working farm whose total area of impervious surface does not exceed 30% 
of the property’s total land area, a fee that is greater than twice the median assessment fee imposed 
on all properties in the Township.  Ms. Strickland seconded the motion.   

Discussion ensued on the amendment.   

Ms. Dininni requested figures to get a better understanding.  Mr. Pribulka noted that it would equate 
to approximately 11% reduction in the Township’s total number of billing units under the current fee 
methodology of a 1000 square foot be reduced by a total of 5,651 approximate billing units. At $17 



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, October 5, 2020 
Page 9 

per unit outside the regional growth boundary, that equates to approximately $96,000 in reduced 
revenue and that maximum agricultural land exposure would be capped at $102.  

Mr. Mitra requested information on how much of the Township’s stormwater runoff comes from 
rural areas and urban areas.  Mr. Modricker stated that there is not a quantitative breakout and 
stormwater fees have been around a long time.  Mr. Mitra stated that he is interested in the science 
of this and wanted to know what the best model would be because it is not evidence based.   

Ms. Dininni continued a discussion on the amendment she made.   

Mr. Mitra expressed concerns and a discussion ensued about who is creating the problem and who 
would be paying for it.     

Ms. Dininni stated that there was a lot of feedback on implementing a property tax but is not in 
favor. 

Ms. Strickland noted that she did research and although the fees have been around a long time, 
there is not a lot of data available on the effectiveness of different stormwater utility fee designs.  
Ms. Strickland suggested looking into a tiered program to look at pervious versus impervious 
surfaces on a lot.   

Ms. Dininni noted that early in the process there was a conversation about not including the regional 
growth boundary.   

Mr. Mitra noted that he is in support of the amendment and does not want to bankrupt the farmers. 

Mr. Pribulka respectfully requested that the he is able to research some level of analysis in terms 
of the legality of it and is not in the position to provide an opinion at this time.  

Mr. Modricker requested that staff and the consultant be afforded the opportunity to go over the 
calculations.   

Mr. Miller called for a vote on the amendment to the proposed ordinance.  The motion passed 
unanimously.  

Further discussion continued. 

Ms. Strickland asked how the cemeteries are being assessed.  Mr. Seybert noted that tombstones 
were not digitized for impervious areas, because it was too difficult with the level of mapping that 
the Township has.  Paved areas were captured but not headstones.   

Ms. Strickland asked about different paving materials and how they were going to be assessed. 
Mr. Modricker noted impervious areas don’t infiltrate water and asphalt bituminous pavement, 
concrete, and crushed hardpack are in that category.  Purposefully built pervious pavement would 
not be that category.  Mr. Modricker stated that if it was built, designed and infiltrates water, it will 
not be considered in the calculation.  In the event that it was captured incorrectly, it will be corrected.   
Mr. Mitra inquired if gravel roads would be pervious or impervious.  Mr. Modricker noted that gravel 
roads are impervious.   

Ms. Dininni commented on potentially raising revenue either through a stormwater fee or maybe 
property tax.  Ms. Dininni noted that the Board heard a lot of people talking about how the Township 
should be managing the money better and discussed ways to cut expenditures.  Ms. Dininni also 
noted that there are a lot of expenditures in the future such as a fire station out in the West End of 
the Township.   



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, October 5, 2020 
Page 10 

Ms. Strickland noted that there was a lot of feedback on the billing system following the last meeting 
and has done even more research on how it will impact different property owners in different ways. 
There was a lot of communication that the ERU might be a fairer model.  Ms. Strickland concurs 
with Mr. Mitra with regards of considering lowering the 1000 square foot grounding point.  Ms. 
Dininni liked the idea of exploring the smaller rounding unit perhaps at 500 square feet.  Mr. Pribulka 
believes that the ERU model creates a perception of equity more so than the 1000 square feet 
billing model.  Since publishing the spreadsheets online, Mr. Pribulka stated that he has heard from 
several residents that are looking at their fee and in some cases the fee is twice of their adjacent 
neighbors are paying.  Ms. Dininni stated that she favors the 1000 square foot model.  Mr. Miller 
supports the ERU method because it is simpler.  Ms. Strickland is in favor of the 1000 square foot 
model but is open to reconsider.  Ms. Strickland asked if there is a possibility of modeling the 500 
square feet.  Mr. Modricker indicated that it can be a possibility.  Ms. Strickland stated she is leaning 
towards the ERU, but would like to see the models of 1000 sq. ft., 500 sq. ft. and the ERU model.   
Mr. Miller stated that if a major change is made in the ordinance, the Board can’t vote.  Mr. 
Modricker can run different scenarios.  Mr. Pribulka stated the amendment regarding the cap on 
the agricultural fees is significant enough to re-advertise for a new public hearing on October 19th. 
Mr. Modricker and Ms. Treadway will go over the models, and then re-advertise for a public hearing 
on November 2, 2020. 

Mr. Mitra requested from the other Board members their thoughts on low-income exemption and 
fixed-income exemption.  Mr. Miller stated that Mr. Pribulka will need to look at the legality 
perimeters of exemptions.  Mr. Pribulka will do some research for the next meeting.  Ms. Treadway 
noted that there are hardship considerations that have been made in utilities and they’re made 
today, even in places like the power companies where they have established a hardship program.  
Ms. Treadway noted that the legal review that Mr. Pribulka discussed is very important.   

Ms. Strickland requested forming a Stormwater Ordinance Review Committee. Mr. Miller stated 
that he is not in favor of the committee.  Mr. Pribulka noted that he would need more information to 
decide.  Mr. Miller recommend proposing the committee as an agenda item to Ms. Strickland.  Ms. 
Strickland agreed and will propose this for the next meeting.   

3. PUBLIC HEARING – RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ENGAGEMENT OF VOYA FINANCIAL 
FOR NON-UNIFORMED PENSION PLAN SPONSORSHIP SERVICES 

 Mr. Miller opened the Public Hearing and asked for comment.  There were no public comment and 
the hearing closed. 

 The resolution was included in the agenda and needed no further comment from the Board.  

 Ms. Dininni moved that the Board of Supervisors authorize to adopt the resolution authorizing the 
Chairman and Secretary to execute an agreement with Voya Financial for plan sponsorship 
services for the Township 457 Deferred Compensation Retirement Plans; Post Employment 
Healthcare Plan; and Roth IRA Plan.  Ms. Stephens seconded the motion. The motion passed 
unanimously.   

 ROLL CALL: Ms. Dininni – Yes: Mr. Miller – Yes: Mr. Mitra – Yes: Ms. Stephens – Yes: Ms. 
Strickland – Yes  

   

VI. NEW BUSINESS 
 
1. CONSENT AGENDA 

a. Contract 2019-C32c, Pay Application 6, Electrical: $7,349.93  



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, October 5, 2020 
Page 11 

b. Contract 2019-C32a, Pay Application 7, General: $14,677.50  
c. Contract 2019-C32a, Pay Application 8, General: $17,557.99  
d. Voucher Report – August  
e. Treasurer’s Report for Acceptance – August 
 

Ms.  Dininni moved that the Board of Supervisors approve the Consent Agenda and accept the 
Treasurer’s Report for August . Mr. Mitra seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.   

 
2. ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENT, CHILDCARE FACILITIES – AUTHORIZATION FOR 

PUBLIC HEARNING 

Ms. Wargo introduced the Zoning Ordinance Amendment.  Based on the results of the business 
needs survey, staff explored potential options within the Township’s control to provide relief to 
residents and businesses in Ferguson Township.  Staff reviewed the requirements and processes 
of establishing a Family Child-Care Home and a Group Child-Care Home within residential areas 
of the Township.  A Family Child-Care Home is defined as a residence in which out-of-home care 
is provided, as an accessory use, at any one time, for part of a twenty-four-hour day, for up to and 
including six children who are not related to the operator and who are 15 years of age or younger. 
This definition does not apply to: care provided in the home of someone who is a relative to all of 
the children being cared for or care provided by a relative in the home of children whom are all 
related to each other and to the relative. A Group Child-Care Home is defined as a residence in 
which out-of-home care is provided, as an accessory use, at any time, for part of a twenty-four-
hour day to more than six but fewer than 16 older school-age children or more than six but less 
than 13 children of any other age. This definition does not apply to: care provided in the home of 
someone who is a relative to all of the children being cared for or care provided by a relative in the 
home of children whom are all related to each other and to the relative. Currently, both uses are 
considered Accessory Uses, and both uses would follow a conditional use process for approval. 
The conditional use process is longer and more expensive for the applicant in comparison to a 
zoning permit approval.  Ms. Wargo spent time working with Mr. Ressler on all the zoning districts.  
Currently it is only permitted as an accessory use in the RR and RA zoning district for both childcare 
homes.  Staff is recommending to amend Chapter 27, Zoning; Part 2, District Regulations; Section 
205.5—Single Family Residential (R1); Section 205.6—Suburban Single Family Residential (R1B); 
Section 205.7—Two Family Residential (R2); Section 205.8—Townhouse Residential (R3); 
Section 205.9—Multi-Family Residential (R4) and Section 205.11—Village (V) to amend the 
conditional use for Family Child-Care Homes to a permitted use for Single-family Detached 
Dwellings in these zoning districts and amend the conditional use for Group Child-Care Homes to 
a permitted use for Single-Family Detached Dwellings in the Single Family Residential (R1) and 
Suburban Single Family Residential (R1B) zoning districts. All conditions as outlined in the 
conditional use process would still be applied to the permitted uses and residents would be able to 
apply for a no-fee zoning permit for approval as opposed to going through the conditional use 
process. 
 
Ms. Dininni asked if the larger group homes in R4 are allowed by conditional use.  Ms. Wargo noted 
that they are not allowed within R4. 
 
Ms. Strickland noted that she is supportive of this amendment, but thought the idea was to make it 
a permanent accessory use.  Ms. Wargo noted that she was not employed at the Township when 
this was written.   
 
Mr. Miller asked if all the conditions that were previously established would still apply.  Ms. Wargo 
stated that yes, but it not a conditional use process.  Mr. Pribulka indicated that the one limitation 
that might be considered would be applied to with this is if the Board would take out the Conditional 
Use Hearing Process that it would preclude the Board from placing additional conditions beyond 



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, October 5, 2020 
Page 12 

what is included in the supplemental regulations.  The Board does have some latitude during the 
conditional use process to attach items that are not ordained.  Ms. Dininni asked if it was temporary.  
Mr. Pribulka stated that no it is not temporary under the proposal.  Ms. Dininni requested making 
the conditional use process temporary and expressed concerns over the larger group homes.  Mr. 
Miller expressed that he does not have a problem with the family childcare home but suggest 
looking into group childcare home before approving.  Continued discussion ensued regarding the 
process once the temporary allowances expire.  Ms. Dininni prefers to have the larger group homes 
removed from the ordinance.  Mr. Miller agrees to have the conditional use hearing on the larger 
group homes.  Mr. Mitra concurs.  Ms. Wargo will note the change.      
     
Ms. Dininni moved that the Board of Supervisors authorize advertisement of a public hearing on 
an ordinance permitting family childcare facilities as an accessory use home occupation in all 
residential zoning districts for Monday, November 16th.  Ms. Stephens seconded the motion.  The 
motion passed unanimously. 

 

VII. STAFF AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 

1. COG COMMITTEE REPORTS 

a. Executive Committee – No report.      
b. Public Services and Environmental Committee -  Mr. Mitra was unable to attend the meeting 

but there was a discussion on the Climate Action and Adaptation Plan and there will be a 
future session scheduled.  The UAJA Solar Pilot program was discussed.  

c. Joint TLU and CRPC Meeting – Ms. Strickland stated that they met today, October 5, 2020, 
and had a presentation on the Utility-Scale Solar Projects in the Centre Region. They 
discussed the Accessory Dwelling Units in the Centre Region and it is in the CRPA work 
plan. Ms. Strickland encouraged the Board to look at the draft Centre Region Land 
Consumption Study that was provided in the agenda.  Ms. Dininni suggested to revisit the 
Accessory Dwelling Units.   

d. Finance Committee – Mr. Miller noted that the review of the COG Budget has been 
completed.  The final meeting is Thursday, October 8, 2020.   

 

2. OTHER REGIONAL REPORTS 

a. CCMPO Coordinating Committee CCMPO Coordinating Committee – Ms. Strickland noted 
that the PennDot Multimodal Transportation Fund Cycle is open until November 6, 2020.  
CCMPO reviewed the comments that were made about the Long Range Transportation 
Plan.  With regards to the projects in Pine Grove Mills that Ferguson Township requested 
to separate, Ms. Strickland noted that the Committee did not recommend, but if the 
Township would have a successful study then the two projects can be separated.  Ms. 
Strickland asked to place a footnote stating that the two projects can be separated if there 
is a successful study because Ms. Strickland doesn’t want it to get lost.  

 

3. STAFF REPORTS 

a. Manager’s Report -  Mr. Pribulka noted that his report is in the agenda.  There will be a 
Virtual Municipal Leadership Summit on October 29-31, 2020.  Board members can attend 
and to let the Manager know.  Ferguson Township was awarded a $250,000 grant from the 
Community Conservation Partnership Program for Phase I of the Suburban Park.   Ms. 
Martin took the lead on drafting the application and Mr. Pribulka thanked her.  



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Monday, October 5, 2020 
Page 13 

b. Public Works – Mr. Modricker’s report was included in the agenda.  There will be two brush 
collections that will occur in October.  Mr. Modricker updated the Board on the Arborist and 
Tree Commission.  Mr. Modricker is in the process of reviewing requests for proposals for 
a solar power purchase agreement.      

c. Planning and Zoning – Ms. Wargo noted that the report was provided in the agenda and 
noted that the staff is preparing for the public hearings in November and ensuring that it is 
in  compliance with the MPC.    

 
VIII. COMMUNICATIONS TO THE BOARD  

 
None  

 
IX. CALENDAR ITEMS  - SEPTEMBER/OCTOBER 

 
1. Wednesday, October 5, 2020, Board of Supervisors meeting 
 

 
X. ADJOURNMENT 

 
With no further business to come before the Board of Supervisors, Ms. Dininni motioned to adjourn the 
meeting.  The meeting adjourned at 11:05 p.m. 
 
 
       Respectfully submitted, 

 
 
 
David Pribulka, Township Manager 
For the Board of Supervisors 



 
 

FERGUSON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
Continuation Meeting from October 5, 2020 

Wednesday, October 7, 2020 
7:00 PM 

 
ATTENDANCE 

The Board of Supervisors held a continuation meeting from Monday, 
October 5, 2020,  to October 7, 2020 via Zoom.  In attendance were: 
 
Board: Steve Miller, Chairman 

Laura Dininni, Vice Chair 
Prasenjit Mitra 
Patty Stephens 
Lisa Strickland 
 

Staff: Dave Pribulka, Township Manager 
Dave Modricker, Director of Public Works 
Nick Fugaro, Communications Coordinator 
Eric Endresen, Director of Finance 
Jenna Wargo, Planning & Zoning Director 
 
 

Others in attendance included:  Rhonda Demchak, Recording Secretary; Bill Keough, Member, Centre 
Region Parks & Recreation Authority; Bruce Bender, Ferguson Township Resident;  Doug Bart, 
Ferguson Township Resident; Mark Kunkle, Ferguson Township Resident;  Joseph Green, Township 
Solicitor, Joe Viglione, Finance Director, COG 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

Mr. Miller called the Monday, October 5, 2020, regular meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.  

Mr. Pribulka noted that the Board of Supervisors meeting had been advertised as a virtual meeting via 
Zoom.  C-NET is recording as well. There is also an audio conference bridge that is accessible by 
accessing the Ferguson Township’s main line at 814-238-4651 and then dialing extension 3799.  
Members of the public who would like to speak on behalf of an agenda item are asked to enter their 
name, municipality, and the topic by utilizing the chat feature.  Per the Sunshine Act, which allows 
during a time of disaster recovery to meet virtually, but it also requires that a Roll Call.  Mr. Pribulka 
took Roll Call and there was a quorum.  
 
Mr. Miller stated that the Board unanimously agreed to add an item to the agenda tonight to discuss 
where the Board is with the process of the Stormwater Fee Ordinance.  There will be no motions with 
the ordinance.     
 

II. CITIZENS INPUT 
 
None. 
 

III. SPECIAL REPORTS 
 

a.   Centre Region Parks & Recreation Authority 

Mr. Bill Keough presented the report.  Mr. Keough noted that from a staff perspective on the Park 
and Recreation Department, there's been a huge amount of focus on the COVID-19 issues and the 
changes that have been required as a result of the almost daily, if not weekly changes in information 
coming from the Department of Health with regards to what is allowed and what is not allowed.  Mr. 
Keough stated that whenever a change occurs, staff goes into high operation mode to try and 
determine whether the activity that is planned complies with the latest COVID-19 regulations.  Also, 
the townships have enacted or are in the process of enacting emergency ordinances which vary 
from township to township and a little bit from the state.  Mr. Keough noted that trying to figure out 



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Wednesday, October 7, 2020 
Page 2 

where the activity is taking place, what township it involves, and then applying the matrix to 
determine if the activity in in compliance, is a lot of work.   

Mr. Keough noted that the bid packages for the Whitehall Road Regional Park are all completed 
and DCNR has reviewed about 75% of those packages.  CRPR is waiting for documents to come 
from the Authority Solicitor, which should satisfy DCNR’s checklist.  At that time, CRPR can set the 
bidding period and advertise the bids for Whitehall Road Regional Park. 

Staff completed a grant application to the Centre Foundation COVID-19 Community Grant focusing 
on helping to support the technology and equipment needs related to the COVID-19 pandemic and 
also completed the grant to the Centre County Cares Act COVID-19 fund for revenue losses, 
utilities, and rent for the authorities operations. CRPR welcomed Kristy Owens at their last meeting. 
Ms. Owens is the new Recreation Services Manager. The previous manager has relocated out of 
the area.  Ms. Owens was recently hired to take the position and will have a very steep learning 
curve given all the things that are occurring in the region and nationally. 

The Oak Hall Youth Flag Football Program is underway.   Mr. Jeff Hall has been able to add two 
brand new team activities to the Park and Recreation program this fall. The first is a wood bat 
league where only the use of wooden bats are allowed.  There are 10 teams assembled and will 
be utilizing the Softball Complex because it has lights.  A new sand volleyball league was 
established as well.   

The Adult Center has taken a real hit with COVID-19 and is having a great deal of difficulty meeting 
the compliance issues, especially with the population that is being served at the Center. They are 
all seniors and represent the high-risk population.  Mr. Keough was pleased to report that the Center 
will be offering a program one day a week and will also be providing one outing a week.   

In September CRPR was able to add a low-impact exercise program called Healthy Steps.   

Mr. Keough expressed excitement for a new program called Single Track School for Girls. It is a 
program for bicycle riders.  They will be meeting three Sundays in September and October.  In 
addition, the CRPR established a partnership with an organization called Soccer Shots for 2- and 
3-year old’s and 4-and 6-year olds at Suburban Park.     

CRPR is also offering Start Smart Baseball and Start Smart Basketball at Spring Creek.  The Start 
Smart Sports Programs will bring parents and their children in to work together to learn the basics 
of the sport.    

The Park Maintenance Program has been very busy.  CRPR started seeding and fertilizing a 
number of the grass areas but had to discontinue because the conditions were too dry.  

College Township has assisted CRPR in adding compost to the sports fields at Spring Creek Park.  
Mr. Keough noted that CRPR also has the maintenance staff enhancing the playground safety 
surfaces by adding new certified engineered wood fibers to the fall zone areas in the parks.   In 
Ferguson Township, the maintenance department has continued to maintain the soccer fields. 

The Park Forest Pool was closed for the season on September 7th and the Welch Pool closed for 
the season on September 27th.  Mr. Keough explained that the reason for the different dates had 
to do with the ability to maintain staff especially lifeguard staff.  CRPR could maintain enough staff 
for operating one pool after Labor Day but couldn't get enough staff to maintain both pools after 
Labor Day.   Both pools are now closed and starting to winterize them.   

A contractor recommended and approved to complete part one of the boardwalk feasibility study 
at Millbrook Marsh and looking to receive quotes for the pavilion roof replacement. 



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Wednesday, October 7, 2020 
Page 3 

There also was an issue of invasive species at Millbrook Marsh.  A representative from the U.S. 
Fish and Wildlife Service completed a study.  CRPR is always concerned about the invasive 
species when it comes to Millbrook Marsh. 

Mr. Keough noted that one of the biggest issues has clearly been a loss of revenue across all the 
operating budgets. All the operating budgets have taken a serious hit when it comes to the ability 
to get revenue to support the programs and continues to be a major challenge for the CRPR.  The 
CRPR tried to minimize and reduce some of the expenses across all the operating budgets for all 
of the programming and that included full-time staff furloughs this summer and reduction in 
seasonal staffing.   

Mr. Keough stated the he is very interested in listening to the agenda item about the Whitehall 
Road Regional Park.   

Ms. Strickland asked if the wooden bat teams are local or traveling.  Mr. Keough noted they are 
local.  Ms. Strickland wanted to know what it means to partner with Soccer Shots.  Mr. Keough 
stated he was not sure but will get an answer for Ms. Strickland.   

Ms. Dininni asked Mr. Pribulka if it is fair to say that Centre Region Park and Recreation is exempted 
from the Ferguson Township Ordinance.  Mr. Pribulka stated they are exempt.  

IV. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

1. Citizen’s Right to Be Heard – Whitehall Road Stormwater Runoff 
 

Mr. Pribulka noted that Mr. Bender, 6315 W Whitehall Road, has submitted a request through the 
Citizen's Right to Be Heard Provision of the Home Rule Charter to appear in front of the Board this 
evening and reviewed his concerns that he has in respect to his property and some of the adjacent 
property owners on West Whitehall and Johnson Road.  

Mr. Bender stated that it initiated in 1958 when PennDOT did some work on Whitehall Road and 
redirected the stormwater.  The stormwater now runs across Whitehall Road, across Johnson 
Road, and then comes down the hill into their properties.  Mr. Bender noted it is thousands of 
gallons of water when it is time to pump it out. Mr. Bender is requesting Township to reconstruct 
the stormwater runoff situation.  Mr. Bender noted that when it was presented in the past one of 
the big concerns was being able to locate the water line in that area.  This Spring Water Company 
did locate it.  Mr. Bender is requesting it to be added to the Capitalization Plan because it's a serious 
problem.  The deepest point is about three feet deep and Mr. Bender has had to pump it out.  It 
takes hours to pump with a 2-inch gas-powered pump, and it runs for 2 or 3 days depending on 
how deep the water is.   Mr. Bender is asking to consider this to be an agenda item to be funded.   

Mr. Miller noted that this has been looked at in the past.  Mr. Modricker noted that Mr. Bender 
described the situation well.  The issue is mostly upstream, private property water commingled with 
road water, and at one time was the state road system, which was also relined.  There have been 
field views and preliminary estimates.  This was not included in the road paving project, but it’s not 
that stormwater couldn’t be incorporated.  However, in this case it would only be benefitting the 
private property owners.  If next steps were to be taken it would require surveying design work, PA 
One Call, accurately locate the Rock Spring Water Line, and any other utilities.  Mr. Modricker 
noted that the feasible way would be to pipe the road to the south side of White Hall Road and run 
it down the ditch line that is between the road and the embankment where the evergreen trees are, 
then down to the creek.   

Mr. Mitra asked about the degree of the problem.  Mr. Bender stated that when it floods it spreads 
out over three properties and the septic fields are under water.  Mr. Bender noted that he gets up 



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Wednesday, October 7, 2020 
Page 4 

to 6 inches of water at times in his basement due to the flooding.  The runoff contains gasoline, 
pesticides, manure, etc.  Mr. Bender reiterated that it is a seriously problem.  Mr. Bart, Ferguson 
Township Resident, noted that it looks like a stream coming down off the hill with visible erosion to 
the property.   Mr. Modricker noted that there has not been a detailed analysis performed but the 
storm water does heads down in that direction and ends up in a depression.  Mr. Bender noted that 
he didn’t feel the pond has any influence on the property.   

Mr. Miller asked how much it would cost to obtain an estimate and would this be Township Staff.  
Mr. Modricker stated that it would be done by Staff.   

Ms. Dininni asked if the Township would have a stormwater fee, would it be funded and would it 
have to be an agreement with other property owners.  Mr. Modricker noted that an analysis was 
not done to say how much of it is contributory from private property and how much is public but 
noted that it is probably private.  Mr. Modricker stated that not all property owners have agreed but 
could be done in the Townships right-of-way and not impact others adversely.   

Ms. Strickland noted that the situation is similar to the Piney Ridge Road Project.  Mr. Modricker 
explained the similarities and the differences.  Mr. Modricker stated that issues with private property 
where the stormwater crosses the road are not typically addressed.  Mr. Pribulka noted that often 
times it is a civil matter between the property owners and the Township doesn't have any 
regulations or ordinances that pertained to run off that originated from upstream development 
affecting another private property owner. There are some cases where the Centre County 
Conservation District might get involved if the issue is significant enough, but typically it doesn’t.   
Mr. Modricker stated that with Mr. Bender’s issue this might be a little different due to a very old 
road system.   Ms. Strickland noted that the Township should fix whatever problems are created 
by failures in the road system but is concerned with overstepping and setting a bad precedent 
where the township would be responsible for other improvements or fixes on private property.  

Mr. Miller thinks it would be worth doing the work to get a good estimate before the next Capital 
Improvement Plan process in 2021.  Ms. Strickland asked if it would be possible to investigate 
further without moving it on the CIP to see where the responsibility lies.  Mr. Green, Township 
Solicitor, stated that without committing to any course of action, obtaining an estimate would be 
appropriate and making an evaluation.  Mr. Modricker noted that to get a better cost estimate, 
design work needs to begin.  Ms. Strickland expressed concerns about staff time and shouldn’t 
finding out who is responsible be the next step.  Mr. Green noted that it would be a viable approach 
and might be the best first step.  Mr. Modricker reviewed a map of the area.   

Mr. Miller asked the Board if an analysis should be done.  Mr. Miller stated that he would move 
forward with the engineering analysis.  Mr. Mitra’s preference would be to find out who would be 
responsible first before completing the design.  Mr. Modricker stated that an accurate break out can 
be completed on preexisting and post contributory areas.   Mr. Mark Kunkle, Ferguson Township 
resident, noted that the Township could consider assessment to the property owners, but would 
assume the full cost of any project.  The resident would pay it over a period of years with the 
assessment secured by a lien against their property.  

Ms. Strickland moved that the Board of Supervisors direct staff to move forward with the first 25%, 
which is the assessment of the flooding and run off conditions to determine who would be 
responsible.  Mr. Mitra seconded the motion.   

Mr. Pribulka clarified that there will be no design work done at this time, but only to determine where 
the runoff is originating from.   

The motion passed unanimously.  



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Wednesday, October 7, 2020 
Page 5 

2. Ferguson Township Zoning Map Amendment – Authorization for Public Hearing 
 

Ms. Wargo introduced the amendment.  On November 18, 2019, Ferguson Township Board of 
Supervisors held a public hearing and amended Chapter 27, Zoning Ordinance. The next step in 
amending the zoning ordinance is amending the Ferguson Township Zoning Map.  Amending the 
zoning map modifies the district boundaries in areas identified by the Board during their February 
3, 2020 meeting. The areas that have been identified during the first phase of the rewrite process 
are outlined in the attached Exhibit “A” and was included in a memorandum dated September 29, 
2020, from the Director of Planning and Zoning, summarizing the recommendations as discussed 
during the September 15, 2020, Joint Special Meeting with the Board of Supervisors and the 
September 28, 2020, Regular Planning Commission meeting.  Pine Grove Mills Advisory 
Committee reviewed the Ridge Overlay Lots that are adjacent to the Pine Grove Mills Area and 
recommended that the lots be rezoned to Forest Game Lands.  Ms. Wargo stated that the public 
will be notified by a letter of the public hearing date and will recommend their attendance.   

Ms. Dininni moved that the Board of Supervisors authorize advertisement of a public hearing on 
an ordinance amending the Ferguson Township Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map for Monday, 
November 16, 2020.  Ms. Stephens seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously.  

 
3. Ferguson Township Workforce Housing Ordinance Amendment – Authorization for Public 

Hearing 
 

Mr. Pribulka noted that there is a copy of the draft ordinance that's been worked on over the last 
several months with staff, Planning Commission, and some other relevant stakeholders who have 
been providing their input.  

Ms. Wargo noted that included with the agenda is the updated Draft Workforce Housing Ordinance 
based on comments received during the joint special meetings held September 1st and September 
16th with Planning Commission.  The ordinance will be applicable to the following developments 
within the Traditional Town Development (TTD) and Terraced Streetscape (TS) Zoning Districts:  

 10 or more residential dwelling units 
 Renovation of a multi-family dwelling that increases the number of residential units from the 

number of units in the original structure 
 Conversion of an existing residential structure regardless of dwelling type to a multi-family 

dwelling that results in ten or more residential dwelling units; and 
 Conversion of a nonresidential property to a residential property that results in ten or more 

residential dwelling units. 
 

It expands upon the Legacy Workforce Program by allowing for rentals or owner-occupied units; 
and provides workforce housing units to be built on-site, built off-sight, and/or paid through fee-in-
lieu.  

Planning Commission reviewed this draft at the September 28, 2020, regular meeting and 
recommended that the Draft Workforce Housing Ordinance not be approved.  

The memorandum dated September 29, 2020, from the Director of Planning & Zoning summarizes 
the updated draft based on the discussions from the September 16, 2020, Joint Special Meeting.  
Ms. Wargo will be providing a memo describing why the Commission will not be approving the 
ordinance.  



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Wednesday, October 7, 2020 
Page 6 

Staff reviewed the Terraced Streetscape (TS) Zoning District and the Traditional Town 
Development (TTD) Zoning District and is recommending that Chapter 27, Zoning; Part 3, 
Residential Planned Development and Mixed Use; Section 204, Terraced Streetscape (TS) District 
be amended by amending and adding the following to §27-304.C.2 Building Height Incentives to 
read: 

c. If a building is complying with §27-716, Workforce Housing, the by right maximum height 
of 55 feet may be increased to accommodate bonus market rate units, not to exceed 75 
feet. 

Ms. Dininni moved that the Board of Supervisors authorize an advertisement of a public hearing 
on an ordinance amending the Ferguson Township Workforce Housing Ordinance by repealing it 
and replacing it in its entirety for Monday, November 16, 2020.  Mr. Mitra seconded the motion.   

Ms. Stephens noted that the ordinance doesn’t address the proposed stormwater fees and asked 
if it should be added.  Ms. Wargo stated that it can be an addition to the ordinance.   

Ms. Dininni inquired if the ordinance is proposing the height restriction from 55 to 75 feet with TS.  
Ms. Wargo noted that it currently allows for 75 feet if a developer would build Workforce Units, it is 
an incentive and they aren’t required to build them.  

With regards to the Student Housing Building that is being developed Ms. Dininni asked about the 
income guidelines and affordable housing.  Ms. Wargo stated that the current draft allows for a 
100% paid in fee-in-lieu if they are rental units.  If the developer is building at student rental complex 
the developer would be required to provide workforce rental units.   Ms. Wargo noted that she 
doesn’t believe anyone in the workforce would want to live in that building, but the developer would 
have the option to pay all the units in fee-in-lieu and would not get any bonus units.   Ms. Dininni 
thought they could have the release valve and wouldn’t owe the fee-in-lieu and asked for more 
clarification in regard to the developer producing rental housing.   

 Mr. Miller noted that there are two meetings before the Public Hearings and to raise questions now 
so that they can be worked out in the ordinance.   Mr. Pribulka noted that it’s not likely to run into 
that circumstance with a rental unit.  Ms. Wargo personally wouldn't recommend not having a 
release valve for the rental units that can't be rented because then it’s essentially having empty 
units until there is qualified renters for them.  Ms. Wargo recommends having the release valve and 
percentage of the fee-in-lieu paid to the Township to allow for the market rate.   

Mr. Miller asked for clarification if the parent’s income would be in play with the undergraduate 
student housing.  Ms. Wargo noted they do not include the parent’s income; however, will check 
with Land Trust on the policy.  

Ms. Strickland asked why in the TSD why it needs to be 75 feet and not 65 feet as a maximum.  
Ms. Wargo stated that currently the ordinance allows up to 75 feet. If the developer were to build 
workforce housing units, it states an additional 20 feet in the ordinance.  Ms. Wargo noted that it is 
to ensure they couldn't go beyond what's currently there.  Ms. Strickland expressed concerns with 
75 feet and would prefer it capped at 55 if not 65 feet.  A discussion ensued with regards to the 
height restrictions.   

Ms. Strickland recommends changing the language that the TSD reads 65 feet.  Ms. Dininni 
supports the recommendation and has concerns with the height in the TSD.  Ms. Strickland 
suggested establishing a limit on bonus units. 



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Wednesday, October 7, 2020 
Page 7 

Mr. Miller stated that the Board is not making changes to the document now, but rather the motion 
here is to schedule a Public Hearing.  Ms. Wargo will go over all the questions and concerns from 
this meeting and will discuss at the next meeting.   

Ms. Strickland asked if a review of the manual is possible because she has several questions and 
would like to look up.  Ms. Wargo stated that Ms. Schoonover would be the person to ask questions 
and that there is no other ordinance like this in the county.  Mr. Pribulka suggested having Ms. 
Schoonover attend a meeting between now and the Public Hearing to answer questions. Ms. 
Strickland asked if the Board will be approving the manual.  Mr. Pribulka stated that it would be an 
internal document for the Land Trust to develop.   

Ms. Dininni asked about the fee-in-lieu in the budget.  Mr. Pribulka proposed that it would be its 
own separate fund.  Ms. Wargo noted that she and Ms. Schoonover would recommend either a 
policy or a resolution be adopted by the Board on what the funds can be used for because it would 
be faster especially in real estate.   Ms. Dininni asked why under limitations on page 7 is the 
ordinance excluding the for-rent units as needing to be a principal place of residence.  Ms. Wargo 
stated that it relates to the for-sale units so they wouldn’t be able to be rented.  Ms. Wargo will 
clarify the language.    

Mr. Miller called for a vote on the motion that the Board of Supervisors authorize advertisement of 
a public hearing on an ordinance amending the Ferguson Township Workforce Housing Ordinance 
by repealing it and replacing it in its entirety for Monday, November 16, 2020.  The motion passed 
unanimously.   

V. NEW BUSINESS 
 

1. WHITEHALL ROAD REGIONAL PARK FUNDING DISCUSSION 
 
Mr. Miller noted that attached to the agenda is a memo from the General Forum with questions that 
need to be answered. 
 
Mr. Miller read Option #1.  If your municipality supports only utilizing the current $4.8 million dollar 
loan, plus any grants and donations, what amenities of the already reduced Phase I scope should 
be removed from the park to meet the budget?   

Mr. Endresen stated that a lot of the discussion and information that was presented during the 
Zoom & Learn hopefully provided background but noted they are still looking for consistent 
feedback from all the municipalities.  Ms. Dininni expressed difficulty understanding the options 
and asked for clarification.   Mr. Viglione noted that Option #1 would increase the Regional Parks 
budget by $300,000.  Option #2 would go back to the municipalities.  Mr. Miller stated that the 
Finance Committee did not want to move forward with refinancing because it would incur costs.  
The first option essentially would keep the payments the same but could borrow more money for 
those payments.  Mr. Miller indicated that the loan cannot be closed out because a unanimous 
decision would need to be made from the five municipalities.  Ms. Dininni noted the loan should be 
closed out, does not want Ferguson Township to give additional sources funding, and does not 
want to move forward with Option #4.         

Ms. Dininni read a statement to the Board that she wrote. Phase I of all three regional parks were 
to be completed by 2015.  Far before the opposition to the Toll Brothers occurred, there was a 
severe shortage of funds for Whitehall Road Regional Park.  The current plan even in 2014 was 
over budget and Ms. Dininni quoted Mr. Ron Wood from a memo June 13th, 2014. “We have a 
conditionally approved Land Development Plan that we cannot afford.”  There was a one-way $2 
million dollar fund balance that was increased by $7.5 million dollars in 2011 to come to a total of 



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Wednesday, October 7, 2020 
Page 8 

$8.9 million dollars to develop Oak Hall and Whitehall Road Regional Park Phase I.  Those millions 
and millions of dollars have shrunk steadily over the years and we have not even begun Whitehall 
Road.  On top of that, we still have a centralized maintenance facility and staff headquarters to 
fund.  As I think about the best use of that land and the best use of our taxpayer dollars, I refer 
directly what both the regional surveys and the Ferguson Township survey had to say about the 
development of the Regional Parks and Recreation opportunities.  In the Regional Park Amenity 
Survey, the top five amenities that folks wanted to see in the park were walking trails, picnic 
pavilions, shade trees, flowers, playground areas and open space.  Two times now in a regional 
level survey, it's been indicated that the people want local amenities, shade trees, places to walk, 
pavilions, bathrooms, conserving the natural environment was very very highly valued as a CRPR  
planning priority as identified by residents recently.  Despite that and the importance of this parcel 
to water conservation and quality, and our terribly limited budget we move forward with a master 
plan that requires intensive land development. We see that the region is even still considering 
putting the maintenance facility there, even though the Water Authority has said they do not want 
quantities of herbicide fertilizer and fertilizer stored there.  Ferguson Township residents when 
queried about what they'd like to see at the regional park land at Whitehall they indicated they 
wanted to see fitness trails, restrooms, parking areas, public gardens and picnic areas, not ball 
fields, lights and fences.  When residents at the regional level were asked recently, what do you 
think the priority for parks and rec in the Centre Region over the next 10 years should be.  Two of 
the three top where conserve open space and natural resources and develop trails and greenways.  
Currently we have a shared loan for $4.8 million dollars and the authority was tasked very 
specifically to build in accordance with the master plan within that budget.  By January 2020, I had 
on my to-do list to discuss the matter of the bathrooms being shifted out of the base bid that the 
Authority was preparing to put forward.  Even though the Park Authority knew that not only 
Ferguson Township, but all of the municipalities agreed from the start that bathrooms were an 
absolute priority.  By January, they were moving forward with the bids that did not include them in 
a base bid.  Now here we are and it's October and they are just now coming to us with a park 
design that does not include bathrooms. There was never an option according to the municipalities 
to not include bathrooms. The Township is looking at rising costs and a population that does not 
want to see rising fees or taxes and we are being asked for more money to fund the majority of a 
project that was shaky from the start.  Ferguson Township pays the most of the park loan at 28%.  
Along with that loan comes operational costs recurring every year and many many years of 
continued borrowing to get the park to reasonably match the plan. It is irresponsible of us to further 
invest in a park that has been chronically over budget, planned for poorly, and that is the gateway 
to nothing more than costs.  Ferguson Township provided an inordinate amount of money for the 
development of this park, far more than any other municipality. In addition, if COG were dissolved 
or restructured in the future, so as to not be able to maintain the park, it would revert to full 
ownership by Ferguson Township.  So even though that this is developed as a regional park, we 
will have a responsibility for that park should the structure of COG ever change.  In addition, we 
have the responsibility to maximize the benefit and minimize the impact on our residents and 
ecosystem services.  As I've mentioned already, our residents clearly indicated much more interest 
in passive amenities. This area is home to many species of migrating and over wintering birds even 
known as White Hawk Farms Birder Hotspot.  The special ecological features of this location are 
not confined to birds despite the fact that when the region applied for a grant to DCNR to develop 
this park, they indicated there were no prime agriculture soils at this site, that is incorrect.   In fact, 
the entire site is prime agricultural soil.  Additionally, this land is riddled with sinkholes and is an 
integral part of the water recharge of the Harter Thomas Well Field.  And in addition, is adjacent to 
the parcel of land that the State College Borough Water Authority has an obligation via deed 
restriction to manage for water protection.  Meeting field needs, should they actually exist?   Does 
not have to entail meeting costly tournament needs here at this location. Thank you.  



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Wednesday, October 7, 2020 
Page 9 

Mr. Miller read Option #4.  Is it the request of your municipality that the Authority close out the 
loan/repay outstanding balance, and then abandon the project?  If so, why?   

Mr. Viglione reviewed the financial implications.  Ms. Dininni stated that she would want to close 
out and is sensitive to having to repay part of the grant given the position of the State College 
Borough Water Authority throughout this project.  Ms. Dininni stated that that if they saw that there 
was an opportunity for the parcel to be put into passive recreation that does not disturb the ground, 
that they might be willing to offset the grant repayment.  Ms. Dininni also suggested that in terms 
of repayment that the Township should look at the Borough Water Authority as a potential partner.  
Mr. Miller asked the Board if this should be closed out.  Ms. Dininni commented that none of the 
surveys that were generated match the amenities in the park.  Ms. Stephens noted that she is on 
the fence and could go either way.   Mr. Viglione noted they do not want to rush anything and wants 
to come to a knowledgeable thoughtful decision.   Mr. Endresen indicated that they might not be 
able to achieve a final consensus by the municipalities through the General Forum at the end of 
October.  Ms. Strickland commented that she couldn’t give an answer to close because no one 
knows what the penalties would be.  Ms. Strickland had concerns with the budget and can’t justify 
spending money on the park.  Mr. Mitra noted that he was undecided.  Ms. Dininni reiterated that 
there is no budget and perhaps do a smaller version of a park.  Mr. Viglione noted that if the Board 
chooses Option #4, there will be no park.  If the Board would go with Option #1 or #2, it would be 
a portion of Phase I.  Mr. Mitra asked for more information with the options.  Ms. Stephens noted 
that she is leaning towards closing out but is worried about the penalties.  Mr. Viglione indicated 
that the Oak Hall Park loan is almost paid off.  Mr. Mitra commented that at this time, he would 
close out, but would like more information to make an informed decision.  Ms. Dininni inquired about 
the impacts with the agreements.  Mr. Viglione stated that Pam Salokangas, Director, CRPR, will 
be able to answer some of the questions from the meeting tonight and will follow-up.  The Board 
agreed that as a Board it is unable to decide until questions have been answered.  Mr. Miller would 
like a presentation on what it would mean to go forward with $2 million dollars more and noted it’s 
too premature to discuss refinancing.  Ms. Dininni had concerns with not having a right-of-way with 
Penn State to get to the trail and wanted to know what the cost would be to have an agreement.  
Ms. Dininni requested to see the documentation from Penn State to make a better decision on 
having the trail.  Ms. Strickland asked if the All-Ability Playground could be located at another site 
that is a non-regional park since it will not work on the Oak Hall Regional Park’s Master Plan.  Mr. 
Viglione stated that the loan indicates that the All-Ability Playground must be in either Oak Hall or 
Whitehall Regional Park.  Mr. Miller noted that any changes to the loan such as refinancing or 
ending would take a unanimous vote.  Mr. Miller proposed to ask COG if the playing fields could 
be excluded so that hiking trails, playgrounds, restrooms, etc., could be included.   Mr. Pribulka 
reviewed the questions and comments that were made tonight to be sent to COG. 

 1.  What would be the penalties and cost to the municipalities if the loan is repaid and 
abandoned?  What are the loan payments that need to be met?   What would be the cost amount 
be by municipalities? 

 2.  If we continue with the refinancing what would be the additional revenue amount be and 
what can it be used for to purchase in Phase I development?     

 3.  The Board would like to know about the agreements that are in place with other 
organizations for priority use of the park.  How will this impact its ability to be utilized by local 
organizations?  How will the lack of restrooms facility impact the priority use agreements?  Would 
any of the organizations who have committed funding could withdraw if restrooms or other 
amenities are not developed?  



Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Wednesday, October 7, 2020 
Page 10 

 4.  What is the guarantee of the connection to Musser Gap Greenway and the cost?  Who 
would be responsible for the connectivity?  What are the agreements that exist between Penn State 
and ClearWater that may guarantee connectivity?   The Board would like to see the agreement to 
make an informed decision on whether to include or remove the trail.   

 5.  What can be built with the available funding?  Ask the participating municipalities if the 
fields could be eliminated from the park to include the proposed amenities?  Would there be any 
interest in converting the park into a passive use park and playground that would maintain the loan 
but redirect the funding?   

 6.  What would be the cost saving with not including the fields and only doing the site work 
for amenities that would be installed?   

 7.  If we don’t develop as an active use park, what affect does it have on the DCNR 
commitments?      

2. STORMWATER FEE ORDINANCE DISCUSSION 
 
Mr. Miller noted that he doesn’t feel the Board is ready for a Public Hearing in November and to place 
this on the next Board agenda for continued discussions.  Mr. Miller proposed to move the Public 
Hearing until the first meeting in February because there are a lot of details to be worked out.  Mr. 
Pribulka provided an update.  First, there was a formal amendment at the October 5, 2020 meeting 
requesting additional information.  The Public Hearing was closed because of a substantive 
amendment that was made to the draft ordinance.  The amendment was capping the exposure of 
agricultural properties at two times the billing unit median which would be equal to 6 billing units at 
$17 per unit.  Outside the growth boundary it would equate to $102 per year the first year of the 
program.   Secondly, staff is working on a spreadsheet on what the fee structure would entail under 
three methodologies.  Thirdly, research on hardship exemptions asked by Mr. Mitra will be included 
at the next discussion on October 19, 2020.  Ms. Strickland asked if the Board will get legal advice.  
Mr. Pribulka noted that he sent a request to Mr. Green.  Ms. Dininni noted that her motion was not 
agricultural properties but working farms.  Ms. Strickland reviewed her list of questions to be discussed 
at future meetings that included, what is considered a working farm, hardship exemptions, ratio of 
pervious and impervious on a lot, impact of density, assessments of cemeteries, credit discussion, 
and timeline of fee and related infrastructure assessment.   

 
VI. ADJOURNMENT 

 
With no further business to come before the Board of Supervisors, Ms. Dininni motioned to adjourn the 
meeting.  The meeting adjourned at 11:25 p.m. 
 
 
       Respectfully submitted, 

 
 
 
David Pribulka, Township Manager 
For the Board of Supervisors 



 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 1  

Stormwater Utility Fee Special Meeting 
 

FERGUSON TOWNSHIP 
Stormwater Utility Fee Special Meeting 

September 23, 2020 
6:00 P.M. 

 
ATTENDANCE 

Board:  Steve Miller; Laura Dininni; Prasenjit Mitra; Patty Stephens; Lisa Strickland 
Staff:  Dave Pribulka; Dave Modricker; Ron Seybert; Nick Fugaro; Centrice Martin 
Other Attendees:    

Elizabeth Treadway; numerous Residents  
 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER. 

Mr. Miller called the meeting to order at 6:01 p.m.  
 
Mr. Pribulka reviewed the protocol for the Zoom meeting; conveyed appreciation to those who took 
part in phases 1 and 2 of the project and discussed the modeling for the utility fee.  Mr. Pribulka 
took Roll Call and there was a quorum. 
 
Mr. Miller reviewed the process and protocol for the meeting. 

 
II. CITIZEN’S INPUT.  None noted. 

 
III. CONTINUED DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY FEE 

Mr. Modricker did a slide presentation.  Topics included:  ERU/Billing units; storm pipe lining; 
equipment; and reviewed the proposed model. 
 
Extensive Q and A followed the slide presentation with citizens, staff and Board of Supervisors. 
 
Concerns from the Board members included: 

 Ms. Strickland:  Generally concerned but appreciative of questions and comments, scrutinize 
budget more; 

 Ms. Dininni:  Fairness in structure; 
 Ms. Stephens:  Board members are residents and affects us as well. 

 
Discussion followed on the four specific questions and motions below. 

 
1. ERU vs. Square foot billing rate. 

Ms. Dininni moved that the Board of Supervisors approve square footage method of billing for the 
Stormwater Fee program.  Ms. Strickland seconded.  The motion passed 3 to 2 with Ms. Stephens 
and Mr. Miller dissenting. 
 

2. Sinking Fund for eventual purchase of equipment. 
Ms. Strickland moved that that the Board of Supervisors remove the sinking fund.  Ms. Dininni 
seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously. 



 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 2  

Stormwater Utility Fee Special Meeting 
 

 
3. Pipe Lining. 

Ms. Stephens moved that the Board of Supervisors approve adding Capital Expenditures into the 
Stormwater Fund beginning in year one.  Ms. Strickland seconded the motion.  The motion passed 
3 to 2 with Mr. Mitra and Ms. Dininni dissenting. 
 

4. Credit Policy Manual program in ordinance for different lane uses. 
Extensive discussion. 
The consensus of the Board is to have a Credit Policy program.  No motion was needed.   
 
Ms. Dininni moved that the Board of Supervisors schedule a public hearing on the Stormwater Fee 
for October 5, 2020.  Ms. Stephens seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously. 

 
IV. OPEN DISCUSSION.  Per above. 

 
V. ADJOURNMENT 

With no further business to come before the Board of Supervisors, Ms. Strickland motioned to 
adjourn the meeting.  The meeting adjourned around 10:30 p.m. 

 
 
       Respectfully submitted, 

 
 
 
 
David Pribulka, Township Manager 
For the Board of Supervisors 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. _______________ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA 
AUTHORIZING THE SUBMISSION OF A PETITION TO THE PENNSYLVANIA LIQUOR 
CONTROL BOARD TO SUBSTITUTE THE MUNICIPAL NOISE ORDINANCE FOR SECTION 
493(34) OF THE PENNSYLVANIA LIQUOR CODE IN LICENSED ESTABLISHMENTS 
LOCATED IN FERGUSON TOWNSHIP. 
 
 WHEREAS, the Township of Ferguson, a Home Rule Municipality, has duly and properly 
enacted an ordinance regulating noise in the Township with the intent of protecting the physical, 
mental, and social wellbeing of the residents of the Township of Ferguson; and 

 WHEREAS, the Township’s noise ordinance is codified under Chapter 10, Health and 
Safety; Part 3, Noise of the Ferguson Township Code of Ordinances; and 

 WHEREAS, by adoption of this resolution, the Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
is hereby affirming its intention to enforce the noise ordinance of the Township of Ferguson in 
place of the regulations promulgated in Section 493(34) of the Pennsylvania Liquor Code for all 
licensed establishments in Ferguson Township. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Ferguson Township Board of 
Supervisors does hereby affirm its intent to enforce its noise ordinance in place of the regulations 
established under Section 493(34) of the Pennsylvania Liquor Code for all licensed 
establishments in Ferguson Township. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors does 
hereby offer its support of the petition to substitute its noise ordinance in place of the regulations 
established under Section 493(34) of the Pennsylvania Liquor Code for all licensed 
establishments in Ferguson Township. 

 RESOLVED, this 19th day of October 2020. 

TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 
 
 
 
       By:       
             Laura Dininni, Vice Chairwoman 
             Board of Supervisors  
 
 
 
                        [ S E A  L ] 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:      
       David Pribulka, Secretary 



10/14/2020 40 Pa. Code § 5.36. Municipal noise ordinances.

1/2

Close Window

§ 5.36. Municipal noise ordinances.

 (a)  A municipality that desires exemption from section 493(34) of the Liquor Code (47 P. S. §  4-
493(34)), shall, under section 493.1(b) of the Liquor Code (47 P. S. §  4-493.1(b)), file a petition
with the Board, requesting approval. With its petition, the municipality shall file the following:

   (1)  A copy of the municipality’s noise ordinance currently in effect.

   (2)  The municipality’s resolution that:

     (i)   Confirms the municipality’s support of the petition to substitute the municipal noise
ordinance for section 493(34) of the Liquor Code.

     (ii)   Cites the municipal noise ordinance.

     (iii)   States the municipality’s intention to enforce the ordinance in place of section 493(34) of
the Liquor Code.

   (3)  A complete written description of the boundary lines for the proposed exempted noise area.

   (4)  One copy of a geographical map, the minimum size of which is 36" x 36", including the
designated boundary lines of the proposed exempted noise area within the municipality.

   (5)  Three copies of the geographical map required by paragraph (4), the size of which will be 8
1/2" x 11 1/2".

   (6)  Identification of a proposed location, within the proposed exempted noise area, to be used by
the Board to hold the required public hearing within the proposed exempted area.

   (7)  Identification of a local print publication of general circulation that would satisfy 65 Pa.C.S.
Chapter 7 (relating to Sunshine Act) notice requirement for announcement of the required public
hearing.

 (b)  A date for a public hearing shall be set and public notice given in advance of the hearing: The
hearing must comply with all notice, recording and public participation requirements of 65 Pa.C.S.
Chapter 7.

 (c)  Within 60 days after receipt of the petition, the Board will disapprove the petition for an
exemption in its entirety or may approve an area more limited for which the petition will be granted
if the Board finds that granting the petition will have an adverse effect on the welfare, health, peace
and morals of the residents living in the vicinity of the identified area; otherwise the Board will
approve the petition.

 (d)  The Board may place additional conditions on the petition’s approval such as limiting the
duration of the approval and any other condition the Board deems appropriate.

 (e)  There shall be a right to appeal to the court of common pleas in the same manner provided by
this act for appeals from refusals to grant licenses.

 (f)  A municipality may rescind any existing exemption from section 493(34) of the Liquor Code by
notifying the Board of its intention to do so in writing, 15 days prior to the rescission date. The
notice must be accompanied by an ordinance or resolution authorizing the rescission.

javascript:window.close();


10/14/2020 40 Pa. Code § 5.36. Municipal noise ordinances.

2/2

 (g)  A rescission of an existing exemption which does not rescind the entire exempted area shall be
treated as a new petition for exemption with the Board and shall follow the procedures in this
section.

Authority

   The provisions of this §  5.36 amended under section 207(i) of the Liquor Code (47 P. S. §  2-
207(i)).

Source

   The provisions of this §  5.36 adopted November 12, 2004, effective November 13, 2004, 34 Pa.B.
6139; amended October 4, 2013, effective October 5, 2013, 43 Pa.B. 5817. Immediately preceding
text appears at serial pages (337276) and (348105). 

No part of the information on this site may be reproduced for profit or sold for profit.

This material has been drawn directly from the official Pennsylvania Code full text database. Due to
the limitations of HTML or differences in display capabilities of different browsers, this version
may differ slightly from the official printed version.

Top  Bottom



RESOLUTION NO. _______________ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA, 
CALLING ON THE UNITED STATES CONGRESS TO ADDRESS CLIMATE CHANGE BY 
PASSING THE ENERGY INNOVATION AND CARBON DIVIDEND ACT. 

WHEREAS, climate change poses a threat to Ferguson Township and its citizens in 
terms of the economy, public health, and environment as the recently issued Fourth National 
Climate Assessment makes clear; and 

WHEREAS, as a result of climate change, the northeast United States is experiencing 
warming temperatures and a large increase in the amount of rainfall measured during heavy 
precipitation events; and 

WHEREAS, more frequent heavy rains are expected to increase flooding and storm 
surge, threatening infrastructure; and 

WHEREAS, as temperatures rise, agriculture will likely face reduced yields, potentially 
damaging livelihoods and the regional economy; and 

WHEREAS, climate scientists are clear that to avoid the worst impacts of climate 
change, society must dramatically reduce its carbon dioxide emissions; 

WHEREAS, presently the environmental, health, and social costs of carbon emissions 
are not included in prices paid for fossil fuels, but rather these externalized costs are borne 
directly and indirectly by all Americans and global citizens; 

WHEREAS, a price on carbon will begin to correct this market failure, while protecting 
low- and middle-income households by returning all proceeds in the form of a carbon dividend; 

WHEREAS, a price on carbon will improve public health and save lives by decreasing 
air pollution; 

WHEREAS, Ferguson Township resolved in 2017 to reduce its greenhouse gas 
emissions to net zero by 2050; 

WHEREAS, a price on carbon will spur new innovations and bring new technologies  
into financial reach, making it easier for Ferguson Township to implement emissions  
reduction goals; 

WHEREAS, Ferguson Township resolved in 2017 to engage other stakeholders in a  
dialogue to develop courses of action to reduce the impact of human-induced climate change  
to Pennsylvania and people and places around the world; 

WHEREAS, Congress has the responsibility to act swiftly and meaningfully 
to address the issue of climate change; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Supervisors of Ferguson  



Township, endorses the policies set forth in H.R. 763, the “Energy Innovation and Carbon 
Dividend Act” as introduced into the House of Representatives on January 24, 2019, and calls 
on Congress to pass this legislation.  

RESOLVED, this 19th day of October 2020. 

TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 

By: 
 Laura Dininni, Vice Chairwoman 
 Board of Supervisors 

 [ S E A  L ] 

ATTEST: 

By: 
 David Pribulka, Secretary 



 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA 
ESTABLISHING A UTILITY FEE FOR STORMWATER COLLECTION AND MANAGEMENT. 
 
 WHEREAS, The Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors is authorized under the 
Second-Class Township Code, and otherwise authorized and obligated under laws of the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania to regulate stormwater through its Municipal Separate Storm 
Sewer System (MS4) Permit; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the existing stormwater management system and infrastructure requires 
maintenance, repair, improvements, and replacement to meet current and future needs, including 
addressing increased precipitation and flooding events; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Township, through its obligations under its Stormwater Management 
Ordinance and MS4 Permit requirements, maintains significant capital and operational 
infrastructure necessary to provide for water quality and rate control; and 
 
 WHEREAS, a comprehensive multi-phased analysis was completed to evaluate the 
feasibility, need, and structure of a proposed Stormwater Management Utility Fee; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors hereby determines that a Stormwater Management 
Utility Fee is necessary to equitably and proportionately assess property owners in the Township 
for stormwater runoff contributed to the public system as a result of the impact of land 
development. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED that the Ferguson Township Board of 
Supervisors hereby enacts and implements a Stormwater Management Utility Fee for the 
purposes of meeting the needs described herein and in accordance with the following provisions: 
 
Section 1 – Purpose and Policy. 
 
The Board of Supervisors finds that an adequate, sustainable source of revenue for stormwater 
management is necessary to protect the general health, safety, and welfare of the residents of 
the Township.  Further, the Board of Supervisors finds that higher amounts of impervious area 
contribute greater amounts of stormwater and associated pollutants to the stormwater 
management system.  Therefore, the Board of Supervisors determines that it is in the best interest 
of the public to enact a stormwater utility fee that allocates stormwater management program 
costs to property owners based on impervious area. 
 
Section 2 – Definitions. 
 

A. Billing Unit – One billing unit equates to 1,000 feet of impervious area. 
 

B. Developed Parcel – A parcel that contains an impervious area equal to or greater than five 
hundred (500) square feet. 
 



 

C. Director – Refers to the Director of Public Works or his/her designee. 
 

D. Impervious Area - A surface that prevents the percolation of water into the ground. 
Impervious surfaces (or areas) shall include, but not be limited to: roofs; additional indoor 
living spaces, patios, garages, storage sheds and similar structures; and any new streets 
or sidewalks. Decks, parking areas, and driveway areas are not counted as impervious 
areas if they do not prevent infiltration. Gravel or crushed stone shall be considered 
impervious area when designed or primarily utilized to support vehicular traffic.  The 
Director may develop specifications for the mapping of impervious area for the purpose of 
this Article, including the establishment of a uniform threshold under which a contiguous 
unit of impervious area is considered de minimis and not subject to mapping. 
 

E. Owner - any person, individual, firm, corporation, entity, institution, partnership, trust, 
company, association, government agency, society, or group owning real property in the 
Township. 
 

F. Stormwater - Drainage runoff from the surface of the land resulting from precipitation or 
snow or ice melt. 
 

G. Stormwater Management Program - The activities of the Township necessary to operate, 
maintain, enhance, and expand the stormwater management system and the activities 
necessary to carry out the Township’s municipal separate storm system (MS4) permit and 
the stormwater-related provisions of the Subdivision and Land Development Ordinance, 
Floodplain Conservation Ordinance, and the Stormwater Management Ordinance. 
 

H. Stormwater Management System - The system of runoff avoidance, infiltration, collection, 
and conveyance, including storm sewers, curbs, pipes, conduits, mains, inlets, culvers, 
catch basins, gutters, ditches, channels, detention ponds, streets, drains, and all devices, 
appliances, and stormwater management practices and facilities used for collecting, 
conducting, pumping, conveying, detaining, infiltrating, reducing, managing, avoiding 
generation of, and treating stormwater. 
 

I. Township Manager – Refers to the Township Manager or his/her designee. 
 
Section 3 –Stormwater Utility Fee Established. 
 

A. A stormwater utility fee shall be imposed on every developed parcel in the Township that 
appears in the Centre County parcel database as of December 31st of each year.  All 
stormwater utility fees shall be deposited into the Stormwater Management Fund of the 
Township described in Section 4. 
 

B. The rate per billing unit to be used for calculating the stormwater utility fee shall be 
established by Resolution of the Board of Supervisors and shall be reviewed annually.   
 

C. Notwithstanding Section 3.A. above, the following impervious area shall be exempt from 
the imposition of the stormwater utility fee: 
 



 

a. Public Streets as defined in Chapter 22, Subdivision and Land Development; 
Section 502, Streets; and 

b. Rail and associated rail ballast. 
 
Section 4 –Stormwater Management Fund. 

The Stormwater Management Fund is established as a separate enterprise fund of the Township, 
which shall be used solely to cover the cost of the Township’s stormwater management program.  
The fund shall consist of revenue generated by the stormwater utility fee and other deposits that 
may be made from time to time by the Board of Supervisors, including but not limited to federal 
or state grants and revenue from the sale of bonds.  All interest or other income derived from 
stormwater utility fees shall remain or otherwise be deposited into the fund. 

Section 5 –Stormwater Utility Fee Calculation. 
 

A. Unless otherwise specified in this Article, the stormwater utility fee for each parcel shall 
be calculated in the following manner: 
 

a. Determine the location of the parcel as either within the Regional Growth Boundary 
or not; 

b. Determine the impervious area of the parcel in square feet; 
c. Divide the impervious area of the parcel by the billing unit; 
d. Round the resulting calculation using natural rounding to determine the number of 

billing units; 
e. Multiply the number of billing units by the rate established by Resolution of the 

Board of Supervisors to obtain the stormwater utility fee for the parcel. 
 

B. Impervious area held in common ownership shall be calculated using the methodology in 
Section 5(A), above.  The resulting stormwater utility fee will then be divided equally 
among parcels sharing common ownership.  The Township Manager may, on a case by 
case basis and at the request of an association representing the owners of the property 
under common ownership or the recommendation of the Director, implement alternative 
methodology for dividing the stormwater utility fee, including but not limited to an 
established par value. 
 

C. Maximum Fee for Agricultural Properties Established. The Township shall not assess on 
any agricultural property whose total area of impervious surface does not exceed thirty 
percent (30%) of the property’s total land area a fee that is greater than twice the median 
assessment imposed on all properties in the Township. The term “agricultural property” 
shall include all contiguous area of real property operated by a person(s) as part of 
“agricultural use” as defined in Section 2 of the Act of December 19, 1974, known as the 
“Pennsylvania Farmland and Forest Land Assessment Act,” regardless of whether the 
area is comprised of more than one deeded tract. 

 
Section 6 –Stormwater Utility Fee Credits. 
 

A. The Board of Supervisors shall adopt by Resolution a Stormwater Management Program 
Credit Policy Manual for reductions in the stormwater utility fee in recognition of practices 



 

that are targeted to reduce the cost of the Township’s stormwater management program.  
The types and amounts of credits are at the sole discretion of the Board of Supervisors.  
The credits shall be applied after determination of the stormwater utility fee in accordance 
with Section 5, above. 
 

B. The Director shall develop written policies and procedures necessary to implement the 
system of credits.  These policies and procedures shall include, but not be limited to, 
provisions to reduce or eliminate the amount of credit if the Director determines that the 
practice is not functioning as intended. 
 

C. Nothing shall prevent the Board of Supervisors from modifying the adopted system of 
credits, and such modifications may apply to holders of existing credits. 

 
Section 7 –Billing, Interest, and Enforcement. 
 

A. The stormwater utility fee shall be billed each year on or before March 1 to the record 
owner of each parcel subject to the fee in combination with bill for real estate taxes.  If the 
property owner is making real estate tax payments on an installment basis as authorized 
in this ordinance, then the stormwater utility fee will be collected on the same schedule.  
Any portion of a stormwater utility fee that is unpaid as of the subsequent December 31st 
of each year the property owner or agent was billed shall be considered delinquent except 
if the unpaid stormwater utility fee is subject to an appeal in accordance with Section 8. 
 

B. The penalty assessed for delinquent fees will be 1.5% per month. 
 

C. In addition to any penalty assessed in Section 7(B.) above, any cost or fee incurred by the 
Township in conjunction with the collection of a delinquent fee shall be the responsibility 
of and paid by the owner of the subject parcel. 
 

D. A delinquent fee, along with cumulative penalties and collection costs or fees, shall 
constitute a lien on the parcel ranking on a parity with liens for unpaid real estate taxes 
and shall be handled in the same manner as provided for the collection of unpaid real 
estate taxes. 

 
Section 8 –Appeal Process and Procedure. 
 

A. Any owner of a parcel who believes the provisions of this Article have been applied in error 
may appeal in accordance with this Section, provided, however, that grounds for appeal 
are limited to the following: 
 

a. An error was made regarding the square footage of the impervious area attributed 
to the parcel; 

b. The property is exempt under Section 3(C.);  
c. There is a mathematical error in calculating the stormwater utility fee; 
d. The identification of the parcel owner invoiced is in error; and/or 
e. An approved credit was incorrectly applied. 

 



 

B. The parcel owner shall complete and submit to the Township Manager a Stormwater Utility 
Fee Appeal Form in a format approved by the Township within thirty (30) days of the 
charge being mailed or otherwise issued to the owner (“appeal date”).  A Hearing Officer, 
designated by the Director, shall review the appeal for completeness and make a 
determination within fifteen (15) calendar days.  In the event that the Hearing Officer finds 
that the appeal is incomplete, the Hearing Officer shall offer the owner thirty (30) calendar 
days from the determination that the appeal is incomplete to supply the missing 
information.  If all information requested is not provided within the thirty (30) calendar days, 
the petition for appeal shall be deemed to have been withdrawn.   
 

C. Once the appeal has been determined to be complete, the Hearing Officer shall conduct 
a technical review of the alleged error and respond to the owner in writing within thirty (30) 
calendar days.  The Hearing Officer may deny the appeal or adjust the stormwater utility 
fee if it is found to be in error. 
 

D. A decision by the Hearing Officer that is adverse to the appellant may be further appealed 
to the Township Manager within thirty (30) days of the determination being mailed or 
otherwise issued to the owner.  The Township Manager shall review the determination of 
denial made by the Hearing Officer and either affirm, reject, or modify the determination.  
The Township Manager’s determination will be provided to the owner in writing by certified 
or registered mail within thirty (30) calendar days of receiving the denial appeal request. 
 

E. Any person aggrieved by a decision of the Township Manager may further appeal to the 
Centre County Court of Common Pleas within thirty (30) days of receipt of such written 
final decision.   
 

F. If payment is not made within fifteen (15) calendar days after the expiration of the owner’s 
right to appeal in accordance with this Section or December 31st of each year, whichever 
date is later, or a decision that is adverse to the owner made by the Centre County Court 
of Common Pleas, the unpaid fee shall be considered delinquent and subject to the 
provisions of Section 7(B.) through Section 7(D.). 

 
Section 9 – Policies and Procedures. 
 

A. The Board of Supervisors may by Resolution adopt such policies and procedures it deems 
appropriate to ensure collection of stormwater utility fees imposed pursuant to this article. 
 

B. The Director may implement such administrative procedures necessary to implement the 
requirements set forth in this Article. 

 
Section 10 – Repealer. 
 
Any and all previous Ordinance(s) or parts thereof which are inconsistent with the terms and 
provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 
 
Section 11 – Severability. 
 



 

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, provision, or portion of this Ordinance is 
found to be invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be 
deemed a separate, distinct, and independent provision. Such decision shall not affect the validity 
of the remaining portions of this Ordinance. 
 
Section 12 – Effective Date. 
 
This Ordinance shall become effective on January 1, 2021. The fee for the 2021 fiscal year shall 
be calculated on a prorated basis to account for one-half (1/2) of the annual fee. This proration 
has been deemed appropriate as the program will not be fully operational at the start of the 2021 
fiscal year. Beginning January 1, 2022, the full annual fee shall be assessed to each applicable 
property owner. 
 
 
Ordained and Enacted this _______ day of _______ 2020. 

 

      TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 

 

       

      By: _________________________ 
       Steve Miller, Chairman 
       Board of Supervisors 
 

 

                           [ S E A L ] 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________ 
David G. Pribulka, Secretary   



 

Overview of Hardship Program 

 

A hardship policy provides a fee reduction or exemption based on the assumption that the fee 

may create a hardship for those with an income under a certain threshold or where a property 

owner has another short or long-term financial challenge.   

 

Maryland Programs: 

MS4 Phase I localities adopting fees as required in Section 4-202.1(j) (passed by the Maryland 

General Assembly in 2012) must “establish a program to exempt from the requirements of this 

section a property able to demonstrate financial hardship as a result of the stormwater 

remediation fee.”  As a result, these localities have adopted and implemented hardship policies.  

Although not the case in Maryland since hardship is included in the state law, some localities 

such as Charlottesville in Virginia have chosen to fund their hardship policies outside of the 

stormwater fee structure in order to preserve the fee-for-service model.  This is similar to how 

the Maryland Energy Assistance Program (MEAP) provides funding to a local utility for hardship 

cases rather than having the utility provide a direct exemption or reduction that would then be 

borne by other rate payers. 

 

The following table provides a summary of residential hardship policies adopted by 

Montgomery County, Howard County, and Baltimore County as required by HB987.   

 

Locality Residential Hardship Policy 

Howard County 

Eligibility Criteria:  Income less than 2.5 times the 

poverty level. 

Reduction Amount:  Up to 60%. 

Mechanism:  Automatic if enrolled in Trash Fee Credit 

Program. 

Montgomery County 

Eligibility Criteria:  Income less than 170% of the 

federal poverty level or approved for benefits under 

the Maryland Energy Assistance Program. 

Reduction Amount:  100%. 

Mechanism:  Separate annual application. 

Baltimore 

https://publicworks.baltimorecity.gov/hardship-

exemption-programCounty 

 

Eligibility Criteria:  Must receive at least one of the 

following existing tax credits: 

• Baltimore County supplement to the Maryland 

State Homeowners Tax Credit. 

• The tax credit exemption for a disabled veteran 

or the surviving spouse of a disabled veteran. 

https://publicworks.baltimorecity.gov/hardship-exemption-programCounty
https://publicworks.baltimorecity.gov/hardship-exemption-programCounty


 

• The property tax credit for surviving spouses of 

fallen law enforcement officers or rescue workers. 

• The property tax credit for disabled law 

enforcement officers or rescue workers. 

Reduction Amount:  100%. 

Mechanism:  Separate annual application; fee is 

removed and refunded after verification of 

information. 

 

Gaithersburg MD Hardship Program 

https://www.gaithersburgmd.gov/services/environmental-services/stormwater-

management-program/hardship-exemptions-appeals-policy 

 

The ordinance establishing the stormwater user fee includes the following language: 

Sec. 8-48. Hardship policy. 

The city council may adopt by resolution as part of the Stormwater Fee Policy and Procedure 

Manual a hardship policy that reduces or eliminates the stormwater program fee for a property 

owner who demonstrates substantial financial hardship as a result of the imposition of the 

stormwater program fee.  The revenue source for implementation of the hardship policy shall be 

separate and distinct from the stormwater management fee and shall be deposited by the city 

council into the stormwater management fund.  Nothing shall prevent the city council from 

modifying or eliminating the adopted hardship policy.  Any such modification or elimination 

may apply to beneficiaries of an existing hardship policy at the discretion of the city council. 

 

Critical Questions for Hardship Policy Consideration: 

 

The following questions should be considered by the Township if it decides to adopt a hardship 

policy: 

 

• Will it be funded through the Township’s general fund or a third party in order to make 

the fund whole? 

 

• Will it be a full or partial exemption?  If a partial exemption, on what basis will the Township 

determine the maximum exemption amount? 

 

• Will it be a flat exemption or a sliding scale exemption based on an ability to pay? 

 

https://www.gaithersburgmd.gov/services/environmental-services/stormwater-management-program/hardship-exemptions-appeals-policy
https://www.gaithersburgmd.gov/services/environmental-services/stormwater-management-program/hardship-exemptions-appeals-policy


 

• Will it be based on an existing exemption or tax credit program locally?  If so, will it be 

applied automatically or require a separate application form? 



Exhibit “A” 

FERGUSON TOWNSHIP 
§27-716. WORKFORCE HOUSING ORDINANCE 

1) Purpose.  
The purpose of this Chapter is: 
a) Provide a wide range of quality, workforce housing for households with an income of 80% to 

120% of Area Median Income (AMI) in high opportunity neighborhoods, those with superior 
access to quality schools, services, amenities and transportation; 

b) To support the Centre Region Comprehensive Plan’s goal of providing a wide range of sound, 
affordable and accessible housing consistent with the fair share needs of each municipality in the 
Centre Region; 

c) Provide criteria for workforce housing including, but not limited to, design, construction, phasing, 
and location within a development; 

d) To facilitate and encourage development and redevelopment that includes a range of housing 
opportunities through a variety of residential types, forms of ownership, home sale prices and 
rental rates; 

e) To work in partnership and support local, state, and federal programs to create additional housing 
opportunities; 

f) Responsibly allocate resources to increase housing opportunities for families and individuals 
facing the greatest disparities; 

g) Ensure the opportunity of workforce housing for employees of businesses that are located in or 
will be located in the Township; 

h) To ensure affordable homeownership, is defined as a mortgage payment and housing expenses 
(principal, interest, taxes, insurance, and condominium or association fees, if any) costing no more 
than 30% of a family’s gross month income, per the Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD) definition; and 

i) Effectively enforce and administer the provisions of the Workforce Housing Program. 
2) Authority. Provisions for the Workforce Housing Chapter are intended to comply with the following 

articles of the Pennsylvania Municipal Planning Code. 
(1) Article VI Zoning. 

Section 603. Ordinance Provisions where: 
(a) Zoning Ordinances should reflect the policy goals of the statement of the community 

development objectives and give consideration to the character of the municipality, the 
needs of the citizens and the suitabilities and special nature of particular parts of the 
municipality. 

(c)  Zoning Ordinances may contain: 

 (5) Provisions to encourage innovations and to promote flexibility, economy and ingenuity 
in development, including subdivisions and land developments as defined in this act; 

(6) Provisions authorizing increases in the permissible density of population or intensity of 
a particular use based upon expressed standards and criteria set forth in the zoning 
ordinance; 



 

DRAFT | October 8, 2020 
2 

 

(j) Zoning Ordinances adopted by municipalities shall be generally consistent with the 
municipal or multi-municipal Comprehensive Plan or, where none exists, with the municipal 
statement of community development objectives and the county Comprehensive Plan. 

Section 604. Zoning Purposes. The provisions of zoning ordinances shall be designed: 

(1) To promote coordinated and practical community development and proper density of 
population. 

Section 605. Classifications. 

(3) For the purpose of encouraging innovation and the promotion of flexibility, economy and 
ingenuity in development, including subdivisions and land developments as defined in this 
act, and for the purpose of authorizing increases in the permissible density of population 
or intensity of a particular use based upon expressed standards and criteria set forth in the 
zoning ordinance. 

(2) These regulations are enacted under the authority of the Pennsylvania Human Relations Act 
(Act of October 27, 1995, P.L. 744, as amended), which guarantees fair housing. 

(3) Posting of the Fair Housing Practices Notice is required pursuant to the Pennsylvania Human 
Relations Act. 
 

3) Definitions. As used in this chapter, the following words and terms shall have the meanings specified 
herein: 
 
AREA MEDIAN INCOME—The midpoint of combined salaries, wages, or other sources of income 
based upon household size in the State College Metropolitan Statistical Area. 
 
CONVERSION—A change in a residential rental development or a mixed-use development that 
includes rental dwelling units to a development that contains only owner-occupied individual 
dwelling units or a change in a development that contains owner-occupied individual units to a 
residential rental development or mixed-use development. 
 
DENSITY BONUS—An increase in the number of market-rate units on the site in order to provide an 
incentive for the construction of affordable housing pursuant to this chapter, also known as a bonus 
unit. 
 
DEVELOPMENT—The entire proposal to construct or place one or more dwelling units on a particular 
lot or contiguous lots including, without limitation, a Traditional Town Development (TTD) Master 
Plan, a Planned Residential Development (PRD), land development or subdivision. 
 
FEE-IN-LIEU—A payment of money to Ferguson Township’s Affordable Housing Fund in-lieu of 
providing Workforce Housing Units. This fee is updated annually within the Ferguson Township 
Schedule of Fees. 
 
LOT—A designated parcel, tract or area of land established by a plat or otherwise as permitted by law 



 

DRAFT | October 8, 2020 
3 

 

and to be used, developed or built upon as a unit. 
 
MEDIAN GROSS HOUSEHOLD INCOME—The median income level for the State College, PA 
Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA), as established and defined in the annual schedule published by 
the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, adjusted for household 
size. 
 
MULTI-FAMILY DWELLING—Three (3) or more dwelling units, with the units stacked one above the 
other. 
 
PHASE—The portions of an approved Development, or, in the case of a Master Plan approval, a 
Specific Implementation Plan, which are set out for development according to a Township-approved 
schedule. 
 
RENOVATION—The physical improvement that adds to the value of real property, but that excludes 
painting, ordinary repairs, and normal maintenance. 
 
WORKFORCE HOUSING—Housing with a sales price or rental amount within the means of a 
household that may occupy moderate income housing. In the case of dwelling units for sale, 
affordable means housing in which mortgage, amortization, taxes insurance, and condominium or 
association fees, if any, constitute no more than thirty (30) percent of such gross annual household 
income for a household of the size that may occupy the unit in question. In the case of dwelling units 
for rent, affordable means housing for which the rent and basic utilities constitutes no more than 
thirty (30) percent of such gross annual household income for a household of the size that may 
occupy the unit in question. Utilities for rental units include: electric/gas, trash, water and 
condominium or association fees. 
 
WORKFORCE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT— A written agreement duly executed between 
the applicant for a development, the Township, and, if applicable, the designated third-party 
administrator of the Workforce Housing Program. Said agreement shall include, at minimum, all of the 
provisions established in §27-716, Subsection 7. 
 
WORKFORCE HOUSING FUND—The fund created by Ferguson Township to receive funds generated 
from the administration of fee-in-lieu payments to support workforce housing within Ferguson 
Township. 
 
WORKFORCE HOUSING DWELLING UNIT—A housing unit documented in an applicant’s Workforce 
Housing Development Agreement as required in order to comply with the Workforce Housing 
Program requirements, subsidized by the federal or state government or subject to covenants and 
deed restrictions that ensure its continued affordability. When calculating the required percentage of 
Workforce Units in a development, any fractional result between 0.01 and 0.49 will be rounded down 
to the number immediately preceding it numerically, and any fractional result between 0.50 and 0.99 
will be rounded up to the next consecutive whole number. However, the total Workforce Unit 
percentage shall not exceed ten (10) percent of the required total Workforce Housing Units in the 
development. 



 

DRAFT | October 8, 2020 
4 

 

 
4) Applicability. Workforce Housing must be provided in the following Developments and minor 

alterations within the Terraced Streetscape (TS) Zoning District and the Traditional Town Development 
(TTD) Zoning District that results in or contains: 
a) Ten or more residential dwelling units; 
b) Renovation of a multi-family dwelling that increases the number of residential units from the 

number of units in the original structure; 
c) Conversion of an existing residential structure regardless of dwelling type to a multi-family 

dwelling that results in ten or more residential dwelling units; and 
d) Conversion of a nonresidential property to a residential property that results in ten or more 

residential dwelling units. 
 

5) General Requirements for Workforce Units. For all applicable developments listed in Section 4. 
Applicability, within the Terraced Streetscape (TS) Zoning District and the Traditional Town 
Development (TTD) Zoning District, projects must comply with the following requirements.  
a) The permit application must include a Workforce Housing Program option selection. 
b) Calculation of Workforce Units. To calculate the minimum number of workforce units required in 

any land development listed in Subsection 4. Applicability, the total number of proposed units 
shall be multiplied by ten (10) percent. 
i) When calculating the required percentage of Workforce Units in a development, any 

fractional result between 0.01 and 0.49 will be rounded down to the number immediately 
preceding it numerically, and any fractional result between 0.50 and 0.99 will be rounded up 
to the next consecutive whole number. However, the total Workforce Unit percentage shall 
not be required to exceed ten percent of the total units in the development. 

6) Standards. Workforce Housing must be provided, or a fee-in-lieu of providing Workforce Housing 
must be paid, according to the following standards: 
a) Workforce units may be built on-site, paid fee-in-lieu, or built off-site. 

i) Diversity Standards as outlined in §27-303.C.2.a. (related to TTD developments) may be 
modified to the extent needed to accommodate all required workforce units and allowable 
bonus units.  

ii) In the case of Workforce Housing Dwelling Units provided as a single-family dwelling, duplex, 
multi-plex or townhouse: 
(1) The units shall not be segregated or clustered within a development. 
(2) Except in the case of lots containing more than one unit, no more than two adjacent lots 

or units shall contain Workforce Housing Dwelling Units. 
iii) Workforce Housing Dwelling Units may be clustered within a multi-family dwelling (for sale or 

rent) and no more than 25% of the total units per floor can be designated as Workforce Units, 
excluding the top floor. 

iv) Workforce Housing Dwelling Units shall be like market rate units, exclusive of upgrades, with 
regard to number of bedrooms, amenities, and access to amenities, but may differ from 
market-rate units regarding interior amenities, provided that: 
(1) These differences, excluding differences related to size differentials, are not apparent in 

the general exterior appearance of the market-rate units;  
(2) These differences do not include insulation, windows, heating systems, and other 

improvements related to the energy efficiency and standard components of the unit; 



 

DRAFT | October 8, 2020 
5 

 

(3) Amenities for Workforce Units are determined to be reasonably equivalent if the 
appliances have the same Energy Star rating as those in the market-rate units; and 

(4) Workforce units may be up to 10 percent smaller than the market-rate units; 
v) In order to ensure an adequate distribution of workforce units by household size, the 

bedroom mix of workforce units in any project shall be in the same ratio as the bedroom mix 
of the market-rate units of the project.  

vi) Workforce units required under this chapter shall be offered for sale or lease to a qualified 
household to be used for its own primary residence, except for units purchased by the 
Township or its designee; 

vii) The sale or lease of Workforce Housing Dwelling Units shall be limited to qualified 
households earning between 80% and 120% Area Median Income (AMI), adjusted for 
household size.  

viii) If the Development contains Phases, Workforce Housing shall be provided in all residential 
Phases, according to the options set forth in Section 8.  

ix) Owners of Workforce Housing Dwelling Units are required to sign an agreement, suitable for 
recording, providing that such unit is subject to the terms and conditions of this Ordinance. 

b) Accommodations. 
i) Developments that provide built Workforce Housing Dwelling Units, either built on-site or 

built off-site will be entitled to the following: 
(1) One additional equivalent unit (bonus unit) may be added to the Sending Development 

for each for-sale Workforce Housing Unit provided; 
(2) Multi-family dwellings may exceed the maximum height set forth in the underlying 

zoning district by one additional story; and 
(3) Off-street parking may be provided but is not required for any workforce unit built or 

designated within multi-family dwellings. 
c) Ferguson Township’s Option to Purchase.  

i) The following provisions apply to the initial offering of workforce units for sale by the 
developer: 
(1) As a condition of land development approval, the applicant shall notify the Township or 

its designee of the prospective availability of any workforce units at the time the design 
and pricing are being established for such units. 

(2) From the time of building permit issuance, the Township or its designee shall have an 
exclusive option for 60 days to enter into a purchase and sales agreement at the 
workforce unit pricing for each workforce unit offered for sale by the applicant. The 
Township may waive or assign this option. 

(3) If the Township fails to exercise its option for the workforce units, or if the Township or its 
designee declares its intent not to exercise its option, the applicant shall offer the units 
for purchase to households per §27-716.6.a.v. If requested, by the applicant, the Township 
or its designee shall execute documents that may be recorded with the Centre County 
Office of Recorder of Deeds to evidence said waiver of option. 

(4) Closing on workforce units purchased by the Township or its designee occurs within 30 
days after issuance of the certificate of occupancy. If the Township or its designee fails to 
close on these workforce units within such 30 days, the applicant shall offer the unit for 
purchase or rent to households per §27-716.6.a.v. 



 

DRAFT | October 8, 2020 
6 

 

(5) The Township may assign its options under this section, in which event it shall notify the 
applicant of the agency to which it has assigned the option, which agency shall work 
directly with the applicant, and shall have all of the authority of the Township as provided 
under this section. 

(6) At any point after the initial option period, (2) above, the applicant may offer the 
Workforce Housing Dwelling Units to the Township or its designee for purchase at the 
workforce unit pricing. The Township or its designee then shall have 30 days to enter into 
a purchase and sales agreement and close within 30 days thereafter. 

d) Limitations. 
i) To the extent permitted by Federal Law, priority will be given to residents of Centre County, or 

individuals employed by a business located in Centre County. 
ii) The Workforce Housing Dwelling Units must be occupied by the income qualified individual 

and/or family and must be used as the principal place of residence; 
e) Except for household income, asset limitations and the primary residency requirement as set forth 

herein, occupancy of any workforce unit shall not be limited by any conditions that are not 
otherwise applicable to all units within the covered project; 

f) Execution of a Workforce Housing Development Agreement shall be a condition of approval of a 
land development plan, or a Specific Implementation Plan (SIP) for a Phase within a Master Plan. 
 

7) Workforce Housing Development Agreement.  
For Developments required to contain Workforce Housing, no land development plan, subdivision 
plan, or Specific Implementation Plan for a Phase within a Development, shall be recorded without 
having first duly executed a Workforce Housing Development Agreement for such Development or 
Phase. Ferguson Township, Township designee, and the applicant for the development, shall each be 
parties to the Workforce Housing Development Agreement, which shall, as minimum, contain the 
following provisions: 
a) Concurrence by the designated administrator of the Workforce Housing Program that the 

Workforce Housing is being provided within the Development or Phase; 
b) The location(s), zoning designation(s) and ownership of the Development or Phase; 
c) The number and type of Workforce Housing Dwelling Units that will be provided and the 

calculations used to determine the number of units provided; 
d) If a fee-in-lieu is proposed for the Development or Phase, in whole or part, the fee-in-lieu 

calculation methodology and amounts that will be applied to Workforce Housing Dwelling Units, 
within the Development or Phase; 

e) Any accommodations provided in §27-716.6.b that are being utilized for the project; 
f) The prevailing interest rate for residential mortgages to be used to calculate Workforce Housing, 

set for the Development or Phase at a rate of the prevailing 30-year fixed mortgage rate; 
g) A description of the Development or Phase proposed, including the name of the development 

project and marketing name; 
h) A graphical depiction of the location of Workforce Housing Units within the Development or 

Phase, and if available, the lot numbers for the Workforce Housing Dwelling Units; 
i) A schedule for the construction of the Workforce Housing Dwelling Units, consistent with that 

shown on the approved plans for the Development or Phase.  
j) The proposed sale prices and affordability restrictions for each Workforce Housing Dwelling Unit 

and a copy of the applicable affordability deed restrictions and covenants; 



 

DRAFT | October 8, 2020 
7 

 

k) The proposed marketing plan for the Workforce Housing; 
l) Acknowledgement that §27-716.11—Continued Affordability, Compliance and Reporting 

Requirements will be followed. 
m) Indication of which, if any, of the Workforce Housing Dwelling Units will be special needs housing 

for seniors, disabled, or other special needs populations and a description of the unique features 
or services for that population; 

n) Indication as to whether the applicant or, for off-site construction, a third party will be 
constructing the Workforce Housing Dwelling Units. If a third party is to construct the Workforce 
Housing Dwelling Units, the third party shall join in and be bound by the terms and conditions of 
the Workforce Housing Development Agreement; 

o) Within any given Development or Phase, Certificate of Occupancy permits for the last ten (10%) of 
market-rate units that are offered for sale within that Development or Phase shall be withheld by 
the Township until all of the Workforce Housing Dwelling Units within that Development or Phase 
have been issued Certificates of Occupancy or release by payment of a fee-in-lieu. 

p) Acknowledgement that the designated workforce housing administrator of the Township’s 
Workforce Housing Program shall have full authority to administer the provisions of the 
Workforce Housing Development Agreement. 

q) The draft Workforce Housing Development Agreement shall be reviewed by the Township 
Solicitor with finalization a condition of approval of the plans for the Development or Phase. The 
fully executed Workforce Housing Development Agreement shall be recorded concurrently with 
the plans for the Development or Phase.  

8) Workforce Housing options. Workforce Housing may be provided within a Development or Phase 
using one or more of the following options selected by the applicant: 
a)  On-Site construction. 

i) Accommodations that will be provided to the Developer as set forth in §27-716.6.b. for the 
project. 

b) Fee-In-Lieu. 
i) A fee-in-lieu may be paid to the Workforce Housing Fund to offset the construction of one or 

more Workforce Housing Dwelling Units as follows: 
(1) Up to 40 percent of the Workforce Housing Dwelling Units attributable to for-sale units 

within the Development can be offset by a fee-in-lieu; and 
(2) Up to 100 percent of the Workforce Housing Dwelling Units attributable to rental units 

within the Development or Phase can be offset by a fee-in-lieu. 
ii) Board of Supervisors shall establish by resolution the amount of the fee-in-lieu payment per 

unit following written recommendation by the Township Manager and adopt it as part of the 
Township’s Schedule of Fees. 

iii) For single-phased development projects, the fee-in-lieu shall be paid prior to issuance of the 
zoning permit. 

iv) For development projects with Phases (Specific Implementation Plans), the fee-in-lieu shall be 
paid on a phase by phase basis based upon the number of workforce housing units being 
released in that phase with payment made prior to the issuance of the zoning permit for each 
Phase. 

v) The Township shall create and administer a Workforce Housing Fund into which all fee-in-lieu 
payments shall be deposited. All funds received pursuant to this chapter shall be used to 



 

DRAFT | October 8, 2020 
8 

 

further the Township’s mission to maintain and further Workforce Housing within Ferguson 
Township. 

vi) Upon payment of the fee-in-lieu amount for one or more Workforce Housing Dwelling Units, 
the applicant has no additional Workforce Housing requirements relative to such units. Upon 
payment, the Township and applicant shall execute a recordable instrument indicating that 
the Workforce Housing requirements have been met for those units and that the units are no 
longer Workforce Housing Dwelling Units subject to the terms and conditions of this 
Ordinance. 

c) Build off-site. 
i) Workforce Housing Dwelling Units may be constructed off-site, in a development (the 

“Receiving Development”) within Ferguson Township that is separate from the Development 
or Phase (the “Sending Development”) that is required to provide Workforce Housing. 

ii) The Receiving Development must be an approved development, or the applicant must obtain 
land development plan approval from the Township for the Receiving Development 
concurrently with the land development plan approval for the Sending Development. 

iii) The workforce units built in the Receiving Development must be reasonably equivalent in size 
and bedroom count to the units on the Sending Development. Workforce Units designated 
cannot be located in the basement. 

iv) The Receiving Development shall not contain 100 percent Workforce Housing Dwelling Units.  
v) The owner of the Sending Development must provide the following information to Township 

Staff and/or designee: 
(1) Location of the Receiving Development; 
(2) Concurrence of the owner of the Receiving Development to construct the Workforce 

Housing Dwelling Units; and 
(3) The number of units and Workforce Housing Dwelling Units proposed within the 

Receiving Development. 
vi) The Sending Development will receive all bonus units and accommodations attributable to 

the Workforce Housing Dwelling Units.  
vii) The Receiving Development must be located within the Regional Growth Boundary (RGB) as 

illustrated in the Centre Region Comprehensive Plan. 
viii) The owner or developer of the Receiving Development must enter into the Sending 

Development’s Workforce Housing Development Agreement for the Workforce Housing 
Dwelling Units that are going to be provided on the Receiving Development, as well as 
accommodations attributable to the Workforce Housing Dwelling Units.  

ix) The Receiving Development is subject to the Workforce Housing Program requirements 
outlined in §27-716. 

x) The Receiving Development must develop the Workforce Housing Dwelling Units according 
to the schedule set forth in the Workforce Housing Development Agreement. 

xi) A penalty to the Sending Development will be due to Ferguson Township if the Workforce 
Units in the Receiving Development are not made available as set forth in the Workforce 
Housing Development Agreement. 

9) Policy and Procedures Manuals for Administration of Workforce Housing Dwelling Units For Sale 
and Rent. Ferguson Township Planning Department and/or designee shall provide an administrative 
manual to offer guidance to applicants regarding compliance with the terms and conditions of this 
Ordinance. Applicants are encouraged to follow the terms set forth therein. 



 

DRAFT | October 8, 2020 
9 

 

a) Owners or their property managers are encouraged to use the same systems for attracting 
potential tenants for leasing up Workforce Housing Dwelling Units as are used for market rate 
units. Applicants and their agents are expected to work closely and in cooperation with Township 
Staff and/or designee to make the workforce marketing and sales process as efficient and 
equitable as possible. 

b) The Workforce Housing program has no rules or guidelines about the method owners, or their 
property managers use to determine the order in which tenants are offered Workforce Housing 
Dwelling units.  

c) These documents will include clarifying information and procedures when requested by the 
Township. These procedures may be updated from time to time to increase the effectiveness of 
the Workforce Housing Program. 

10) Inability to Rent or Sell Workforce Housing Units to Qualified Households. 
a) By Developer. If the developer meets or exceeds the marketing guidelines set forth in its 

Workforce Housing Development Agreement for a period of one year from final certificates of 
occupancy issuance and is still unable to sell or rent such a unit to a qualified household, the 
developer shall notify the Township. The Township or its designee shall have 30 days from the 
date notice was given to enter into a contract to purchase the unit at its marketed price, with 
closing to take place within 30 days thereafter. After which, the Township, or its designee shall 
market and sell the unit as a Workforce Housing Dwelling Unit. If the Township or its designee 
does not purchase the Workforce Dwelling Unit, it shall be conclusively demonstrated that there 
is no market for such unit being a Workforce Dwelling Unit. 
i) For-Sale Dwelling Units—The developer shall pay the Township 60% of the original per unit 

fee-in-lieu and may remove the unit as a Workforce Housing Dwelling Unit and the unit shall 
become a market-rate unit, no longer subject to the terms and conditions of this Ordinance. 

ii) Rental Dwelling Units—The developer shall notify the Director of Planning and Zoning by 
certified mail that the deed restriction will be removed from the rental unit and consequently, 
the unit will be removed from the Workforce Housing Program. 

b) By Unit Owner. The owner of a Workforce Housing Dwelling Unit may remove the unit by 
subsequent sale to a non-qualifying owner by paying a fee-in-lieu to the Workforce Housing 
Fund as follows: If the gross purchase price on the subsequent sale is greater than the original 
sales price, increased by 6% per year since the original sale, the difference between the original 
sale price (as adjusted) and the gross purchase price is the fee-in-lieu paid. 

11) Continued Affordability, Compliance and Reporting Requirements. 
a) For Sale Workforce Units. 

i) The continuity of a Workforce Housing Dwelling Unit that is sold shall be ensured for a period 
of 99 years commencing on the date the certificate of occupancy is issued for the unit. To 
provide for this, a restriction shall be place on the deed of the Workforce Housing Dwelling 
Unit, which shall read as follows: “This property is to remain affordable for a period of 99 
years from its initial date of sale for persons earning between 80 percent and 120 percent of 
the Area Median Income (AMI) for State College, PA Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA) as 
established by the latest income guidelines defined in the annual schedule published by the 
Secretary of the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development.” 

ii) Prospective buyers shall enter into a legally binding agreement with the designated 
administrator of the Workforce Housing Program that will stipulate the process for certifying 
subsequent buyers of Workforce Housing Dwelling Units for the applicable 99 year period, 



 

DRAFT | October 8, 2020 
10 

 

and the amount of equity able to be recouped by the homeowner upon sale of the Workforce 
Housing Dwelling Unit. The designated administrator of the Workforce Housing Program shall 
have the authority to require additional stipulations in the agreement including, but not 
limited to, the requirement of prospective buyers to participate in financial counseling in 
accordance with the procedures and requirements of the designated administrator. 

iii) The Township shall require resale conditions in order to maintain the availability of workforce 
units in perpetuity be specified in the Affordability Instrument, including resale calculations. 
(1) At the time of purchase, the owners of any workforce unit shall execute a Resale 

Restriction Agreement and Option to Purchase provided by the Township, stating the 
restrictions imposed pursuant to this Resale Restrictions section, including but not limited 
to all applicable resale controls and occupancy restrictions. This Resale Restriction 
Agreement and Option to Purchase shall be recorded in the Centre County Office of 
Recorder of Deeds and shall afford the Township or its assignee the right to enforce the 
declaration of restrictions. 

(2) The Township or its designee shall be responsible for monitoring and facilitating the 
resale of workforce units.  

iv) Provisions for continued affordability of workforce units shall provide that the Township have 
an exclusive option to purchase any workforce unit when it is offered for resale.  
(1) The owner shall notify the Township or its designee of the prospective availability of any 

workforce unit for sale. 
(2) Upon being notified by the owner of the workforce unit, the Township or its designee 

shall have an exclusive option for 30 days to enter into a purchase and sales agreement at 
the workforce unit pricing the unit being offered for sale by the owner. The Township 
may waive or assign this option. 

v) If the Township fails to exercise its option for the workforce unit, or if the Township or its 
designee declares its intent not to exercise its option, the owner shall notify the Director of 
Planning and Zoning by certified mail that the deed restriction will be removed from the 
property and consequently, the unit will be removed from the Workforce Housing Program. 
Upon notification, the owner may sell the Workforce Unit to a non-qualifying owner by 
paying a fee-in-lieu to the Workforce Housing Fund as outlined in §27-716.10.b. If requested, 
by the owner, the Township or its designee shall execute documents that may be recorded 
with the Centre County Office of Recorder of Deeds to evidence said waiver of option. 

vi) Closing on workforce units purchased by the Township or its designee occurs within 30 days 
of notifying the owner of the Township or its designee’s intent to exercise its option. If the 
Township or its designee fails to close on this workforce unit within such 30 days, the owner 
shall notify the Director of Planning and Zoning by certified mail that the deed restriction will 
be removed from the property and consequently, the unit will be removed from the 
Workforce Housing Program. Upon notification, the owner may sell the Workforce Unit to a 
non-qualifying owner by paying a fee-in-lieu to the Workforce Housing Fund as outlined in 
§27-716.10.b. If requested, by the owner, the Township or its designee shall execute 
documents that may be recorded with the Centre County Office of Recorder of Deeds to 
evidence said waiver of option. 

b) Leasing/Rental Developments. 
i) Static Data, Unit Composition and Rent Schedule. 



 

DRAFT | October 8, 2020 
11 

 

(1) This form is required both prior to lease up and annually that includes: total units, 
bedroom size, tenant incomes and rents, unit locations within the development, and 
square footage. 

ii) Tenant incomes and rent determination. 
(1) Measurement of household income is determined using the Housing and Urban 

Development’s (HUD) annually published area median income and rent chart based upon 
household size in the State College Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA). 

iii) Incomes rising in place.  
(1) Households that have initially qualified for a Workforce Housing unit are permitted to 

remain in that unit and not be subject to market rate rents until their incomes reach or 
exceed the income limits contained in this chapter. After qualifying at lease-up, a tenant’s 
income may increase above the affordability restrictions of a development and still have 
the unit fulfill the development’s Workforce Housing requirements, based on the 
following schedule: 
(a) Tenants in units restricted at 80% of AMI levels, may have income increase up to 

120% of AMI. 
(2) The owner or property manager may revise the expiring leases with tenants who, upon 

recertification, no longer meet the income requirements. Tenants may continue living in a 
Workforce Housing Dwelling unit at market rate rent. The market rate rent level must be 
comparable to reasonably equivalent units within the development, or a comparable 
development. Tenants must not be required to submit additional deposits or fees.  
(a) Un-constructed Units. If units within the Phase or Development (for single phase 

developments) are not yet constructed, another unit must be designated from such 
un-constructed units in the Phase or Development as a Workforce Housing Dwelling 
Unit in order to maintain the affordability requirements as described in the Vacancy 
section below.  

(b) Constructed Units. For developments that are completely constructed, another unit 
must be designated in the development as a Workforce Housing unit in order to 
maintain the affordability requirements as described in the Vacancy section below. 

iv) Vacancies. 
(1) The following shall apply when, through the annual tenant income certification reporting 

cycle, a tenant’s income is above what’s allowable for the Workforce Housing Dwelling 
Unit: 
(a) Owner or their property manager will check the reported income against that allowed 

by the incomes rising in place policy. 
(b) When a tenant’s income is at or below the incomes rising in place policy, there is no 

action required by the owner or their property manager. The owner or their property 
manager at their discretion may raise tenant rent up to the maximum allowed for the 
tenant’s household according to the current Housing and Urban Development’s 
(HUD) annually published AMI and rent chart based upon household size in the State 
College (MSA), taking into account any applicable laws, rules, or policies regarding 
rent increases. 

(c) In the case that a tenant no longer qualifies for a Workforce Housing unit, the owner 
or their property manager must give at least 240-day written notice to the tenant and 
Ferguson Township and/or designee prior to an increase in the unit’s rent. This 



 

DRAFT | October 8, 2020 
12 

 

information must be included in the lease or lease addendum for each Workforce 
Housing unit and an executed copy provided to Ferguson Township and/or designee 
as the development is leased up and at unit takeover. 

c) Annual Reporting and Review. 
i) Developments with rental units will be subject to Ferguson Township and/or designee annual 

reporting requirements as set forth in the Workforce Housing Development Agreement. 
Owners or their property managers on an annual basis will submit information on Workforce 
Housing Dwelling Units and the tenants living in such units. 

ii) The Township and/or designee reserves the right to physically inspect developments 
containing Workforce Housing Dwelling Units at least once every three years. Inspections will 
also include an audit of Workforce Housing related files such as the tenant income 
compliance. Developments that are determined to be out of compliance may be inspected 
more frequently or until they are brought back into compliance. 

12) Administration. The Ferguson Township Planning and Zoning Department and/or designee shall 
administer and monitor activity under this chapter and shall report periodically to the Board of 
Supervisors, setting forth its findings, conclusions and recommendations for changes that will render 
the program more effective. 

13) Implementation. The Ferguson Township Planning and Zoning Department and/or designee may 
establish procedures, and prepare forms for the implementation, administration and compliance 
monitoring consistent with the provisions of this Chapter. 

14) Fees. Fees to administer the program such as a monitoring fee, refinance fee, or resale fee, may be 
established by resolution by the Board of Supervisors, following written recommendation by the 
Township Manager and adopted as part of the Township’s schedule of fees. 



Construction Manager:

Brad E. Wade, PE
on behalf of David Modricker

Contract: 2018-PWGG
Fund: 30.409.750

10/12/2020

588,012.69

fnorris
Highlight

fnorris
Highlight

fnorris
Highlight

fnorris
Highlight













PARTIAL LIEN WAIVER AND RELEASE UPON PROGRESS PAYMENT 
(CONTRACTOR) 

THIS PARTIAL LIEN WAIVER AND RELEASE UPON PROGRESS PAYMENT is 
executed this� day of October , 2020 by Leonard S. Fiore, Inc. ("Contractor"). 

WHEREAS, on or about January 15th 
, 2020 , Contractor entered into an agreement 

with the Ferguson Township, State College. PA ("Owner"), pursuant to which Contractor 
agreed to provide certain construction services in connection with the New Public Works 
Building, Contract 2018-PWGG (the "Project"). 

NOW THEREFORE, contingent only upon Contractor's receipt of the partial payment of 
$588,012.69 for sums attributable to any claims for payments on the Project through 09/30/20, 
Contractor does hereby release and forever discharge Owner and its respective officers, directors, 
shareholders, partners, successors, assigns, agents, insurers, sureties and legal representatives of 
and from any and all manner of actions, causes of action, suits, demands, damages, debts, 
contracts, contributions, claims, mechanic's liens, public improvement liens, rights in materials 
or goods furnished, stop notices, claims against a bond, judgments and executions whatsoever, in 
law or equity or otherwise, which Contractor ever had, now has or may hereafter have, whether 
known or unknown, against Owner related to, created by or arising out of any claim for 
payments (excluding retainage) relating to the Project as of 09/30/20. This release and partial 
waiver of liens is contingent only upon Contractor's receipt of payment as set forth herein, and 
Contractor agrees that this partial lien waiver and release shall become unconditional upon 
Contractor's receipt of said payment. 

This release covers only progress payments ( excluding retainage) for all goods, materials, 
equipment, labor and/or services furnished directly or indirectly to or on behalf of Owner on the 
Project as of 09/30/20 such that all claims for goods, materials, equipment, labor and/or services 
furnished to or on behalf of Owner as of 09/30/20 are hereby released to the full extent of 
payment received for such work. This release does not cover retention or items furnished after 
09/30/20. 

In executing this release, Contractor represents that all labor charges, wages, taxes and 
applicable fringe benefits have been paid in full on behalf of Contractor's employees and 
laborers who performed work on the Project as of 09/30/20 and that all subcontractors and 
suppliers who provided labor, goods, materials and/or services to Contractor in connection with 
the Project have also been or will be paid in full as of 09/30/20. Contractor further agrees that it 
shall, at its sole cost and expense, forever defend and hold harmless Owner and its respective 
insurers and sureties, if any, from any and all claims, demands, damages, judgments and liens 
asserted or brought by any employee, supplier or subcontractor of Contractor in connection with 
the Project. 

In the event that any of the work performed by Contractor on the Project (including the 
materials used or incorporated therein and the workmanship thereof) is the subject of any 
guaranty or warranty by Contractor, neither the giving of this release and waiver of liens by 
Contractor nor its acceptance by Owner shall operate in any way to reduce or modify such 

Pll-l l 65629v I 



guaranty or warranty or to release the undersigned therefrom. Contractor further agrees that if it 
hereafter performs any labor or furnishes any materials, tools, equipment, supplies, or services 
pursuant to such guaranty or warranty, it will fully pay for the same, will pay any and all tax.es 
and charges in connection therewith and will release, discharge, defend and hold harmless 
Owner from any and all claims, demands, liens and claims of lien arising in connection therewith 
all in a like manner and to the same extent as is herein provided with respect to labor, materials, 
etc., heretofore furnished. 

In executing this partial lien waiver and release, Contractor states under penaJty of 
perjury that the sum to be paid herewith is the entire and complete sum owed or due"to 
Contractor for goods, materiais, equipment, labor and/or services on the Project as of 09/30/20

and for which payment has not previously been made by Owner or any other person or entity. 

PIT-1165629vl 

Contractor: Leonard S. Fiore, Inc. 
Address: 5506 Sixth Ave., Rear �PA!6602 

- 'd?--.............. Signature: , , ----,-
Title: Patrick M. Irwin: 

Vice President · · 

- 2 -

I. 

;,-
•,;I 





Contract: 2018-PWGG
Fund: 30.409.750

10/12/2020

162,145.05

Construction Manager:
Brad E. Wade, PE
on behalf of David Modricker

fnorris
Highlight

fnorris
Highlight

fnorris
Highlight























Invoice

Traci Miller
Ferguson Township
3147 Research Drive
State College, PA  16801

October 7, 2020
Project No: 14003.06
Invoice No: 000000010239

NTM Engineering Inc.
130 West Church Street, Suite 200

Dillsburg, PA  17019-1278

Project 14003.06 Suburban Park Permitting and LOMR
Professional Services from August 23, 2020 to September 19, 2020
          Task 01.00 SWM and NPDES Permit
 Professional Personnel

Hours Rate Amount
Brown, Scott    5.50 162.25  892.38
Nguyen, James    59.50 116.80  6,949.60

Totals 65.00 7,841.98
Total Labor 7,841.98

             $7,841.98Total this Task

  Task 02.00 Hydrology and Hydraulics
 Professional Personnel

Hours Rate Amount
Emm, Emily    6.50 124.20  807.30
Frey, Travis    4.00 105.00  420.00
Kambic, Matthew    17.00 105.00  1,785.00
Robinson, Evan    20.50 60.50  1,240.25
Tereska, Rachel    1.00 162.25  162.25

Totals 49.00 4,414.80
Total Labor 4,414.80

             $4,414.80Total this Task

  Task 99.00 Other Costs
          Sub-Task MI.00 Mileage
    Unit Billing

Current Mileage Rate
8/26/2020 MJK Mileage 8/26 H&H field 

view
92.0 Mileage @ 0.575 52.90

Total Units 52.90 52.90

     $52.90Total this Sub-Task

       $52.90Total this Task

         $12,309.68Total this Invoice

  

For questions regarding this invoice please contact Kelly Kozain, Office Manager, 717-432-4425, or kellykozain@ntmeng.com. EIN 20-
5823136

rscanlan
Image

rscanlan
Text Box
2020-C4 Pay App #4Pay $12,309.68Acct#: 34.454.020

rscanlan
Text Box
PAYRTS

rscanlan
Ellipse



3:55:48 PMInvoice 000000010239 Dated 10/7/2020NTM Engineering Inc.

Wednesday, October 7, 2020Billing Backup

Project 14003.06 Suburban Park Permitting and LOMR

Task 01.00 SWM and NPDES Permit

Professional Personnel

Hours Rate Amount
040 00 - 9 - Brown, Scott 8/26/2020    .50 162.25  81.12
040 00 - 9 - Brown, Scott 8/27/2020    1.00 162.25  162.25
040 00 - 9 - Brown, Scott 9/2/2020    .50 162.25  81.13
040 00 - 9 - Brown, Scott 9/3/2020    1.00 162.25  162.25
040 00 - 9 - Brown, Scott 9/8/2020    1.00 162.25  162.25
040 00 - 9 - Brown, Scott 9/14/2020    1.00 162.25  162.25
040 00 - 9 - Brown, Scott 9/16/2020    .50 162.25  81.13
041 00 - 11 - Nguyen, James 8/25/2020    6.00 116.80  700.80
041 00 - 11 - Nguyen, James 8/26/2020    7.00 116.80  817.60
041 00 - 11 - Nguyen, James 8/27/2020    3.00 116.80  350.40
041 00 - 11 - Nguyen, James 8/28/2020    7.00 116.80  817.60
041 00 - 11 - Nguyen, James 8/31/2020    1.00 116.80  116.80
041 00 - 11 - Nguyen, James 9/1/2020    2.00 116.80  233.60
041 00 - 11 - Nguyen, James 9/2/2020    3.00 116.80  350.40
041 00 - 11 - Nguyen, James 9/3/2020    2.00 116.80  233.60
041 00 - 11 - Nguyen, James 9/8/2020    2.50 116.80  292.00
041 00 - 11 - Nguyen, James 9/9/2020    2.00 116.80  233.60
041 00 - 11 - Nguyen, James 9/14/2020    7.00 116.80  817.60
041 00 - 11 - Nguyen, James 9/15/2020    7.00 116.80  817.60
041 00 - 11 - Nguyen, James 9/16/2020    6.00 116.80  700.80
041 00 - 11 - Nguyen, James 9/17/2020    2.00 116.80  233.60
041 00 - 11 - Nguyen, James 9/18/2020    2.00 116.80  233.60

Totals 65.00 7,841.98
Total Labor 7,841.98

   Total this Task $7,841.98

Task 02.00 Hydrology and Hydraulics

Professional Personnel

Hours Rate Amount
032 00 - 5 - Emm, Emily 8/23/2020    2.00 124.20  248.40
032 00 - 5 - Emm, Emily 8/25/2020    1.00 124.20  124.20
032 00 - 5 - Emm, Emily 8/28/2020    3.00 124.20  372.60
032 00 - 5 - Emm, Emily 9/1/2020    .50 124.20  62.10
088 00 - 6 - Frey, Travis 8/26/2020    3.00 105.00  315.00
088 00 - 6 - Frey, Travis 8/27/2020    1.00 105.00  105.00
072 00 - 6 - Kambic, 

Matthew
8/24/2020    4.50 105.00  472.50

072 00 - 6 - Kambic, 
Matthew

8/25/2020    1.50 105.00  157.50

072 00 - 6 - Kambic, 
Matthew

8/26/2020    3.50 105.00  367.50

072 00 - 6 - Kambic, 
Matthew

8/27/2020    1.00 105.00  105.00

072 00 - 6 - Kambic, 
Matthew

8/28/2020    1.50 105.00  157.50

Page 2For questions regarding this invoice please contact Kelly Kozain, Office Manager, 717-432-4425, or kellykozain@ntmeng.com. EIN 20-
5823136

Project 00000001023914003.06 Suburban Park Permitting and LOMR Invoice



072 00 - 6 - Kambic, 
Matthew

8/31/2020    1.50 105.00  157.50

072 00 - 6 - Kambic, 
Matthew

9/1/2020    2.00 105.00  210.00

072 00 - 6 - Kambic, 
Matthew

9/2/2020    .50 105.00  52.50

072 00 - 6 - Kambic, 
Matthew

9/18/2020    1.00 105.00  105.00

086 00 - 6 - Robinson, Evan 8/25/2020    5.50 60.50  332.75
086 00 - 6 - Robinson, Evan 8/26/2020    7.00 60.50  423.50
086 00 - 6 - Robinson, Evan 8/27/2020    7.00 60.50  423.50
086 00 - 6 - Robinson, Evan 8/28/2020    1.00 60.50  60.50
003 00 - 1 - Tereska, Rachel 8/28/2020    1.00 162.25  162.25

Totals 49.00 4,414.80
Total Labor 4,414.80

   Total this Task $4,414.80

Task 99.00 Other Costs

Sub-Task MI.00 Mileage

   Unit Billing

Current Mileage Rate
8/26/2020 MJK Mileage 8/26 H&H field 

view
92.0 Mileage @ 0.575 52.90

Total Units 52.90 52.90

$52.90Total this Sub-Task

Total this Task $52.90

$12,309.68Total this Project

$12,309.68Total this Report

Page 3For questions regarding this invoice please contact Kelly Kozain, Office Manager, 717-432-4425, or kellykozain@ntmeng.com. EIN 20-
5823136

Project 00000001023914003.06 Suburban Park Permitting and LOMR Invoice



1



ALPHA SPACE CONTROL CO., INC.
Visit Us @ www.alphaspacecontrol.com
Phone: 7 17 -263-0182 Fax: 7 17 -263-1193
1580 GABLER ROAD
CHAMBERSBURG. PA I72OI

NAME / ADDRESS

FERGUSON TOWNSHIP
CENTRE COUNTY
3I47 RESEARCH DRIVE
STATE COLLEGE. PA I680I

ATTN: I nyaN SCALAN

!NVOICE

DATE INVOICE #

9t30t2020 54991

JOB: 2020 TRAFFIC MARKINGS 20-348

ADDRESS:

CITY/ST: CENTRE COUNTY. PA.

,I'ERMS
DUE DATE CUSTOMER P,O, NO. I NIPUN PiSO # SALES REP:

10t30t2020 20-348 CHRIS / RICH

QTY DESCRIPTION COST TOTAL

64,778
65,125

I

ROAD STRIPING:
LF OF 4'' SINGLE YELLOW LINE
LF OF 4'' OR 6'' SINGLE WHITE LINE
H/C SYMBOL(S)

PENNSYLVANIA SALES TAX

0.062
0.057
27.50

6.00%

4,016.24
3.112.13

27.50
0.00

TERMS: NET 30 DAYS I.5% INTEREST AFTER DUE DATE.

VISA & MASTERCARD NOW BEING ACCEPTED.
THANK YOU FOR YOUR PATRONAGE.

TOTAL $7.755.87

rscanlan
Text Box
2020-C8 (FINAL)Pay app 5Acct#: 35.433.610Pay: $7,755.87Initial PO = $104,841Entire project over initial PO by $2,026.06Approval provided by Dave Modricker

rscanlan
Text Box
PayRTS

rscanlan
Ellipse

dmodricker
Approved



2020-C8 Pavement Markings
Summary of Quantities in Ferguson Township

Alpha Space 
Control

NO. ITEM UNIT BID QTY UNIT PRICE BID TOTAL
Pay App 1 

Qty
Pay App 1 
Sub-Total

Pay App 2 
Qty

Pay App 2 
Sub-Total

Pay App 3 
Qty

Pay App 3 
Sub-Total

Pay App 4 
Qty

Pay App 4 
Sub-Total

Pay App 5 
Qty

Pay App 5 
Sub-Total

1 4" YELLOW LONG LINE LF 394,998 $0.062 $24,489.88 365,359 $22,652.26 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 64,778.00 $4,016.24
2 4" or 6" WHITE LONG LINE LF 358,953 $0.057 $20,460.32 281,373 $16,038.26 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 65,125 $3,712.13
3 24" WHITE (STOP / CROSS WALK / HATCHING) LF 4,768 $2.35 $11,204.80 $0.00 4,890 $11,491.50 $0.00 116 $272.60 $0.00
4 24" YELLOW (HATCHING) LF 708 $2.35 $1,663.80 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
5 18" WHITE HATCHING (BIKE CROSSING) LF 0 $2.25 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
6 12" WHITE (VASCAR / HATCH) LF 1,467 $2.15 $3,154.05 $0.00 1,528 $3,285.20 $0.00 50 $107.50 $0.00
7 8" WHITE CROSS WALK LF 185 $1.95 $360.75 $0.00 3,961 $7,723.95 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
8 6" WHITE CROSSWALK LF 8,656 $1.85 $16,013.60 $0.00 1,235 $2,284.75 $0.00 265 $490.25 $0.00
9 4" WHITE PARKING STALL EA 3,371 $0.30 $1,011.30 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 240 $72.00 $0.00
10 SINGLE ARROW EA 357 $50.00 $17,850.00 $0.00 279 $13,950.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
11 COMBINATION ARROW EA 25 $100.00 $2,500.00 $0.00 7 $700.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
12 "ONLY" LEGEND EA 4 $75.00 $300.00 $0.00 6 $450.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
13 "STOP" LEGEND EA 4 $75.00 $300.00 $0.00 4 $300.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
14 "AHEAD" LEGEND EA 4 $95.00 $380.00 $0.00 4 $380.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
15 "BIKE" LEGEND EA 0 $75.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
16 "PED" LEGEND EA 2 $75.00 $150.00 $0.00 2 $150.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
17 "X-ING" LEGEND EA 23 $75.00 $1,725.00 $0.00 22 $1,650.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
18 "R X R" CROSSBUCK LEGEND EA 0 $175.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
19 "SLOW" EA 8 $75.00 $600.00 $0.00 8 $600.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
20 LARGE CURVE ARROW EA 6 $85.00 $510.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
21 BIKE SYMBOL EA 20 $50.00 $1,000.00 $0.00 20 $1,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
22 WRONG WAY ARROW EA 2 $75.00 $150.00 $0.00 2 $150.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
23 LANE MERGE ARROW EA 0 $100.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
24 12"X18" YIELD TRIANGLES EA 66 $2.50 $165.00 $0.00 66 $165.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
25 "+" INTERSECTION SYMBOL (12'X6'') EA 4 $50.00 $200.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
26 "XX MPH" LEGENG (8') SF 0 $75.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
27 PAVEMENT MARKING REMOVAL SF 16,117 $0.90 $14,505.30 $0.00 16.7 $15.03 15,411.0 $13,869.90 $0.00 $0.00
28 SCHOOL SLOW EA 0 $75.00 $0.00 $0.00 0 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

29 HC SYMBOLS EA 5 $27.50 $137.50 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 1 $27.50

6" YELLOW BIKE PATH LINE LF $0.50 $0.00 2,626 $1,313.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

Pay App 1 $38,690.52 Pay App 2 $45,608.43 Pay App 3 $13,869.90 Pay App 4 $942.35 Pay App 5 $7,755.86

Total Contract to Date $106,867.06

Contract Budget $104,841.00

DIF -$2,026.06

All LegendsLong Lines Eradication Fall Work Fall Work



:,
o
@oo
F}

o

zqf

o

z
-{
m
fra
mo
-l
oz
z
U
-u

z
-{
:
-
mn
o

*--
:

\-:

ud7'car_t



v
o
0)
CL

z
0)
3
o

x

t\\

EEaz
0)
3
!q



voq)
o-
z
o)
3
o



RESOLUTION NO. 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, 
PENNSYLVANIA, REPEALING RESOLUTION 2019-23 BY ADOPTING A REVISED 
SIDEWALK SNOW REMOVAL MAP. 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the Township of Ferguson authorized the 
preparation annually of a revised Sidewalk Snow Removal Policy Map, hereinafter called 
"Map"; and 

WHEREAS, the Map identifies properties within the Township that will be exempt 
from the snow and ice removal requirements of Chapter 21, Section 207. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Supervisors hereby adopts 
the 2020-2021 Sidewalk Snow Removal Policy Map dated October 19, 2020 and attached 
hereto as Exhibit "A". 

RESOLVED, this 19th day of October 2020. 

TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 

By:__________________________________ 
Laura Dininni, Vice Chairwoman
Board of Supervisors 

[  S E A L  ] 

ATTEST: 

By:__________________________________ 
David G. Pribulka, Secretary 



1420653

W COLLEGE AVE

CIRCLEVILLE RD

BLUE COURSE DR

W WHITEHALL R
D

E PIN
E GROVE RD

E CHESTNUT ST

AUTUMNWOOD
DR

S NIXON RD
SLEEPY HOLLOW DR

SCIENCE PARK RD

OLD GATESBURG RD
HARVE ST RI DG EDR

CORL CIR

KINGSC T

SELDERSCIR

TARACIR

CHELSEA

LN
DEERFIE LD DR

HAVERS HIRE BLV D

PA
T

T
O

N
 T

W
P

PA
T

T
O

N
 T

W
P

F
E

R
G

U
S

O
N

 T
W

P

F
E

R
G

U
S

O
N

 T
W

P

C
O

L
L

E
G

E
 T

W
P

C
O

L
L

E
G

E
 T

W
P

F
E

R
G

U
S

O
N

 T
W

P

F
E

R
G

U
S

O
N

 T
W

P

WESTERLY

PKWY

MARTIN ST

VALLEY VISTA DR

Legend
Sidewalks

Sidewalk Exempt
Areas

Parcels

Streets

Map Date: 10/14/2020
0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000500

Feet

:
2020-2021 Sidewalk Snow Removal
Policy Map

TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON

V:\GIS_Data\Sidewalks\SidewalkSnowRemovalPolicyMap_2019.mxd

exhibit "a"



§ 1-1121 § 1-1122 

:1 

 

 

B. 
Centre Region Parks and Recreation Authority. 

 
§ 1-1121. Intention and Desire to Organize Authority. [Ord. 

47, 1/13/1970, § 1] 

The Board of Supervisors of this Township signifies  its  intention 
and desire to organize an Authority jointly with the Townships of 
College, Harris, Patton, Halfmoon and the Borough of State College, 
all located in Centre County, Pennsylvania, under provisions of the 
Act of May 2, 1945, P.L. 382, known as the "Municipality Authorities 
Act of 1945," as amended and supplemented ("Authorities Act"), for 
the purpose of exercising any and all powers conferred by the 
Authorities Act. 

 
§ 1-1122. Articles of Incorporation. [Ord. 47, 1/13/1970, § 2] 

The Chair or Vice Chair of the Board of Supervisors and Secretary   
or Assistant Secretary, respectively, of this Township are authorized 
and directed to execute, in behalf of this Township, Articles of 
Incorporation of such Authority in substantially the following form: 

Articles of Incorporation 

To the Secretary of the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania: 

In compliance with requirements of the Act of May 2, 1945, P.L. 382, 
known as the "Municipality Authorities Act of 1945," as amended 
and supplemented, and pursuant to ordinances duly  enacted  by 
the municipal authorities of the Townships of College, Ferguson, 
Harris, Patton and Halfmoon, and the Borough of State College, all 
located in Centre County, Pennsylvania, expressing the intention and 
desire of the municipal authorities of said municipalities to organize 
a municipality authority jointly under provisions of said Act, said 
incorporating municipalities do certify: 

A. The name of the  Authority  is "Centre Region Parks and 
Recreation  Regional  Recreation Authority." 

B. The Authority is formed under provisions of the Act of May 2, 
1945, P.L. 382, known as the "Municipality Authorities Act of 
1945," as amended and supplemented. 

C. No other Authority has been organized under said Municipality 
Authorities Act of 1945, as amended and supplemented, or under 
the Act of June 28, 1935, P.L. 463, as amended and supplemented, 
and is  in  existence  in  or  for  any  of  said  incorporating 
municipalities, except that: 



§ 1-1122 § 1-2 

:2 

 

 

(1) The Township of Ferguson, Centre County, Pennsylvania, 
heretofore organized an Authority known as "Ferguson 
Township Authority" under provisions of said Municipality 
Authorities Act of 1945, as amended and supplemented. 

(2) The Township of Patton, Centre County, Pennsylvania, 
heretofore organized  an  Authority  known  as  "Patton 
Township Authority" under provisions of said Municipality 
Authorities Act of 1945, as amended and supplemented. 

(3) The Township of Harris, Centre County, Pennsylvania, 
heretofore organized  an  Authority  known  as  "Harris 
Township Water Authority" under  provisions  of  said 
Municipality Authorities Act of 1945, as amended and 
supplemented. 

(4) The Borough of State College, Centre County, Pennsylvania, 
heretofore organized an Authority known as "State College 
Storm Water Authority" under provisions of said 
Municipality Authorities Act of 1945, as amended and 
supplemented. 

(5) The Borough of State College, Centre County, Pennsylvania, 
heretofore organized an Authority known as "State College 
Borough Authority" under the Act of June 28, 1935, P.L. 463, 
as amended. 

(6) The Borough of State College, Centre County, Pennsylvania, 
heretofore organized an Authority known as "Centre County 
Airport Authority" under provisions of said Municipality 
Authorities Act of 1945, as amended and supplemented. 
(Established jointly by Borough of State College, Borough 
of Bellefonte, and County of Centre). 

(7) The Borough of State College, Centre County, Pennsylvania, 
heretofore organized an Authority known as "State College 
Joint School Authority" under provisions of said 
Municipality Authorities Act of 1945, as amended and 
supplemented. 

(8) The Borough of State College, Centre County, Pennsylvania, 
heretofore organized an Authority known as "State College 
Municipal Building Authority" under provisions of said 
Municipality Authorities Act of 1945, as amended and 
supplemented. 

(9) The Borough of State College, Centre County, Pennsylvania, 
heretofore organized an Authority known as "State College 
Airport Authority" under provisions of said Municipality 
Authorities Act of 1945, as amended and supplemented. 



:3 

§ 1-1122 § 1-1122 
 

 

(10) The Borough of State College, Centre County, Pennsylvania, 
heretofore organized an Authority known as "State College 
Parking Authority" under provisions of said Municipality 
Authorities Act of 1945, as amended and supplemented. 

(11) The Borough of State College, Centre County, Pennsylvania, 
heretofore organized an Authority known as "State College 
Sewer Authority" under provisions of said Municipality 
Authorities Act of 1945, as amended and supplemented. 

(12) The Townships of Patton and Ferguson, Centre County, 
Pennsylvania, heretofore organized an Authority known as 
"Patton-Ferguson Joint Authority" under provisions of said 
Municipality Authorities Act of 1945, as amended and 
supplemented. 

(13) The Townships of  College  and  Harris,  Centre  County, 
Pennsylvania, heretofore organized an Authority known as 
"College-Harris Joint Authority" under provisions of said 
Municipality Authorities Act of 1945, as amended and 
supplemented. 

D. The names of the incorporating municipalities are: 

Township of College, Centre County, Pennsylvania 

Township of Harris, Centre County, Pennsylvania 

Township of Ferguson, Centre County, Pennsylvania 

Township of Patton, Centre County, Pennsylvania 

Township of Halfmoon, Centre County, Pennsylvania 

Borough of State College, Centre County, Pennsylvania 

E. The names and addresses of all municipal authorities of said 
incorporating municipalities are: 

[Here followed the names and addresses of the principal officers   
in office of each of the participating municipalities at the time of 
enactment.] 

F. The members of the Board of the Authority shall be seven in 
number and shall be apportioned as follows: 

Township of College, Centre County, Pennsylvania 1 

Township of Ferguson, Centre County, Pennsylvania 1 

Township of Patton, Centre County, Pennsylvania        1 

Township of Harris, Centre County, Pennsylvania 1 

Township of Halfmoon, Centre County, Pennsylvania 1 



:4 

§ 1-1122 § 1-1124 
 

 

Borough of State College, Centre County, 2 
Pennsylvania 

G. The names, addresses and terms of office of first members of 
the Board of the Authority, each of whom is a citizen of the 
incorporating municipality by which he/she is appointed, are as 
follows: 

[Here followed the names and addresses of the principal officers in 
office.] 

 
§ 1-1123. Necessity for Enactment. [Ord. 47, 1/13/1970, § 6] 

The enactment of this Part is deemed necessary for the benefit of the 
preservation of the public health, peace, comfort and general welfare  
of citizens of this Township and will increase the prosperity of citizens 
of this Township. 

 
§ 1-1124. Amendments to the Articles of Incorporation of the 

Authority. [Res. 2013-8, 3/4/2013, §§ 1-3] 

1. The Board of Supervisors of this  Township  adopt  and  approve  
the amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of the Authority   
as proposed by a resolution duly adopted by the Board of the 
Authority,  a copy of which resolution, duly certified by the Chair   
or Vice Chair and Secretary or  Assistant  Secretary,  as  
appropriate, of the Authority, has been submitted to the Board of 
Supervisors of this Township. 

2. The amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of the Authority, 
which is hereby adopted and approved, shall amend said Articles 
of Incorporation,  in  accordance  with  § 5605(a)(1)  of  the 
Authorities Act, by adopting the new Authority name of "Centre 
Region Parks and Recreation Authority." 

3. Proper officers of the Authority hereby are authorized to execute; 
verify and  file  appropriate  Articles  of  Amendment  with  the 
Secretary of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and to take all 
other action  and to  do all other things  which  may be necessary  
in order  to  accomplish  such  amendment  of  the  Articles  of  
Incorporation of the Authority in the manner herein adopted and 
approved. 



§ 16-107. Centre Region Parks and Recreation Department.

[Ord. 873, 11/20/2006, § 7]

1. In order to provide for equitable use of park facilities, preserve

park areas, and facilities, and protect the safety of users of the

parks and their facilities, the Director of the Centre Region Parks

and Recreation Department shall have the following authority, the

enumeration of which shall not restrict the general authority and

control of the Director over parks:

A. To Fix Time. To fix times when the parks or parts thereof shall

be open to public use.

B. To Restrict Use. To designate parks and parts thereof as

restricted to the use of certain portions of the public at certain

times as he sees fit.

C. To Issue Permits. Under uniform conditions to be prescribed

by him, to issue permits for regulated uses as hereinbefore

enumerated.

D. To Fix Charges.  The Centre Region Parks and Recreation

Authority sets its fees and policies each year for the use of

park areas or facilities or privileges, to be utilized by the Parks

and Recreation Director for all permitting purposes.

D.E. To , Charge and Collect Fees. To fix, charge and collect 

such fees and deposits for the use of park areas or facilities or 

privileges as he deems advisable to help defray the expense of 

the parks and their facilities. 

Formatted: Character scale: 100%

:1 



16:1  

Chapter 16 

PARKS AND RECREATION 



16:3  

§ 16-101 PARKS AND RECREATION § 16-102 
 

Part 1 
RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 
§ 16-101. Definitions. [Ord. 873, 11/20/2006, § 1] 

PARK — Unless specifically limited, shall be deemed to include all parks, 

playgrounds, athletic fields, stadium, tennis courts, golf course, swimming 

pools, beaches, band shells, music pavilions, recreational areas and 

structures, museums, geological and botanical gardens, and also entrances 

and approaches thereto, and all other land or property or structures under 

the jurisdiction of the Centre Region  Parks  and Recreation Board,  now  
or hereafter owned, acquired or leased by the Township of Ferguson for 

park or recreation purposes. Also included are areas owned or leased on 

behalf of Ferguson Township for municipal park and recreational purposes 

by Centre Regional Recreational Authority (CRRA) and/or Centre Region 

Council of Governments (COG) upon designation of such areas as a 

"municipal park" or "regional park" by the Board of Supervisors by 

resolution. 

PERMIT — Any written authorization issued by or under the authority of the 

Director of Parks and Recreation permitting specified park privilege. 

PERSON — Any natural person, corporation, organization of persons, 

company, association or partnership. 

POLICE OFFICER — Any peace officer of the Township of Ferguson, or 

State of Pennsylvania or any employee of the Department of Parks and 

Recreation appointed as a special police officer for the purpose of the 

enforcement of law and order within parks. 

EXCRETA — All useless matter eliminated from the bodily system, as 

sputum, urine, fecal matter. 

INTOXICATION — A state of any person being drunk, inebriated or under 

the influence of alcoholic beverages or spirituous liquors, taken internally 
or under the influence of drugs. 

RULES AND REGULATIONS — Any rules and regulations hereby or 

hereafter established by the ordinance of Ferguson Township as 

promulgated by the Director of Centre Region Parks and Recreation under 

authority herein conferred. 

 
§ 16-102. Interpretation of Rules and Regulations. [Ord. 873, 11/20/ 

2006, § 2] 

1. In the interpretation of the rules and regulations affecting parks, their 

provisions shall be construed as follows: 

A. Terms in Singular. Any term in the singular shall include the plural. 

B. Terms in Masculine. Any term in the masculine shall include the 

feminine and neuter. 



16:4  

§ 16-102 FERGUSON CODE § 16-103 
 

C. Extension of Rules and Regulations. Any requirement or provision 

of these rules and regulations relating to any act shall respectively 

extend to and include the causing, procuring, aiding or abetting, 

directly or indirectly, of such act; or the permitting or the allowing 

of any minor in the custody of any person, doing any act prohibited 
by any provisions thereof. 

D. Acts not Unlawful. No provision hereof shall make unlawful any 

act necessarily performed by any police officer or employee of the 

Department of Parks and Recreation or by any person, his agents 

or employees, in the proper and necessary execution of the terms 

of any agreement with the Department of Parks and Recreation. 

E. Permits. Any act otherwise prohibited by these rules and 
regulations, provided it is not otherwise prohibited by law or local 

ordinance, shall be lawful if performed under, by virtue of and 

strictly in compliance with the provisions of a permit and to the 

extent authorized thereby. 

F. State and Federal Laws. These rules and regulations are in addition 

to and supplement all state and federal laws. 
 

§ 16-103. Conduct Prohibited in Parks. [Ord. 873, 11/20/2006, § 3; 
as amended by Ord. 952, 5/2/2011, § 1; and by Ord. 998, 1/19/2015, 
§§ 1, 2] 

1. Disturbing the Peace. No person shall disturb the peace in any park by 

any act. 

2. Immorality and Indecency. No person shall do any obscene or indecent 

act in any park, or display,  expose or distribute any picture, banner  

or other object suggestive of sex in a lewd, indecent, immoral way; or 

enter a comfort station or toilet set apart for the use of the opposite sex; 

nor shall any person loiter in any comfort station or toilet at any time, 

nor shall any person dress or undress in any park except in dressing 

rooms provided for such persons. 

3. Unbecoming Language. No person shall use threatening, abusive, 

insulting, profane or obscene language or words in any parks. 

4. Soliciting Money. No person shall solicit money, subscriptions, or 

contributions for any purpose in any park unless authorized by permit 

from the Director of the Centre Region Parks and Recreation 

Department 

5. Intoxication. No person shall enter a park in an intoxicated condition; 

nor shall any person have in his possession or drink, or use in any park 

any alcoholic beverage; nor shall any person have in his possession or 

use in any park drugs of any kind. 

6. Weapons, Projectiles, Etc. No person shall perform the following 

actions within parks or playgrounds without having previously obtained 



16:5  

§ 16-103 PARKS AND RECREATION § 16-103 
 

written consent and approval of the Director of the Centre Region 

Parks and Recreation Department. Carry or discharge an air rifle or air 

pistol, a paintball gun or paintball marker; fireworks (including rockets) 

or other missile propelling instruments or explosives a slingshot or      

a bow and arrow, or other dangerous weapons, excepting firearms, 
which have such properties as to cause annoyance or injury to any 

person or property; provided further that no person shall discharge any 

firearm within parks or playgrounds. The foregoing exception relating 

to firearms is intended to eliminate any prohibition relating to the 

carrying or possessing of firearms. However, the discharge of firearms 

in parks or playgrounds is prohibited other than for lawful personal 

protection. 

7. Throwing Missiles. No person shall, in any park, throw, cast, lay, deposit 

or propel any missile except in the performance of an authorized 

recreational activity. 

8. Dangerous Conduct. No person shall interfere with, encumber, obstruct 

or render dangerous any park or part thereof. 

9. Excreta. No person shall emit, eject, or cause to be deposited in any 

park, any excreta of the human body, except in proper receptacles 

designated for such purposes. 

10. Improper Admission. No person shall gain improper admission to, or 

use of, or attempted admission to any park facility, for which a charge 

is made, without paying the fixed charge or price of admission. 

11. No use of snowmobiles, mini-bikes, motorcycles, or any vehicle 
recreational or otherwise except on designated roads, trails, or areas 

set aside for their use. 

12. Disobeying Authorities and Signs. No person shall, in any park, disobey 

a proper order of a police officer or any Park and Recreation employee 

designated by the Director of the Centre Region Parks and Recreation 

Department to give orders. Nor shall any person in any park disobey, 

disregard or fail to comply with any rule or regulation, warning, 

prohibition, instruction or direction, posted or displayed by sign, notice, 

bulletin, card, poster, or when notified or informed as to its existence 

by a park employee or other authorized person. 

13. Hunting and Trapping. It is unlawful to hunt for, capture or kill, or 

attempt to capture or kill, or aid or assist in capturing or killing of, in 

any manner, any wild bird or wild animal of any description, either 

game or otherwise. 

14. Camping. Day or overnight camping of any type is prohibited except as 

authorized by the Director of the Centre Region Parks and Recreation 

Department. 

15. Unmanned Aircraft to include radio-controlled, string-controlled, 

remote-controlled, and tethered model aircraft, and drones.  
Unmanned Aircraft shall not be placed in flight or landed in any 



16:6  

pocket, neighborhood, or community park.  Unmanned Aircraft may be 
placed in flight or landed with a permit from the Director of the Centre 

Region Parks and Recreation Department in the Regional Parks (Oak 

Hall Regional Park, Hess Softball Complex), and Whitehall Road 

Regional Park) when not interfering with other permitted and 

scheduled events or activities.  All Unmanned Aircraft operators must 

follow all Federal Aviation Administration’s (FAA) protocols to include 

safe operations, licensing, inspections, training, flight patterns, 

distances, heights, etc.  Exceptions will be made for other parks for 

commercial uses only (i.e., commercial filming) with a permit request 

to the Director of Parks and Recreation. Remote-Controlled or 
Tethered Model Aircraft. Remote-controlled or tethered model aircraft 

shall not be operated in any park without a Commented [SP1]: Based on research, a 

municipality can only control the land on which 

these unmanned aircraft land and from which they 

take off.  Added the regional parks info. per our May 

Manager’s mtg. 



16:7  

§ 16-103 FERGUSON CODE § 16-105 
 

permit for the operation thereof issued by the Director of the Centre 

Region Parks and Recreation Department. 
 

§ 16-104. Treatment of Park Property. [Ord. 873, 11/20/2006, § 4] 

1. Defacing, Breaking, and Injuring Trees, Plants, Benches, etc. No person 

shall cut, break, injure, deface, or disturb any tree, shrub, plant, rock, 

building, cage, pen, monument, fence, bench, or other structure, 

apparatus or property or pluck, pull up, cut, take or remove any shrub, 

bush, plant or flower; or mark, or write upon any building, monument, 
fence, bench or other structure, or injure, deface or remove any 

property real or personal or any natural growth, structure, equipment, 

animals, signs, or other park property. 

2. Setting of Fires. No fires shall be set in any park except in areas where 

fires are designated as permitted or except as authorized by permit 
issued under the authority of the Director of the Centre Region Parks 

and Recreation Department. 

3. Discharging in Bodies of Water. No person shall throw, cast, lay, drop or 

discharge into or leave in any body of water in any park, or in any storm 

sewer, or drain flowing into said water, or in any gutter, sewer or basin, 

any substance, matter or thing, whatsoever. 

4. Animals in Parks. No person owning or being custodian or having 

control of any animal, livestock or poultry, shall cause or permit same 

to go at large in any park except for dogs in designated fenced off-  
leash areas in accordance with posted rules and regulations. A dog or 

other domesticated animal may be brought into park; provided, that 

such animal is continuously restrained by a leash not exceeding six feet 

in length, and in control at all times, except that no dog or other such 

animal shall be permitted in the immediate vicinity of bath houses, 

wading pools, and children's play areas or in any area designated by 

signs as prohibited areas. 

5. Horses. No person shall ride or lead a horse into or upon lawns or 

other areas in any park. Horses may be permitted in designated fenced 

pasture areas and established riding rings. 

6. Waste Matter. No person or animal shall deposit, drop or leave any 

papers, bottles, debris, or other waste matter or refuse of any kind in 
any park or part thereof except in such receptacles as may be provided 

for the purpose. 
 

§ 16-105. Traffic Control. [Ord. 873, 11/20/2006, § 5] 

1. Vehicles to be Operated at Reasonable Speed, Not to Exceed 15 Miles 

per Hour. No person shall operate any motor vehicle on any roadway 

in any park at any rate of speed greater than is reasonable having 

regard to the width of the roadway, traffic, and use of such roadway, 

intersection with other roadways, weather and other conditions; and in 



16:8  

§ 16-105 PARKS AND RECREATION § 16-106 
 

no event shall any vehicle be operated on such highway at a speed in 

excess of 15 miles per hour. 

2. Repairs to Vehicles. No person shall in any park make repairs to any 
vehicle except those of a minor nature, and then only in cases of 

emergency. 

3. Vehicle to be Operated on Roadways and Parked in Approved Areas. 

No person shall operate any vehicle in any part of a park except on 

roadways established for the operation of vehicles, nor shall any person 

park any vehicle in any area except those specifically designated for 

parking purposes. 
 

§ 16-106. Regulated Uses. [Ord. 873, 11/20/2006, § 6] 

1. Permits. A permit to do any act shall authorize the same only insofar 

as it may be performed in strict accordance with the written terms 
and conditions thereof. Any violation of any law, ordinance, or rule or 

regulation by the holder or agents of the holder of any permit shall 

constitute grounds for revocation, which action shall be final. In case of 

revocation, all moneys paid therefore shall, at the option of the Centre 

Region Department of Parks and Recreation, be forfeited and shall 

leave the violator liable for all damages or loss suffered in excess of 

such forfeited or retained money, and such moneys retained or damage 

paid, or both, shall not relieve such person from liability to punishment 

for violation of any law, ordinance, rule or regulation. 

2. Public Events. No person shall conduct, operate, present or manage in 

any park, a parade, drill, maneuver, public meeting, ceremony, speech, 

address, public contest, exhibit, dramatic performance, spectacle, play, 

motion picture, fair, circus, or show of any kind or nature, band, choir, 

glee club, orchestra, without a permit. 

3. Picnics. All organized picnics or outings shall be authorized by permits 
obtained previous to entering any park. 

4. Baseball and SoftballSports Fields. All organized teams, leagues, 

agencies, schools, churches and other groups must obtain a permit for 

these facilities before announcing schedules. 

5. Selling Concessions. No person shall in any park exhibit, sell, or offer 

for sale, hire, lease or let out any object, service or merchandise or 

anything whatsoever,  whether  corporal  or  incorporal,  except  under 

a permit issued by the Centre Region Department of Parks and 

Recreation. 

6. Advertising. No person shall advertise in any park in any manner 

whatsoever for any reason whatsoever, except by permit issued by the 

Centre Region Department of Parks and Recreation. 

7. Games in Designated Areas. No person shall throw, cast, catch, kick, 

play with, or strike any gameball whatsoever or engage in any sport, 



16:9  

§ 16-106 FERGUSON CODE § 16-108 
 

game, or competition except in places and during the time designated 

therefore. Nor shall a person engage in or play a game or other sport 

or contest of a nature different from the one for which the designated 

area was created, except in such areas as are officially set aside for 

diversified games. 
 

§ 16-107. Centre Region Parks and Recreation Department. [Ord. 
873, 11/20/2006, § 7] 

1. In order to provide for equitable use of park facilities, preserve park 

areas, and facilities, and protect the safety of users of the parks and 

their facilities, the Director of the Centre Region Parks and Recreation 

Department shall have the following authority, the enumeration of 

which shall not restrict the general authority and control of the Director 

over parks: 

A. To Fix Time. To fix times when the parks or parts thereof shall be 

open to public use. 

B. To Restrict Use. To designate parks and parts thereof as restricted 

to the use of certain portions of the public at certain times as he 

sees fit. 

C. To Issue Permits. Under uniform conditions to be prescribed by 

him, to issue permits for regulated uses as hereinbefore 

enumerated. 

D. To Fix Charges.  The Centre Region Parks and Recreation 
Authority sets is fees and policies each year for the use of park 

areas or facilities or privileges, to be utilized by the Parks and 

Recreation director for all permitting purposes. 

D.E. To , Charge and Collect Fees. To fix, charge and collect such fees 

and deposits for the use of park areas or facilities or privileges as 

he the Director deems advisable to help defray the expense of the 

parks and their facilities. 
 

§ 16-108. Enforcement and Penalties. [Ord. 873, 11/20/2006, § 8] 

1. Police officers of the Township or state, or Township or park employees 

appointed as special park police, shall have the authority to enforce 

these rules and regulations. 

2. Any person, firm or corporation who shall violate any provision of   

this Part shall, upon conviction thereof in a proceeding commenced 

before a district justice pursuant to the Pennsylvania Rules of Criminal 

Procedures, be sentenced to a fine of not less than $100 nor more than 

$1,000 plus costs and, in default of payment of said fine and costs, a 

term of imprisonment not to exceed 90 days. Each day that a violation 

of this Part continues shall constitute a separate offense. 

3. The Township may maintain a civil action, in addition to any prosecution 

under Subsection 2 hereof, to recover from any party responsible 

Formatted: Character scale: 100%



16:

10 

 

therefore damages for injury to park and recreation equipment and 
property. 



 

 

- A Home Rule Municipality - 

 

TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 
3147 Research Drive •  State College, Pennsylvania 16801 
Telephone: 814-238-4651 •  Fax: 814-238-3454 
www.twp.ferguson.pa.us 

 

  

October 20, 2020 
 
Sent via email and USPS 
 
Anne Messner – County Liquid Fuels Program 
Centre County Planning & Community Development Office 
420 Holmes Building 
Bellefonte, PA  16823 
 
2021 County Liquid Fuels Grant Application 
 
Dear Ms. Messner: 
 
Ferguson Township is pleased to submit for your consideration an application for 2021 
County Liquid Fuels Funding. The Township Board of Supervisors is requesting funding 
to construct traffic signal and safety improvements at the Science Park Road and Sandy 
Drive (north) intersection as detailed in the application. The project is in design by the 
Township and a traffic signal warrant analysis was approved by PennDOT. Construction 
is planned for 2021. 
 
Motorists and residents from Ferguson Township and Centre County have been asking 
for a traffic signal at this location. Ferguson Township has a history of bringing needed 
transportation improvements to fruition and assistance from the County is appreciated. 
 
On behalf of the Board of Supervisors, thank you for your consideration of this project. 
 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
David J. Modricker, PE 
Public Works Director 
 
Copy: David Pribulka, Manager 
 Board of Supervisors 
 Ronald Seybert, PE, Township Engineer 
 
File: 2021 County Liquid Fuels 



2021 Centre County Liquid Fuels Grant Application 
Ferguson Township 
Science Park Road and Sandy Drive (north) intersection improvement project 
 

 

Centre County Liquid Fuels Program – Application for Funding Assistance 
 
Municipality:  Ferguson Township, Centre County, PA 
Contact Person: David J. Modricker, P.E., Public Works Director 
Email:   dmodricker@twp.ferguson.pa.us 
Phone:  814-238-4651 
 
PROJECT TYPE 

✓ Safety Improvement 
✓ Signals/Signage 

 
NEED/PROBLEM DESCRIPTION 
Traffic on Science Park Road has increased steadily to the current 14,000 vehicle trips 
per day. Motorists complain of a difficult time turning onto Science Park Road especially 
during rush hour such as after dropping a child off at day care on Sandy Drive. Motorists 
must quickly turn onto Science Park Road during perceived small gaps in traffic and 
complain of a dangerous condition. Traffic flow and to an extent safety can be improved 
with the installation of a traffic signal. 
 
SAFETY 

✓ Yes 
Crash data was collected and evaluated by Stahl Sheaffer Engineering and submitted to 
PennDOT with the Traffic Signal Study in December 2019. During the 5 year period 
studied, a total of 6 crashes occurred at the Science Park Road and Sandy Drive (north) 
intersection, and 3 crashes occurred at the Science Park Road and Sandy Drive (south) 
intersection. While safety is a concern expressed by motorists, the frequency of crashes 
alone does not justify the traffic signal. It does however meet other warrants for the 
installation of a traffic signal. 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTON 
This project includes the installation of a fully actuated traffic signal at the intersection of 
Science Park Road and Sandy Drive (north) including provisions for pedestrian 
crossings and overhead lighting. An off street bikepath is currently accommodated at 
this intersection. Surveying for the project is mostly complete. The traffic signal warrant 
analysis is complete and approved by PennDOT. Design will be accommodated in 
house by the Township Engineer. Easement impacts are expected to be minimal 
(perhaps one pole location in our existing shared use path easement) and utility impacts 
are expected to be minimal, yet unknown. 
 
The area surrounding this project is zoned IRD Light Industry, Research and 
Development to the south and west, and PRD Planned Residential Development to the 
east, and R1 Single Family Development just to the north. The corridor supports 
research and industrial type businesses well as child-care facilities, churches, and 
residential homes. 
 



2021 Centre County Liquid Fuels Grant Application 
Ferguson Township 
Science Park Road and Sandy Drive (north) intersection improvement project 
 

 

Science Park Road carries 14,000 vehicles a day to destinations in Ferguson Township 
and Centre County. 
 
Ferguson Township is committed to meeting the transportation needs of residents and 
drivers in Ferguson Township and annually develops a 5-year capital improvement plan 
to address these needs. The Board of Supervisors is challenged to meet the 
transportation infrastructure demands and requests assistance from the Centre County 
Commissioners through consideration of this project for a Centre County Liquid Fuels 
Grant in 2021. 
 
PROJECT FUNDING 
 
Estimated Total Project Cost $551,000 
Amount of Municipal Funding: $501,000 
Amount of Other Funding:  $           0 
Amount of County Aid Request: $  50,000 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

1. Location map 
2. Photograph 
3. Draft survey plat 
4. Cost estimate 

 
*************************************************************************************************** 
PENNDOT USE ONLY: 

 
Does project meet liquid fuels requirements: _____ YES  _____ NO 
 
Reviewed by: _____________________________ Date: ______________ 
 



2021 Centre County Liquid Fuels Grant Application 
Ferguson Township 
Science Park Road and Sandy Drive (north) intersection improvement project 
 

 

  
 

Attachment 1 Location Map 
 

 
 

 
Attachment 2 Photograph 

 
 

 
 



2021 Centre County Liquid Fuels Grant Application 
Ferguson Township 
Science Park Road and Sandy Drive (north) intersection improvement project 
 

 

 
Attachment 3 Draft Survey Plat 

 
 
 

 
  



2021 Centre County Liquid Fuels Grant Application 
Ferguson Township 
Science Park Road and Sandy Drive (north) intersection improvement project 
 

 

 
 

Attachment 4 Project Cost Estimate 
 

ITEM 
NO. ITEM DESCRIPTION QTY UNITS UNIT PRICE TOTAL 

0608-
0001 MOBILIZATION 1.00 LS $16,000 $16,000 

4630-
0010 PLAIN CEMENT CONCRETE CURB 60.00 LF $75 $4,500 

4676-
0001 

CEMENT CONCRETE SIDEWALK, 
MODIFIED 75.00 SY $250 $18,750 

4695-
0003 

DETECTABLE WARNING SURFACE, 
POLYMER CONCRETE, MODIFIED 100.00 SF $40 $4,000 

0802-
0001 TOPSOIL FURNISHED AND PLACED 30.00 CY $100 $3,000 

0901-
0001 

MAINTENANCE AND PROTECTION OF 
TRAFFIC 1.00 LS $16,000 $16,000 

4931-
0001 POST MOUNTED SIGNS, TYPE B  40.00 SF $100 $4,000 

0936-
0200 

STRUCTURE MOUNTED FLAT SHEET 
ALUMINUM SIGNS 30.00 SF $75 $2,250 

0951-
0130 

TRAFFIC SIGNAL SUPPORT, 30' MAST 
ARM 2.00 EACH $17,000 $34,000 

0951-
3130 

TRAFFIC SIGNAL SUPPORT, 30' MAST 
ARM W/ LUMINAIRE (30' MOUNTING 
HEIGHT) 

2.00 EACH $18,000 $36,000 

4951-
4020 PEDESTRIAN STUB POLE 8.00 EACH $2,000 $16,000 

4952-
1030 

NEMA TS-2; TYPE I CONTROLLER 
ASSEMBLY. TYPE I MOUNTING 1.00 EACH $20,000 $20,000 

0954-
0012 2 INCH CONDUIT 200.00 LF $4 $800 



2021 Centre County Liquid Fuels Grant Application 
Ferguson Township 
Science Park Road and Sandy Drive (north) intersection improvement project 
 

 

0954-
0013 3 INCH CONDUIT 500.00 LF $5 $2,500 

0954-
0152 TRENCH AND BACKFILL, TYPE II 200.00 LF $50 $10,000 

0954-
0153 TRENCH AND BACKFILL, TYPE IV 250.00 LF $150 $37,500 

0954-
0201 

SIGNAL CABLE, 14 AWG, 3 
CONDUCTOR 800.00 LF $3 $2,400 

0954-
0202 

SIGNAL CABLE, 14 AWG, 5 
CONDUCTOR 1,000.00 LF $4 $3,500 

0954-
0203 

SIGNAL CABLE, 14 AWG, 7 
CONDUCTOR 300.00 LF $4 $1,200 

0954-
0302 JUNCTION BOX, JB-27 8.00 EA  $1,200 $9,600 

0954-
0403 ELECTRICAL SERVICE, TYPE C 1.00 EA  $3,200 $3,200 

4954-
0600 

UNINTERRUPTIBLE POWER SUPPLY 
(UPS) WITH CABINET WARNING LIGHT 1.00 EA  $6,000 $6,000 

0955-
3208 

VEHICULAR SIGNAL HEAD, THREE 12" 
SECTIONS  8.00 EA  $1,200 $9,600 

0955-
3722 

LED COUNTDOWN PEDESTRIAN 
SIGNAL HEAD, TYPE A 8.00 EA  $1,000 $8,000 

4956-
0500 

PEDESTRIAN PUSHBUTTON ADA 
COMPLIANT 8.00 EA  $750 $6,000 

4956-
0770 

DIGITAL WAVE RADAR DETECTION 
SYSTEM 1.00 EA  $40,000 $40,000 

4956-
0802 OPTICAL PREEMPTION SYSTEM 1.00 LS $14,000 $14,000 

0962-
1002 

8" WHITE WATERBORNE PAVEMENT 
MARKINGS 400.00 LF $4 $1,600 



2021 Centre County Liquid Fuels Grant Application 
Ferguson Township 
Science Park Road and Sandy Drive (north) intersection improvement project 
 

 

0962-
1004 

24" WHITE WATERBORNE PAVEMENT 
MARKINGS 50.00 LF $8 $400 

0963-
0001 PAVEMENT MARKING REMOVAL 100.00 SF $6 $600 

9000-
0001 

SEEDING, SOIL SUPPLEMENTS, AND 
MULCHING 400.00 SY $6 $2,400 

9000-
0002 COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEM 1.00 LS $15,000 $15,000 

9000-
0003 

UTILITY IMPACTS - UNDETERMINED 
YET 1.00 LS $55,000 $55,000 

      

  CONSTRUCTION SUBTOTAL       $403,800 

  CONTINGENCY   30%   $121,000 

  CONSTRUCTION TOTAL       $525,000 

  

RIGHT OF WAY ACQUISITION - 
UNDETERMINED YET       $26,000 

  PROJECT TOTAL       $551,000 

 
 



CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS
Centre Regional Planning Agency

2643 Gateway Drive, Suite #4
State College, PA  16801

Phone:  (814) 231-3050  Fax:  (814) 231-3083

TRANSPORTATION & LAND USE (TLU) COMMITTEE and
CENTRE REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION (CRPC)

JOINT MEETING

COG Forum Room
2643 Gateway Drive

Monday, October 5, 2020
12:15 p.m.

AGENDA

1. CALL TO ORDER – Ms. Lafer will call the meeting to order.

2. INTRODUCTIONS

Ms. Lafer will call for introductions.

Members of the TLU Committee and CRPC

TLU Committee CRPC Representing
Eric Bernier Ray Forziat, Chair College Township
Lisa Strickland Ellen Taricani Ferguson Township
Dave Piper Andrew Meehan, Vice-Chair Halfmoon Township
Frank Harden, Vice Chair Amy Lorek Harris Township
Pamala Robb Brian Rater Patton Township
Theresa Lafer, Chair Jon Eich State College Borough
Neil Sullivan Neil Sullivan Penn State University

3. CITIZEN COMMENTS

Members of the public are invited to comment on any items not already on the agenda 
(five minutes per person time limit, please). Comments relating to specific items on the 
agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting.

4. ACCEPTANCE OF MINUTES

Ms. Lafer should call for action from TLU Committee members on the minutes of the 
September 14, 2020 TLU Committee meeting which are enclosed.

Mr. Forziat should call for action from CRPC members on the September 3, 2020 CRPC 
meeting minutes which are enclosed. 



Joint Transportation & Land Use Committee &
Centre Regional Planning Commission Agenda
October 5, 2020
Page 2

5. OPEN DISCUSSION FOR COMMITTEE MEMBERS

This time is provided for open discussion of issues by members of the TLU Committee 
and CRPC.

6. UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR PROJECTS IN THE CENTRE REGION – presented by Pam 
Adams and Mark Boeckel

Over the past several months, the CRPA participated in several webinars and conducted 
research on utility-scale solar uses. Utility-scale solar energy systems generate electricity for 
off-site use and are not accessory to another use on the property where they are located. A 
variety of factors including federal and state tax incentives have pushed developers to bring 
these facilities online as quickly as possible. This has resulted in many municipalities 
lacking the necessary ordinances to appropriately permit and regulate the use.

There are currently no utility-scale solar energy systems in the Centre Region; however, 
systems have been proposed in Centre County and at least one potential system in the 
Centre Region has received interconnection approval from West Penn Power and 
Pennsylvania-New Jersey-Maryland Interconnection (PJM). Based on current market trends, 
it is likely that the Centre Region municipalities will receive formal requests to approve 
utility-scale solar systems within their boundaries at some point in the future.

The TLU Committee and CRPC should receive a PowerPoint presentation regarding 
utility-scale solar uses and current market trends. While it is not included in the current 
Comprehensive Plan Implementation Program (CHIP), staff believes that this timely topic 
should be further studied with the intent of developing a regional model ordinance for 
utility-scale solar uses.

Attachments: None (PowerPoint provided at the meeting)

Action: The TLU Committee and CRPC should receive a presentation on utility-
scale solar systems and provide feedback on whether Staff should move 
forward with preparing a regional model ordinance.

Next Steps: If the TLU Committee and CRPC agree with staff’s recommendations, 
CRPA staff will begin working with other regional and municipal staff on 
studying the issue and identifying standards for inclusion in a regional 
model ordinance.

7. CONSIDER ALLOWING ADDITIONAL ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS (ADU) IN 
THE CENTRE REGION – presented by Nicole Pollock
This item provides an update to the CRPC regarding the progress of the Allowing More 
Accessory Dwelling Units in the Centre Region Project outlined in the 2020-2021 



Joint Transportation & Land Use Committee &
Centre Regional Planning Commission Agenda
October 5, 2020
Page 3

Comprehensive Plan Implementation Program (CHIP) as “A Proposal to Consider 
Allowing More Accessory Dwelling Units in Portions of the Centre Region”. 

Affordable housing is a large scale, regional issue. Efforts to gain more affordable housing 
have primarily focused on new construction. This project is looking to provide affordable 
and workforce housing by integrating accessory dwelling units (ADUs) throughout existing 
neighborhoods. Ultimately, this study considers if allowing ADUs could improve flexibility 
in the housing market that makes sense from an environmental, lifestyle, financial, and 
affordable perspective. 

This project focuses on four main points: 
Where ADUs are currently allowed in the Centre Region
Barriers to allowing ADUs
A Model Ordinance
Potential Recommendations

The material presented will cover the large variation on what is considered an ADU, the 
goal of the project, the main focus points that have been researched to date, and the 
proposed next steps.

Attachments: None (PowerPoint provided at the meeting)

Action: This item is for information only. No action is needed

Next Steps: Staff will continue to work on the Accessory Dwelling Unit project while 
taking into consideration all comments provided by TLU and the CRPC.

8. A REVIEW OF THE DRAFT CENTRE REGION LAND CONSUMPTION STUDY –
presented by Mark Boeckel

The 2019-2020 Comprehensive Plan Implementation Program (CHIP) includes a study to 
examine the rate of residential land consumption inside of the Regional Growth Boundary 
(RGB) and Sewer Service Area (SSA) and determine potential strategies to minimize land 
consumption, such as minimum development density requirements. This project seeks to 
understand how land is being consumed for residential uses and identify regulatory 
methods of ensuring efficient land development. The TLU Committee and CRPC received 
an update on this project at its June meetings.  

Staff recently completed a final draft of the study which is included with the agenda. The 
study includes an evaluation of land consumption for single-family detached dwellings, 
attached units, and apartments inside of the Regional Growth Boundary (RGB) and Sewer 
Service Area (SSA). The study concludes that over 80% of the residential land within the 
RGB is utilized for single-family detached dwellings, which consumes the most land per 



Joint Transportation & Land Use Committee &
Centre Regional Planning Commission Agenda
October 5, 2020
Page 4

unit type. Land consumption for single-family detached dwellings increased significantly 
after 1950, consuming an average of 0.39 acre per unit over the past 70 years. While the 
amount of land consumed for other unit types also increased, these unit types account for 
a smaller portion of the land area devoted to residential uses.

The report also includes an assessment of the impact land that consumption rates could 
have on vacant land within the RGB and SSA. The 2017 Regional Development Capacity 
Report (REDCAP) concluded that the vacant land within the boundaries could support 
residential and non-residential growth beyond the year 2040. While the findings of this 
report are consistent with that assessment, it is probable that vacant land will development 
at much lower densities than those assessed within the REDCAP. This can ultimately 
result in increased development pressure on rurally zoned lands and potential requests to 
expand the RGB and SSA in the future.

The report provides several recommendations that should be considered by the Centre 
Region municipalities, including the following:

Review Zoning Designations for Vacant Parcels. There are several hundred acres of 
vacant land within the Regional Growth Boundary (RGB) that lack approved or 
proposed land development plans and are zoned for rural residential densities. The 
report recommends that the Centre Region municipalities consider if these parcels 
should be rezoned to permit a residential density that is consistent with the 
purposes of the RGB.

Review Minimum Lot Size Requirements. The Centre Region municipalities 
should consider reducing the minimum lot size for detached single-family 
residential dwellings in districts that are intended to support this use. Reducing the 
minimum lot size can increase the development potential of vacant and 
underdeveloped parcels in these districts, which increases the overall development 
capacity within the RGB. The potential for additional dwelling units also provides 
more opportunities for persons to live in the Region and can results in greater 
variety of housing sizes.

Establish Minimum Density Requirements. The Centre Region municipalities 
should consider revising zoning regulations to ensure that future residential 
development meets or exceeds a minimum development density. This can be 
accomplished with the use of maximum lot restrictions and/or minimum density 
requirements for new developments. Minimum density requirements in residential 
zones are most common in western states, such as Oregon and Washington. 
Communities in these states utilize urban growth boundaries which are similar to 
the Regional Growth Boundary.

The TLU Committee and CRPC should receive a brief presentation regarding the findings
of the report.



Joint Transportation & Land Use Committee &
Centre Regional Planning Commission Agenda
October 5, 2020
Page 5

Attachments: Draft Land Consumption Study – September 2020

Action: The TLU Committee and CRPC should receive a presentation on the Land 
Consumption Report and provide feedback to staff.  

Next Steps: The CRPA will make any edits, if necessary, and forward a final study to the 
municipalities.

9. REVIEW OF COMPREHENSIVE PLAN IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM (CHIP) 
PROJECTS FOR 2021 - 2022 – presented by Jim May

This item provides the COG TLU Committee and CRPC with an update of ongoing work 
and projects for the Comprehensive Plan Implementation Program (CHIP). The TLU 
Committee and the CRPC individually discussed CHIP 2021 – 2022 projects at its
respective May 2020 meetings. Staff has updated the projects based upon input from the 
TLU Committee and CRPC.

The 2013 Centre Region Comprehensive Plan contains an ambitious list of goals, 
objectives, and policies to be completed over the ten years covered by the Plan. The goals, 
objectives, and policies in the Comprehensive Plan are not prioritized. The CHIP provides 
an organized, systematic, and flexible approach to establish priorities and implement the 
goals, objectives, and policies in the Comprehensive Plan on an annual basis. The CHIP 
process keeps the Comprehensive Plan goals visible and ensures the Plan remains a 
dynamic, responsive document and that Regional decisions are generally consistent with 
the long-terms goals, objectives, and policies of the Comprehensive Plan. The process also 
helps the CRPA manage future work within the context of existing and anticipated 
funding and staffing levels of the Agency.

The first iteration of the CHIP was prepared in early 2014, shortly after adoption of the 
Centre Region Comprehensive Plan, to guide effective implementation of the Plan using a 
systematic process to prioritize the actions and programs over the planning horizon of the 
Comprehensive Plan.

The CHIP uses a public process for recommending priorities to the COG General Forum 
to implement in the next budget year. The process also includes annual reporting to the 
General Forum on Comprehensive Plan implementation. In summary, the outcomes of 
this process:

Proactively engage regional and municipal staffs, and municipal representatives on 
the CRPC, COG TLU Committee, and COG General Forum in an annual public 
process to implement the Comprehensive Plan.

Ensure all municipalities have an active role to identify and establish priorities and
reach consensus on the most relevant and beneficial projects and programs the 
CRPA should undertake to implement the Comprehensive Plan in the short-term.



Joint Transportation & Land Use Committee &
Centre Regional Planning Commission Agenda
October 5, 2020
Page 6

Provide a systematic process to address and adjust, on an annual basis, regional 
priorities, needs, and projects to implement long-term goals in the Comprehensive 
Plan.

Ensure that the Comprehensive Plan remains a dynamic, up-to-date, relevant, and 
responsive guide for the physical development of the Centre Region.

Attachments: CHIP Project Status Report

Action: This item is for information only. No formal action is required. The TLU 
Committee and CRPC should provide comments and questions to the 
CRPA staff to improve and clarify the potential CHIP projects.

Next Steps: CRPA staff will review comments, questions, and any newly proposed 
projects and incorporate them into a final document.

10. OTHER BUSINESS

A. Matter of Record – The next TLU Committee meeting is scheduled for Monday
November 2, 2020 at 12:15 p.m. via the Zoom platform. 

B. Matter of Record – The next CRPC meeting is scheduled for Thursday, November 5, 
2019 at 7:00 p.m. via the Zoom platform. *Please note the time change*

C. Matter of Record – The next meeting of the CCMPO Coordinating Committee is 
scheduled for Tuesday, November 24, 2020 at 6:00 p.m. via the Zoom platform.
Agenda items include the Long Range Transportation Plan 2050 Action Plan, MPO 
Strategic Plan, State College Area Connector project, federal safety performance 
measure targets, and the transportation funding outlook.

D. Matter of Record – The CRPA staff is finalizing the 2020 State College – Centre 
Region Bicycle Friendly Community (BFC) application.  The submission deadline was 
extended from August 12 to October 1, 2020 to allow communities to promote 
September 2020 Bike to Work Week and Day events. BFC Awards for this application 
round will be announced in December 2020.

E. Matter of Record- The UAJA is moving forward with a Residential Pilot Solar Program 
for existing UAJA customers. The UAJA has presented this item to the COG Public 
Services and Environmental Committee. The UAJA has also completed presentations 
to the five municipalities that formed the sewer authority (College, Ferguson, Harris,
and Patton Townships and the Borough of State College) to receive comments and to 
see if there were objections to UAJA proceeding with the development of the pilot 
program. All five were supportive of UAJA proceeding. Based upon the results of the 
municipal presentations, UAJA will proceed with the development of the pilot project.



Joint Transportation & Land Use Committee &
Centre Regional Planning Commission Agenda
October 5, 2020
Page 7

The following steps will need to be completed:

Complete evaluation of the Pennsylvania Municipalities Authorities Act to ensure 
that a municipal authority can own and operate a solar project of this nature.

Develop a draft customer service agreement

Finalize agreements with the third-party financing partnership and installers

Prepare a resolution for consideration by the municipalities to formally designate 
the residential solar pilot program as a project to be financed by UAJA.

The proposed UAJA project supports many of the goals, objectives, and policies in the 
Comprehensive Plan along with goals to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in the future 
Climate Action and Sustainability Plan.

11. ADJOURNMENT



CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite #3

State College, PA 16801
Phone: (814) 231-3077 Fax: (814) 231-3088 Website: www.crcog.net

Virtual Meeting
October 6, 2020

8:30 AM

AGENDA

PLEASE REMEMBER TO BRING YOUR BLACK BINDER – FACILITIES PERM FILE

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. PUBLIC COMMENTS

Members of the public are invited to comment on any items not already on the agenda 
(five minutes per person time limit, please). Comments relating to specific items on the 
agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting. Submitted comments will be 
read into the record at the appropriate time in the meeting. 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES (Action)

A copy of the minutes of the August 4, 2020 Ad Hoc Facilities Committee meeting is 
enclosed.

4. PROJECT UPDATES (Informational)

This is an informational agenda item whereby COG staff will update the Committee on 
the status of current projects.

Facilities Coordinator hire by Eric Norenberg
Millbrook Marsh Nature Center boardwalk RFP update by CRPR staff
Code Renovation project update by CRCA staff
COG Building work update by Don Francke

o Jamb liner replacement
o Replacement of screens
o Concrete work in the rear parking lot
o HVAC unit in General Forum Room
o Indoor Air Quality Report

The Committee members should ask any questions they deem pertinent.



Ad Hoc Facilities Committee Agenda
October 6, 2020
Page 2 of 3

5. FACILITIES CONDITION ASSESSMENT – PATTON FIRE STATION
(Informational/Action)

The Committee should receive and comment upon the Facility Condition Assessment of 
the Patton Fire Station.

Mr. Don Francke completed the Modified Facility Condition Assessment for the Patton 
Township Fire Station with the help of Steve Bair, Fire Director, and Tony Berrena, 
volunteer firefighter for the Alpha Fire Company.  Enclosed is the completed report which 
Mr. Francke will discuss in more detail at the meeting.

The Committee should read through this information, ask questions they deem pertinent, 
and decide if they wish to request or research additional information.  The end goal of this 
report upon its finalization would be that it would be accepted by the Committee and 
incorporated into the COG ongoing operational maintenance and capital improvement 
plans.

6. NEXT FACILITY ASSESSMENT (Informational/Action)

The Committee should discuss which Facility Assessment they would like Mr. Francke to 
focus on when the Patton Fire Station is approved.  Park Forest Pool was mentioned as a 
priority, but based on time of year and other new information that has become available 
since February, are there other sites/facilities that the Committee would like to make a 
priority?  For example, when Park Forest Pool was prioritized in February, COVID was not 
a factor for consideration.

The Committee should discuss the various COG facilities and perhaps prepare an order 
for the facility assessments to be completed.  Currently completed facility assessments 
include the COG Building, Schlow Library, and the Patton Township Fire Station.

7. PARKS MAINTENANCE FACILITY DISCUSSION (Discussion)

The Committee members should continue their discussion from the August meeting.

The Committee began an in-depth discussion and received information about the previous 
plans for the Parks Central Maintenance Facility at its August meeting.  At that meeting
Parks Agency staff was asked to provide more information, especially trip data, to support 
its reasoning for the preferred location of the Parks Maintenance Facility. Enclosed is a map 
from Mr. Jim Carpenter noting the High Use, Medium Use, and Low Use parks in the 
Centre Region Parks and Recreation inventory.

The Committee should continue its discussion and determine the next steps that should 
be taken in this process.



Ad Hoc Facilities Committee Agenda
October 6, 2020
Page 3 of 3

8. WHITEHALL ROAD REGIONAL PARK PROJECT (Discussion)

The Committee should discuss if there is a role in the discussion pertaining to Whitehall 
Road Regional Park.

COG Staff and the Centre Region Parks and Recreation Authority presented at a Zoom 
and Learn (held on September 17) and the General Forum (held on September 29) about 
the status of the Whitehall Road Regional Park project – the presentation from the 
September 29 General Forum meeting is enclosed.  The Chair has requested that the 
Committee discuss if there is a role in analysis of the project and providing guidance to the 
General Forum from a facilities standpoint.

The Committee should come to the meeting prepared to discuss both presentations and 
opine on whether the Facilities Committee has a role in the discussions and what that role 
should be.

9. COG BUILDING OWNERSHIP (Discussion)

The Committee should receive the legal opinion pertaining to the ownership status of the 
COG Building and its property.  

Enclosed is a response received from the COG solicitor regarding the ownership of the 
property and improvements at 2643 Gateway Drive (the COG Building/property) and the 
related building agreement and lease documents for the COG Building/property.

The Committee should receive this information and be prepared to discuss it at a future 
meeting.

10. FINANCE COMMITTEE REPORT (Informational)

Ms. Hartle will report on the September 10, 2020 Finance Committee meeting and the 
budget review sessions held on September 24, September 30, and October 1, 2020.  

11. OTHER BUSINESS (Informational)

As may come forward by the members and/or staff.

12. ADJOURNMENT



CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 

State College, PA 16801 

Phone: (814) 231-3077 Fax: (814) 231-3083 Website: www.crcog.net 

 

FINANCE COMMITTEE 
Video Conference 
October 8, 2020 

8:30 AM 
 

 
During the COVID-19 health emergency, to continue business operations of the 
COG and ensure the safety of municipal officials and staff, and to adhere to health 
emergency recommendations while remaining in compliance with Pennsylvania’s 
guidelines for public meetings, this Finance Committee meeting will be held via 
video conference. Written public comment or requests to speak to the Finance 
Committee for items not on the agenda, and requests to comment to specific agenda 
items listed below, may be submitted in advance by emailing casendorf@crcog.net. 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
Mr. Myers will convene the meeting. Mr. Asendorf will review the meeting procedures and 
perform a roll call of members. 
 

2. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
Members of the public are invited to comment on any items not already on the agenda 
(five minute per person time limit, please). Comments relating to specific items on the 
agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting. 
 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES (Action) 
 
A copy of the minutes from the September 10, 2020 Finance Committee meeting is 
enclosed for approval. 

 
4. CHANGE OF MEETING DATE (Action) 

 
The Finance Committee should consider rescheduling its Thursday, November 12, 2020 to 
the following week, Tuesday, November 17, 2020 at 8:30 AM, to allow for additional time 
for municipal review of the 2021 Summary Budget. 
 

5. BUDGET WRAPUP SESSION (Action) 
 

During the last two weeks, the Finance Committee conducted three special meetings with 
COG Agency Directors and Administration staff to review the draft 2021 COG Budget.  
 

mailto:casendorf@crcog.net


Finance Committee Agenda 
October 8, 2020 
Page 2 of 6 

 
The Committee agreed to commit its regular October meeting to serve as a “wrap-up” of 
outstanding budget questions/discuss items on the deferral list contained in the enclosed 
2021 Detailed Budget Review Comments from the meetings that occurred on September 
24th, September 30th, and October 1st, 2020. After the Committee reaches agreement on 
any revisions that may need to be made, COG staff will use the resulting budget estimates 
to accomplish the following: 
 

• Prepare the “goldenrod” colored revision pages for the 2021 Detailed Budget.  
 

• Prepare the 2021 Summary Budget that will be distributed to the General Forum 
with its agenda packet for the October 26, 2020 meeting. 

 
Mr. Viglione will then review the notes from the budget review sessions and well as other 
changes that will have occurred during the budget review process (by way of example – the 
actual rates for employee health insurance will be available on October 5, 2020).   
 
As of October 2, 2020, the changes to the Detailed Budget that the Committee have 
mainly been editorial in nature and are encapsulated in the meeting notes.  Staff will 
attempt to have this information entered into and the detailed budget updated prior to the 
meeting on October 8, 2020.   
 
In its only vote the Finance Committee voted to accept the Codes Overview budget, which 
is comprised of the Code – New Construction and Code – Existing Strutures budgets, as 
presented by Mr. Schneider for further discussion at the budget wrap-up session scheduled 
for Thursday, October 8, 2020 by a 4-2 vote (Yeas – State College Borough, Harris 
Township, Ferguson Township, Halfmoon Township; Nays – College Township, Patton 
Township). 
 
In addition, the Finance Committee requested that a deferral list for changes be created 
and discussed at the October 8th meeting.  Items on the deferral list include: 
 

• Review of the use and proposed 2021 ending fund balances for all budgets.  This 
schedule is included with the budget review comments. 

• Determine if it is possible to defer the $10,000 included in Consulting Services for 
an overall COG strategic plan to the 2022 budget; alternatively, reduce the scope of 
the IT Study so the two projects could be a combined cost of $25,000.  Mr. 
Norenberg will provide an update on his conversation with Penn State University. 

• Determine if COG should add an additional $341 of municipal contributions to 
the Contingency Budget so that the ending fund balance is $25,000. 

• Investigate utilizing additional Insurance Reserve funds to smooth the projected 
6% premium increase, which could aid municipal contributions in other areas.  The 
actual increase in 2021 premiums and the refund from Benecon should be known on 
October 5th.  Staff will share that information with the Committee to allow decisions to be 
made on actual information rather than assumed information. 

• Request to investigate the timing of municipal cash flow needs versus pledge for the 
SCEB Phase II as it relates to the project and DCNR grant requirements.  Staff is in 



Finance Committee Agenda 
October 8, 2020 
Page 3 of 6 

the process of scheduling a meeting with DCNR to inquire about the requirements of DCNR 
pertaining to the timing of the project and its impact on the cash flow request of 
municipalities.  At the time of agenda distribution staff cannot guarantee that meeting will 
occur prior to the October 8th Finance Committee meeting.  Staff will be in attendance at the 
October 8th meeting to provide an update regarding this request. 

 
The Finance Committee members should express issues or concerns that were missed in 
the meeting notes. In addition, the Committee should identify remarks that it wants to 
share with the General Forum.  Following this discussion, the Committee should confirm 
the changes that are to be made to 2021 Detailed COG Budget. 
 

 Based on the Committee’s recommendations the following actions will occur: 
 

• Goldenrod Budget sheets will be prepared and distributed to each individual who 
has received a copy of the Detailed Budget. These sheets will identify the changes 
endorsed by the Committee. 

 
• A 2021 Summary Budget will be prepared based on the Detailed Budget as 

endorsed by the Committee. 
 

• The 2021 Summary Budget will be forwarded to the General Forum with its 
agenda packet for the October 26, 2020 COG Forum meeting.  

 
• The Committee Chair will prepare an introduction to the General Forum for the 

2021 Detailed Budget. 
 
After the Finance Committee completes its review of the 2021 Detailed Budget, 
consideration should be given to approving the following motion and referring it to the 
Executive Committee:  

 
“That the General Forum receive the draft 2021 Summary Budget for the Centre 
Region Council of Governments and refer it to the municipalities for 
consideration; and, furthermore, that comments be referred to the COG 
Executive Director by 8:00 AM on November 17, 2020 (see agenda item #4) for 
distribution to the Finance Committee.” 

 
 

 
 
6. AD HOC FACILITIES COMMITTEE (INFORMATIONAL) 
 

Ms. Hartle will report on the Committee’s October 6, 2020 meeting. 
 

7. MONTHLY REPORTS (Action) 
 

Copies of the September 2020 voucher report are enclosed with this agenda. To proceed, 
the Committee should consider the following motion: 

Please remember to have your draft 2021 Detailed Budget available at the meeting. 



Finance Committee Agenda 
October 8, 2020 
Page 4 of 6 

“That the Finance Committee approves the September 2020 voucher report for 
the Centre Region COG.”  

Copies of the September 2020 COG financial reports (electronically, only) will be 
distributed at a later date due to the distribution date of the agenda being too close to 

month end to complete the month end close out. If the Committee has any questions 
about the items in these reports, please let Finance Director Joe Viglione 
(jviglione@crcog.net or 231-3062) know as soon as possible so that the information can be 
researched prior to the next Committee meeting. 

8. OTHER BUSINESS 
 

A. Matter of Record – On Thursday, September 17, 2020, the COG conducted a 
Zoom and Learn session for General Forum members, members of the CRPR 
Authority, municipal managers, and other stakeholders.  The goal of this Zoom and 
Learn session was to provide the latest information on the project and to learn the 
history and other details of the project. Staff provided information on the current 
project scope, status of grants, and the loan, along with critical timelines and 
options related to moving the project forward this fall.  A link to the Zoom and 
Learn session (including the presentation, Zoom and Learn recording, and the 
summary of questions and responses) can be viewed on the COG website on the 
CRPR Authority page, or by clicking here: Zoom and Learn: Whitehall Road 
Regional Park 9.17.2020 (COG Website). 

B. Matter of Record – COG Staff applied for CARES Act funding for the Centre 
Region Parks and Recreation Authority and Schlow Centre Region Library in the 
amounts of $358,036 and $70,314 respectively.  Staff is also working cooperatively 
with our municipal partners to determine the amount of funding that may be 
requested as a subrecipient of the municipalities. 

C. Matter of Record – Staff has calculated the costs associated with the PPP Loan 
received by Schlow Library for the ten-week period of July 6 through September 13, 
2020 to be $338,706 versus the $341,223 applied for.  Forgiveness of the loan will 
be requested once the online portal becomes available. 

D. Matter of Record - The following is an update of the status of planning and 
evaluation studies currently underway at the COG. 

 Planning Activity Status 
1 Study of 

Regional Fire 
Protection 
Program 

The report is complete and will be presented at the 
October 13th Public Safety Committee meeting. 

mailto:jviglione@crcog.net
https://www.crcog.net/index.asp?SEC=A732465C-A6DC-4562-890E-4FF57670A44F
https://www.crcog.net/index.asp?SEC=A732465C-A6DC-4562-890E-4FF57670A44F


Finance Committee Agenda 
October 8, 2020 
Page 5 of 6 

2 IT Study The RFP for the IT Study that was last updated in 2017 
is in the process of being updated and refreshed with the 
help of an intern from PSU.  Our intern is a senior 
Information Sciences and Technology major studying 
remotely this semester.  This week she is gathering 
information from Borough IT staff (the IT service 
provider for 4 COG Agencies) and will then survey and 
interview COG agency directors.  The RFP should be 
updated by the end of the semester and ready for release 
in early-2021.   

3 Code Software 
Study 

TRAISR and OpenGov provided demonstrations. 
Coordinating group representatives will perform site 
visits to multiple software client locations in March. 
(Update: Site visits were canceled due to COVID-19 
travel restrictions. This project is still on hold.) 

4 COG Facilities 
Evaluation 

The Facility Condition Assessment for the Patton Fire 
Station is completed.  In addition, Mr. Don Francke has 
been working on a report pertaining to indoor air quality 
at the COG Building. 

5 Solar Power 
Purchase 
Agreement 
Working Group 

The cost sharing agreement has been making its rounds 
for signature.  The Working Group elected to delay the 
release of the RFP at its September 30th meeting due to 
the impacts of COVID.  Members of the SPPA Working 
Group (Jim Leous and Peter Buck) were also invited to 
present at a joint World Resources Institute-Rocky 
Mountain Institute workshop on September 30th.  The 
presentation was offered as a model for other groups to 
hear how the 15 entities in Centre County developed the 
governance structure of the SPPA Working Group and 
understand our lessons learned.  

6 Fleet 
Management 
Plan/COG 
Building Parking 
Lot Study 

There is agreement among COG staff and the elected 
officials that this should be a priority work objective for 
2020.  At this time a lead staff member has not been 
identified. 

7 Evaluation of 
Boardwalk at 
Millbrook Marsh 
Nature Center 

The Feasibility Study Working Group completed its 
work on August 31 by recommending LAN Associates as 
the lead consultant for this project.  The PA Department 
of Conservation and Natural Resources approved the 
recommendation and gave the committee the green light 
to move forward with the Part One Feasibility 
Study.  The CRPR Authority endorsed the 
recommendation at their September 17 meeting, and the 
Agency staff requested partial funding from the grant 
funds as well.  All contracts are complete at this time, 
and contact info. for the Feasibility Study Working 
Group members has been provided to LAN 



Finance Committee Agenda 
October 8, 2020 
Page 6 of 6 

Associates.  We currently are awaiting the scheduling of 
the first kick-off meeting.  

 

9. ADJOURNMENT 



CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 

State College, PA 16801 
Phone: (814) 231-3077 ● Fax: (814) 231-3083 ● Website: www.crcog.net 

PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE 
Video Conference 

Tuesday, October 13, 2020
12:15 p.m. 

AGENDA 

1. CALL TO ORDER

Chair Laura Dininni will convene the meeting.

2. PUBLIC COMMENTS

Members of the public are invited to comment on any items not already on the agenda
(five minutes per person time limit, please). Comments relating to specific items on the
agenda should be deferred to that point in the meeting.

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

A copy of the minutes from the September 8, 2020 meeting of the COG Public Safety
Committee is attached.

4. REPORT ON THE STUDY OF THE REGIONAL FIRE PROTECTION – introduced by Steven Bair,
Fire Director and presented by James Angle, ESCI

Emergency Services Consulting International was commissioned by COG to study the
Regional Fire Protection Program in 2020. Work began in January and is now complete.
Mr. Angle and his team will present key findings of the study and answer any questions
posed by the Committee.

A complete copy of the ESCI Report is included with this agenda for Committee
members to review prior to the meeting.
Director Bair will present a suggested course of action to follow-up on various report
recommendations.

During the COVID-19 health emergency, to continue business operations of the COG and to ensure the safety of 
municipal officials and staff, the General Forum has authorized the Executive Committee to act on its behalf except in 
cases where a unanimous vote of the municipalities is required. As a result of the “Stay at Home” order and the 
requirement that non-essential business operations be closed, this Public Safety meeting will be held via video 
conference. Written public comment or requests to speak to the Public Safety Committee for items not on the agenda 
and for specific agenda items below may be submitted in advance by emailing tes@crcog.net



Public Safety Committee Agenda 
October 13, 2020 
Page 2 of 2 
 
 
5. SPECIAL EVENT PERMIT DISCUSSION – presented by Shawn Kauffman 

 
At the September 22, 2020 meeting of the COG Executive Committee, College Township 
Manager Adam Brumbaugh discussed the recent wrestling tournament at C3 Sports and 
the citations issues as related to COVID ordinances and fire safety violations. The EM 
Coordinator suggested a Regional approach to special event permits. After much 
discussion, the EM Coordinator offered to gather all municipal special event permit 
requirements and provide an overview of the process to the Public Safety Committee for 
future consideration.  
 
This item is informational only. The EM Coordinator will provide some background and 
facilitate discussion about Special Events Permits. 

 
6. STAFF UPDATES 

 
COG Staff will provide updates on the following topics: 

 Code Administration (Walt Schneider) – The Codes Director will report on 
current items. 

 Fire Protection (Steven Bair) – The Fire Director will report on current activities. 
 

 Emergency Management Program (Shawn Kauffman) – The Emergency 
Management Coordinator will report on current items.   

 
7. OTHER BUSINESS  

 
A. Matter of Record – The October 2020 monthly comparison of new construction 

code statistics, the permits issued/permits closed reports and the July 2020 existing 
structures statistic report, are attached.    

B. Matter of Record – The November meeting of the Public Safety Committee will be 
on November 9th at 12:15 p.m. It will most likely be via Zoom. 

 
ADJOURNMENT 



 
 

Manager’s Report 
October 19, 2020 

 
1. The Ferguson Township Parks and Recreation Committee met on Thursday, October 

15th. Topics discussed included the replacement of play equipment at Fairbrook Park and 
an update on the iNaturalist initiative that Chairman Norris Muth presented. 

 
2. The Pine Grove Mills Small Area Plan Advisory Board will meet virtually on Thursday, 

October 22nd. The Board will continue to strategize on the development of a Pine Grove 
Mills Overlay District to accommodate some of the recommendations described in the 
Small Area Plan. 
 

3. Board members should have received a link to a Doodle poll to schedule two Special 
Meetings to review the DRAFT 2021 Ferguson Township Operating Budget. The Board 
is scheduled to receive a draft of the proposed budget by November 6th. 
 

4. The Township received its renewal information for its health insurance plan for 2021. 
Rates have increased by six percent (6%) over 2020 rates but continue to significant 
outperform the industry average increases. This is reflective of good utilization of the plan 
and the value the Township received from its membership in the Pennsylvania Municipal 
Health Insurance Cooperative. The Township is a member of a self-insured municipal 
cooperative that has kept rates stable and below national average. 
 

5. The Climate Action Committee held a meeting on Monday, October 12th. A forthcoming 
Greenhouse Gas Inventory Report providing detailed emissions data across public and 
private sectors operating in the Township was discussed. The report will be provided to 
the Board for review and discussion at an upcoming Regular Meeting.  



 

 

- A Home Rule Municipality - 

 

TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 
3147 Research Drive •  State College, Pennsylvania 16801 

Telephone: 814-238-4651 •  Fax: 814-238-3454 

www.twp.ferguson.pa.us 

 

  
`

 

Public Works Director’s Report to the Board of Supervisors 

for the regular meeting on October 19, 2020 

1. Operating Budget – Staff is working on preparing the 2021 public works operating budget. 

2. Public Works Road Crew Activities – A second monthly brush collection occurs starting 
October 19th. Leaf collection is now a continuous operation meaning every week from now until 
winter operations start. Crew size and work hours are adjusted based on leaf fall and need for 
collection. 

3. Arborist and Tree Commission Activities- The Tree Commission meets on October 19th and 
includes a public hearing on tree removals. Other agenda items include a review of the official 
plant list and the tree canopy survey. I expect a presentation to the BOS on the tree canopy 
survey by the consultant at the BOS regular meeting on November 16th. 

4. New Public Works Facility: Work by all prime contractors continues on the new public works 
facility. A scheduling meeting is planned with all prime contractors, the Construction Manager, 
and Owner. Project costs remain within the approved budget. Change orders are being 
managed in cooperation with our Construction Manager. Progress and coordination meetings 
continue. The Construction Manager is on site full time. The base course of paving to the south 
of the building is to be placed by the end of this month as well as the remainder of exterior 
concrete flat work. Work activities for the next 3 weeks include finishing interior block walls and 
starting interior framing, installation of exterior insulated metal panels and brick, and getting the 
building dried in. Interior work includes electric conduit, plumbing, HVAC rooftop units, 
installation of pre-fabricated steel stairs and rails. 

5. Public Works Engineering and GIS- The part-time stormwater engineer will end employment 
with the Township at the end of October. Work continues managing construction contracts and 
professional engineering service contracts, reviewing land development plans, surveying for 
the Pine Grove Mills street light project, surveying for drainage improvements along a section 
of West Gatesburg Road, and other engineering related activities.  

6. Stormwater Fee Study Phase 2 – Discussion continues at the regular meeting of the Board of 
Supervisors on October 19th. See agenda packet for more details. 

7. Contract 2016-C11 Traffic Signal Performance Metrics - Jacobs Engineering continues to 
work with private communication providers to partner with the Township in providing a 
communications network to our traffic signals instead of the Township building and maintaining 
our own network. Design of this project is anticipated through the summer, fall, and winter with 
a bid early next year for construction in 2021. 



 

 

 

8. Contract 2018-C20 Park Hills Drainageway – NTM Engineering is reviewing their schedule 
to continue design and permitting work for this project. Design and permitting activities are 
anticipated through 2021 with construction to follow. The BOS will consider funding related to 
utility relocation and easement acquisition during the budget review process. Three grant 
applications have been submitted to NFWF to help offset some of the costs.  

9. Contract 2019-C20 Science Park and Sandy Drive Signal Study – A peak hour warrant is 
met based upon traffic volume projections. PennDOT has determined that a follow up study 
will be required by PennDOT after the signal is constructed to justify the installation based 
upon actual volumes. If a follow up study indicates a signal warrant is not met, the Township 
will be asked to put the signal in flash mode. Under consideration is signing the southern most 
intersection of Sandy Drive/Science Park Road as “no left turn” during peak hours at the same 
time the northern most intersection is signalized. Staff requests BOS concurrence to submit an 
application for a grant through the County Liquid Fuel Grants program. 

10. Contract 2019-C21 Pine Grove Mills Street Light Conversion: This project is in the design 
phase. A utility meeting was held with West Penn Power and our consultant, Barton 
Associates on Sept 1st. The project includes installing power cutoffs to allow FTPW to maintain 
the lights, meters, and conversion to LED bulbs to conserve energy. A new LED bulb was 
installed in the streetlight nearest the Naked Egg. 

11. Contract 2020-C3 Pipe Lining: A notice to proceed for this work was issued. Work includes 
lining corrugated metal pipes in the Chestnut Ridge neighborhood, Saratoga Drive, Blue 
Course Drive, West Whitehall Road and Deibler Road. This year, College Township 
piggybacked on the contract. 

12. Contract 2020-C18 Science Park and Sandy Drive Signal Design – Utility location and 
survey started for design of the traffic signal in-house for bidding in the winter and construction 
in 2021. 

13. Contract 2020-C20 Pine Grove Mills Mobility Study – A contract for this study has been 
awarded to McCormick Taylor, but a notice to proceed has not been issued due to the 
coronavirus pandemic which has affected traffic volumes.  Staff and consultant are monitoring 
traffic volumes and activities to determine an appropriate time to begin the project.  This 
project is currently on hold. 

14. Contract 2020-C21 Pine Grove Road & Water Street/Nixon Road Signal Warrant Study – 
A contract for this study has been awarded to McCormick Taylor, but a notice to proceed has 
not been issued due to coronavirus pandemic which has affected traffic volumes.  This project 
is on hold. 

15. Contract 2020-C23 CBPRP Implementation Design – Review approved PRP and start discussion 
regarding potential projects to meet permit requirements. 

 



 
 

- A Home Rule Municipality - 

 

TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 
3147 Research Drive  •  State College, Pennsylvania 16801 
Telephone: 814-238-4651  •   Fax: 814-238-3454 
www.twp.ferguson.pa.us 
 

PLANNING & ZONING DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
Monday, October 19, 2020 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
The Planning Commission will be meeting October 26, 2020. 

LAND DEVELOPMENT PLANS AND OTHER PROJECTS 

1. Active Plans are listed below for the Board of Supervisors (10/12/20). 
o Harner Farm Subdivision (24-004-067 and replot 24-004-067C) 
o Orchard View Subdivision (24-004-,067) 
o Whitehall Road Sheetz Land Development Plan (24-004-067) 
o State College Borough Water Authority (24-006-055E) 
o West College Student Housing Lot Consolidation and Land Development Plan 

(24-002A-015; 24-002A-016; 24-002A-017; 24-002A-018; and 36-010-006) 
2. Zoning Administrator reached out to business within the Township that had requested relief for 

COVID-19 operations. 
3. PZ Staff met with Bill Keough to discuss the West College Student Housing Land Development 

Plan. 
4. Community Planner and PZ Director attended the Centre Regional Planning Agency/Municipal 

Staff Meeting. 
5. PZ Director and Community Planner met with Jim May to review Staff Reports for CRPC review of 

ordinance amendments. 
6. PZ Director met with College Township’s Principal Planner, Lindsay Schoch, to review industrial 

uses in the Township. 
7. PZ Director attended Centre County Housing and Land Trust Board meeting. 
8. PZ Staff met with representation from the Turnberry development to review residual lands. 
9. PZ Staff is working on scanning subdivision and land development plans and migrating them into 

Laserfiche. 

UPCOMING ZONING HEARING BOARD MEETINGS 
The Zoning Hearing Board met September 22, 2020 to review a Request for Variance. The request was 
tabled until the next meeting on October 27, 2020. 

1. Thomas J. Whitehill—2437 W. Gatesburg Road, Warriors Mark, PA 16877 (24-005-017A-0000) that 
is zoned Rural Agricultural (RA). The applicant is requesting a variance from §27-205.1 District 



 

- A Home Rule Municipality - 

 

Regulations to construct a 40’ x 60’ accessory structure approximately 10’ from the rear property 
boundary. The required yard setback in the RA District for a single-family lot is 50’. 
















































	.8c 2020-C4 Suburban Park Pay App 4.pdf
	Invoice
	Current Receipts 06




